AU

02029640 The Thinking Behind The Money

ih iyl .

W Eppmial Serdcts (S, T,

~ PROCESSED

THOMSON
FINANCIAL




Chalrman's Letter . ..o

Enriching Lives ..........
Board of Directors . . ... o0«
Financials «ocovvenvesane
Executive Management .. ..

Corporate Information . . . . .

How Are We Creating Value? .

6

~




Financiar HIGHLIGHTS

THE PNC FINANCIAL SERVICES GROUP, INC.

Year ended December 31
Dollars in millions, except per share data 2001 2000 1999

FINaANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Revenue
Net interest income (taxable equivalent basis) . . . . $2,278 $2,182 $2,366
Noninterest iINCOME . .« .o oo i v i nn e, 2,543 2,891 2,450
Total revenue ........ .. ... .. ... ... ... ... $4,821 $5,073 $4,816
Noninterest income to total revenue ............ 52.7% 57.0% 50.9%
Income from continuing operations .. ........... $377 $1,214 $1,202
Discontinued operations, net of tax ............. 5 65 62

Income before cumulative effect

of accounting change . .......... ... ... . ... 382 1,279 1,264
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax . . (5)
Netincome .......coviiiiinrianennan., $377 $1,279 $1,264

Per common share
Diluted earnings

Continuing operations ................... $1.26 $4.09 $3.94

Discontinued operations .................. .02 22 21

Before cumulative effect of accounting change . . 1.28 4.31 4.15

Cumulative effect of accounting change . ... ... (.02)

Netincome .......... ... $1.26 $4.31 $4.15
Cash dividends declared ... ................. $1.92 $1.83 $1.68

"SELECTED RATIOS

From net income

Return on
Average common shareholders’ equity ........ 5.65% 21.63% 22.41%
Average assets .. ... .... I 53 ' 1.68 1.69
YEAR-END BALANCES
ABSELS o e e $69,568 $69,844 $69,286
Loans, net of unearned income ................ 37,974 50,601 49,673
Deposits .. ..o 47,304 47,664 45,802
Shareholders’ equity ... ... .. ... .. .. .. .. .. 5,823 6,656 5,946

Note: This annual report contains forward-looking statements. Please refer to the section of this report captioned
“Forward-Looking Statements” on page 60 for important information related to forward-looking statements.
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DEAR SHAREHOLDER:

The past year was defined by
significant challenges and notable
achievements for our company. As
we enter 2002, our long-term objective
remains clear and unchanged: to
build a diversified financial services
company that generates superior
financial performance and achieves a
premium valuation.

In 2001, we made significant

progress toward achieving that goal.

° We continued to grow our Regional
Community Bank by deepening
our sales culture and leveraging
technology to anticipate and meet

customer needs.

° We expanded the distribution capa-
bilities and product breadth across
our group of leading asset manage-

ment and processing businesses.

o We strengthened the risk, return
and valuation dynamics of our bank-
ing business by taking dramatic steps
to downsize our institutional loan
portfolio and discontinue our vehicle
leasing business.
Among several actions taken
to reposition our banking business,
the largest was the 2001 reduction
of our loan portfolio by approximately
$13 billion. A portion of that reduc-
tion included institutional credits
that we sold to subsidiaries of
American International Group, Inc.
and removed from our balance
sheet. You can read more about
this transaction, and a similar one
involving venture capital assets, in

the financial review section.

After year end, we learned
that our independent auditors and
federal banking regulators had
differing views on the appropriate
accounting treatment for these
transactions. After considering all the
circumstances, and to avoid investor
confusion, we made the decision to
revise our 2001 earnings and conform
financial reporting with regulatory
reporting requirements.

The total cost associated with
the overall repositioning of our
banking business and other actions —
including $155 million related to the
revision — amounted to approximate-
ly $768 million after tax. As a result,
2001 earnings from continuing opera-
tions were $377 million or $1.26 per
diluted share compared with s1.214
billion or $4.09 per diluted share from
continuing operations in 2000.

Clearly, our 2001 results did not
meet our expectations. However, given
the challenging economic environment
we faced, I'm pleased with how we've
positioned ourselves for the future. We -
have an improved risk profile and a
business mix more capable of generat-
ing value for our shareholders.

In 2002, our priorities — and
our challenges — are clear. We will
focus on the strategic growth of our
businesses, value-added customer
relationships, executing our loan

downsizing initiative and asset quality.

Focusep oN GROWTH

Our Regional Community Bank
has grown higher-return, lower-risk

transaction deposits by 11% on average

over the past year. This is the resulc




of an increased emphasis on checking

accounts, a key to successfully deepening

consumer and small business relationships.

To build on this momentum, we
have Web-enabled our branches and
conducted one-on-one discussions with
customers to better meet their needs.

Last year, this customized approach
improved customer retention by 10%
and helped drive customer satisfaction
to a five-year high.

We've also grown our client base by
instilling a stronger sales culture. During
the fourth quarter of 2001, we launched
a company-wide referral program called
the “Chairman’s Challenge.” By February
2002, over 60% of our non-sales employ-
ees had referred new business, and about
8% of new consumer checking and sav-
ings accounts opened that month were
a result of this program. We are now driv-
ing sales through a previously untapped
sector of our employee base.

In our Corporate Bank, we are
working to build deeper and more valu-
able customer relationships that generate
appropriate returns with less risk. We
are emphasizing our broad array of value-
added services, including innovative
rechnology-related solutions.

A key driver of this approach is our
Treasury Management business, which
showed strong sales growth in 2001. In
fact, last year noninterest income repre-
sented roughly 60% of revenue from rela-
tionships not designated for exit or sale.

Another thing that sets PNC apart
from many peers is our group of Asset
Management and Processing busi-
nesses. They are among the industry’s
leaders, and they’re poised for high-
quality growth.

BlackRock’s strong fixed-income
and liquidity investment track record,
international expansion, and the
continued growth of alternative invest-
ments and the BlackRock Solutions
product line drove exceptional perform-
ance in 2001. The firm (NYSE: BLK)
increased assets under management
by 17% in 2001, and delivered 23%
growth in net income.

PFPC is the nation’s largest
full-service mutual fund transfer agent
and second-largest provider of mutual
fund accounting and administration
services. Its complement of technolo-
gy-based, customized solutions, and
a larger international presence, helped
fuel a 9% increase in funds servicing
revenue in 2001

PNC Advisors improved its
distribution platform and experienced
strong customer growth last year,
but weak equity markets adversely
impacted overall results.

We recognized long ago that
building best-of-class businesses requires
implementing best-of-class technology.
As you've read, technology is enhancing
results and enabling us to be more
responsive to customer needs across our
company. In fact, Information Week
named PNC the top-rated financial
services company in its list of the
500 leading information technology

innovators in the U.S.

REPOSITIONING THE FRANCHISE
As our investments in technology
have strengthened our businesses,
we've been at work on an even

larger mission to reduce risk and

improve returns.




In recent years, we have exited or
downsized capital-intensive businesses
such as credit cards, residential mort-
gage banking and indirect auto, ware-
house and institutional lending.

In 2001, we accelerated this
effort by reducing total loans by
approximately 13 billion. That
includes 3.4 billion in institutional
loan outstandings that we transferred
to held for sale. In 2002, we will
diligently pursue opportunities to
liquidate loans held for sale.

Qur 2001 loan reduction initiative
included institutional credits that no
longer meet our risk/return criteria and
our $1.9 billion vehicle leasing business.
We decided to discontinue vehicle leas-
ing due to the rapidly changing environ-
ment and what we now believe to be
unacceptable risk dynamics.

We are also repositioning our
venture capital activities to focus more
on managing client investments.
Through this approach, we attracted
more than $100 million of external
funding commitments in 2001.

In connection with the sale of
our residential mortgage banking busi-
ness in January 2001, a bookkeeping
error occurred. While completing our
year-end review, we discovered and cor-
rected the error. As a result, net income
from discontinued operations for 2001
was adjusted to $5 million, $35 million
less than originally reported.

This event was unrelated to the
restatement referred to earlier, and I can
assure you we took immediate actions to
resolve this situation and implement

measures designed to prevent it from

happening again.

LooKING AHEAD

The repositioning of PNC has
been aligned with our long-term goal
of creating a more valuable company.

We enter 2002 with a higher-
quality revenue mix, driven by business-
es with stronger growth potential. Asset
management and processing businesses
contributed 38% of business revenue in
2001. Our reliance on lending revenue
was among the lowest of our peers, as
was our loans to deposits ratio, another
indicator of our efforts to reduce bal-
ance sheet leverage.

Through our efforts, we have
built a well-capitalized company that is
capable of significant capital generation,
and we are focused on managing it
effectively. Your board of directors has
authorized a repurchase of up to 35 mil-
lion common shares through February
2004. We will act on this authorization
as we downsize the exit and held for sale
loan portfolios and as other conditions
permit. We will also consider other
means by which capital can be used to
improve returns.

For example, we will continue
to pursue acquisitions that enhance
our competitive advantage and build
more valuable businesses. Our recent
acquisition of a portion of the U.S.
asset-based lending business of the
National Bank of Canada is a good
example. It will further enhance a
business we have built into one of the
top-5 asset-based lenders in the nation.

In 2002, we will seek additional
opportunities that help us meet the
risk/return criteria of our businesses and
support our goal of delivering more

consistent earnings growth over time.
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James E. Rohr
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

LEADING THE Way

Despite difficult economic condi-
tions and other challenges I've outlined,
our employees performed extraordinarily in
2001. We achieved high levels of customer
satisfaction and strengthened sales perform-
ance in a number of key businesses.

Our employees are also community
ambassadors for PNC. Thanks to them,
we're rapidly approaching our goal of
performing 1 million hours of service
under our “Promise to Neighborhood
Children” initiative.

We've worked to support the val-
ues-based culture our employees have
created. We offer a leading benefits pack-
age and we've implemented a number of
initiatives to enhance our employees’

quality of life.

As a result, the number of
employees rating PNC a great place to
work reached an all-time high in 2001.
In addition, Working Mother magazine
named PNC to its prestigious list of 100
top companies for working mothers.

We also recognize the importance
of being a good neighbor — and we
strive to strengthen the economic vitality
of the communities we serve. Last year
alone, corporate sponsorships and PNC
Foundation funding for non-profit organi-
zations totaled approximately $20 million.

In this challenging and demanding
environment, the leadership of our board
of directors and our entire management
team is more important than ever. [ want
to thank them for their vital contributions
and deep commitment to the success of
our company. [ offer special thanks to
Craig McClelland, who is retiring after 17
years of dedicated service to our board,
and Dick Carnall, who is retiring as CEO
of PEPC following an outstanding 32-year
career with our company.

Finally, I want to thank you, our
shareholders, for the investment you have
made in PNC. Although I'm disappointed
with some of the issues we've had to
face, I'm excited about the company we
are building. We're positioned to create
significant value in the short and long
term — and I look forward to the

opportunities ahead.

Sincerely,

(e £ B4

James E. ROHR
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer




PNC

PNC Advisors

A MORE VALUABLE REVENUE MIx

PNC REVENUE Mix By ProbUCT®

Year ended December 31, 2001
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As you can see, our efforts to reposition our franchise have resulted in a more
diverse and valuable revenue mix. Over 75% of our business revenue base in
2001 was derived from more highly-valued deposit, asset management and

processing products.

PNC ReEVENUE Mix By BUSINESS™

Year ended December 31, 2001
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PEPC |
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We've diversified our revenue stream by growing the proportion of revenues
contributed by BlackRock, PFPC and PNC Advisors over the past several years
to 38% of our business total. We've also enhanced the revenue mix within our
banking businesses through emphasizing more highly-valued activities, such as

loan processing, treasury management and branch brokerage.

(1) As a percentage of total business revenue
(2) Includes net interest spread income based on PNC's management accounting methodologies
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VIHAT ARE YOU DOING

VIHAT ARE VOUR KEY
PRIORITIES POk 20022

To put 1t simply | vaLuE v PNC’s
— execute BANKING BUSINBSSBSE

and grow. Over the past

We have

built a very

three years,

we have

competitive and dramatically

powerful mix of businesses that reduced our

|

. . ~ . « |

we believe is capable of achieving i exposure to
|

higher-quality, capital-efficient
growth over time.

Now, we're harnessing the
collective energies of our company
to deliver on the promise of these

businesses. We're working to deepen

certain latge corporate credits, and
we have sold or downsized a number
of other lending businesses that
didnt meet our goals for sharcholder
return. As a result, as we execute

on our loan sales, we should have

. . . . . e /EN
customer relationships and increase a stronger group of banking VeirErn
. . ) LDANS
our client base by strengthening our businesses that supports our goal OUTSTANIING
. | ~ . . . m inltions
sales culture. We also continue to | of delivering more consistent
leverage our leading technology plat- l earnings growth over time.
torm to create additional products ‘ 7 PT—
. b —_— I =
and services to meet our customers Gregg b
growing needs. =Tz
Sl
ver the past three vears . . ) = -
9 p ] Y ’ Our Regional Community Bank has
our efforts have been tocused on i . _
‘ deepened its sales culture by building =
reducing or eliminating higher-risk, ] L “
ducing & g ; a product set and distribution system ]
more capxtal—mtcnswe acrvieees. ; that’s hclping to make thingi 30
As a result, we're now concentrating . f C
simple for customers by anticipating
on the execution of our loan down- . . . .
d ! their needs and acting to identify —
izing and asset quality. ! - . .
sizing and asset quality 1 the right solution. This approach
Although we expect the business . .
& b helped drive an 11% growth in
environment to remain challenging, o tion deposits i ]
average transaction deposits in T e

I'm confident that we have a team of . )
2001, and produced a higher-quality

24,000 employees deeply committed . . .
4 ploy Py revenue mix in this business.

to achieving these goals. ;

— Rohr




We're also focused on broadening
relationships with corporate clients.
We're pursuing opportunities to lever-
age our extensive array of corporate
services, such as treasury management,
capital markets and private banking,
where we believe PNC has a competi-

tive advantage.

— Rohr

CAN CrowTH IN BLACKROCK
AND PIEPC BE SUSTAINEDS
BlackRock and
PFPC have both

3T delivered out-
./\\\j‘aw '< standing revenue
“ 3 \ %‘% ’ ¢« growth in a tur-
L £ < F .5 bulent market.
While their successes should inspire
confidence, I know the management
teams are focused on raising the bar
even higher. There will continue to
be attractive growth opportunities in
these businesses, although market
conditions and increased competition
continue to present challenges.

To sustain and enhance the
growth prospects in asset manage-
ment, we are expanding the product
line and distribution capabilitics.

At the same time, our global funds
processing business is now leveraging
the broader product platform

we have built.

— Rohr

VWIHAT IS YOUR ACQUISITION
STRATBGYZ

We will make tar-
geted investments
on a business-by-
business basis —

specifically when

it makes sense
from a scale, technology or expertise
perspective. Our acquisitions in
recent years have reflected this
approach. For example, we recently
completed our acquisition

of a portion of the U.S. asset-based
lending business of the National
Bank of Canada, extending our reach
in secured lending. And the acquisi-
tion of Investor Services Group in
late 1999 has significantly enhanced
our growth prospects in global funds
processing, another area where PNC

has created shareholder value.

— Gregg
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How ARE WE CREATING VALUE?

By listening to customer needs. .. building relationships. .. and leveraging

our extensive experience and leading technology. Here are some examples:

HirimMaN BUS SERVICE Longtime
business banking customers Richard
and Joann Hillman of Lindenwold,
N.]., discovered that PNC'’s breadth
of services meets the needs of the
business owner, the business and
its employees.

The Hillmans came to
PNC to help finance a new facility
for their 116 vehicles. And, recently,
they also enrolled in Workplace
Banking so the 160 employees
of Hillman Bus Service can be
offered PNC’s free checking,
discounts on loans, free
online banking and access
to financial counseling,
Pictured are
Joann Hillman with
PNC Business
Banking representative

Tony Kupcinski.

HANDEE MARTS For years,
PNC provided Handee
Marts and Best Oil, competitors
in the Southwestern Pennsylvania
convenience store industry, with
treasury management and other
corporate services. The strong
relationships built with both
clients allowed PNC to identify
the opportunity for a merger of
their 78 collective stores. By
introducing the idea for Handee
Marts’ purchase of Best Oil, PNC
helped both organizations and
owners meet strategic goals. Pictured
are Handee Marts’ President Herb
Chavanne, Operations Manager Scott
McNally, and CFO Sue Beebe, and
Mike Hammond of PNC.

BrackRock’s GROWING GLOBAL
PRESENCE BlackRock’s global
presence is growing rapidly, with
clients in 27 countries and portfolios
invested in all major markets worldwide.
At year-end, BlackRock managed
$33 billion of assets for international
investors, up s21 billion in the past
two years. Over the same period,
net new business in international
equities approached 9 billion. And
clients are increasingly turning to
BlackRock for global bond expertise,

one of its fastest growing products.

At BlackRock, globalization is
more than just a concept —
it truly represents the

future of the business.

- ADVISORCENTRAL
~ Recognizing the need
to have a convenient
client service resource,
PFPC joined with Fidelity
Investments, Franklin
Templeton Investors Services,
Inc. and Putnam Investments to
launch AdvisorCentral.com, an
industry-wide Internet portal for
financial advisors. AdvisorCentral.com
offers a single log-on and simple,
clear navigation, and provides
financial advisors with a convenient
resource to streamline their work
and gain access to client information
from nearly so different mutual
fund companies.
Pictured are Joseph T. Grause, Jr.,

president and chief executive officer
of AdvisorCentral™, and Robyn R.
Thibodeau, PFPC vice president,

E-commerce.
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B S:RVING 3 MILLION
W HOUSEHOLDS AND MORE
| THAN 190,000 SMALL
M BU/SINESS, CORPORATE AND
COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE
"\ CLIENTS THROUGH:

" o THE 8TH-LARGEST
. ATM NETWORK

o [HE 9TH-ILARGEST
TREASURY MANAGEMENT
BUSINESS

USJNESSES

o THE 2ND-LARGEST SERVICER
OF COMMERCIAL MORTGAGE-
BACKED SECURITIES

o A TOP-5 ASSET-BASED
LENDER
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ReGronar CoMMUNITY BANKING
The success of the Regional
Community Bank’s (RCB) customer-
focused strategy, which aligns people,
processes and technology to better
serve the needs of consumers and
small businesses, was evident in the
continued growth of deposits, home
equity loans and fee-based products.

The RCB has focused on
increasing transaction deposit
accounts, which serve as a portal
for deepening customer relationships
and fueling higher-valued growth.

In 2001, this strategy resulted in
increases of 32% in new consumer
relationships and 10% in customer
retention rates, while transaction
deposits increased 11% on average.

The RCB’s commitment to deep-
ening and enhancing its sales culture,
combined with the knowledge-based
marketing of products and services
that make banking easier and more
convenient, drove this performance.

In addition, average home equity

oans increased 16% — providin
| d 16% ding

the RCB with opportunities to
cross-sell additional consumer
banking products.

Supported by technology and a
customer-centric culture, the RCB
offers products such as annuities, bro-
kerage services, debit cards and mer-
chant services. Customer enthusiasm
for these products helped increase the
RCB’s noninterest income, which
stood at 34% of total revenue.

This growth is being enhanced
by investments made to improve
productivity and efficiency. Web-
enabled branches, an industry-leading
call center and the nation’s 8th-largest
ATM network helped reduce costs
and increase customer satisfaction to
a five-year high.

The RCB’s commitment to
boosting efficiency and productivity
by investing in people, processes
and technology helps position this
business for continued success. The
strategic focus is on building a retail
franchise that delivers sustainable rev-
enue growth and improved returns. This
will help create additional value for
shareholders, customers, employees and

the communities that PNC serves.

REGIONAL
COMMUNITY
BANKING
TRANSACTION
Deprosit
GROWTH

(in billions)

0 98 99 00 01




CORPORATE BANKING Over the past
three years, Corporate Banking has
taken a number of actions to reposition
itself as a diversified provider of financial
services primarily for middle market cor-
porate clients. This effort was accelerated
in 2001 to further reduce Corporate
Banking’s reliance on lending revenue.
In fact, since 1998, approximately 70%
of institutional loan outstandings have
been exited or designated for exit or sale.

Going forward, this business will
work to create value by aggressively
marketing solutions customized to
meet the business and personal finan-
cial services needs of middle market
corporate clients.

A key element of this strategy is
adapting Corporate Bankings institu-
tional expertise to serve middle market
customers. The emphasis on marketing
fee-based services — and remaining
intensely focused on risk/return criteria
— should enable Corporate Banking to
deliver a more valuable revenue stream.
In 2001, noncredit products, such as
treasury management, capital markets
and asset management, represented
roughly 60% of revenues from relation-
ships not designated for exit or sale.
Corporate Banking also leverages
PNC’s expertise in asset securitization,
public finance and leasing to broaden
customers’ financing opportunities

beyond traditional credit products.

PNC Capital Markets strength-
ened its growth prospects by adapting
its institutional expertise in derivatives
and foreign exchange products to
better serve the requirements of
middle market clients. Entering 2002,
mid-sized companies constituted a
growing percentage of PNC Capital
Markets” client portfolio. Corporate
Banking also taps the expertise of
PNC Advisors to cross-sell sophisticat-
ed personal investment management
products to high-net-worth executives
and corporate clients.

Innovative solutions that capital-
ize on PNC’s strong technology base
continued to drive this business. Strong
sales in treasury management products
and services helped significantly
increase new business booked for
this product line in 2001. Key to
this growth was A/R Advantage™,

a receivables management product
set that employs state-of-the-art
imaging technology and Internet
data delivery to enhance clients’
working capiral positions.

In 2002, Corporate Banking
will continue to sharpen its focus
on building revenues from noncredit
products for middle market clients
seeking comprehensive strategies

that span a wealth of business and

personal financial needs.




REAL ESTATE FINANCE Distinguished by
an expanding array of products and serv-
ices and a strong technology platform,
PNC Real Estate Finance delivered
a diverse income stream in 2001

Solidifying customer relationships
and cross-selling noncredit products
and services is an important part of
PNC Real Estate Finance’s strategy to
enhance the quality of its revenue. A
keen understanding of clients’ businesses
has provided the opportunity to
broaden client relationships through
the sale of noncredit products that
facilitate their strategic business and
financial goals.

In 2001, noninterest income rep-
resented approximately 43% of total
revenue. Revenue from products such
as treasury management and loan serv-
icing are particularly value-added
because they generate recurring income
and often result in longer-term client
relatiénships.

Acquisitions are helping to
enhance PNC Real Estate Finance's
ability to provide broad-based financing
and servicing solutions. In October
2001, PNC Real Estate Finance
acquired certain lending- and servicing-
related assets of TRI Acceptance
Corporation, a provider of loans for

market-rate and affordable multi-family

and senior housing. The acquisition
was immediately accretive to earnings
and expanded PNC Real Estate
Finance’s multi-family servicing reach.

Also in 2001, Midland Loan
Services, a PNC Real Estate Finance
company and the nation’s second-
largest servicer of commercial
mortgage-backed securities, acquired
Zenetics, LLC, a developer of
commercial real estate loan origination
technology. Midland is combining
Zenetics' browser-based technology
with its Enterprise! Loan Management
System to create a comprehensive,
Web-based commercial loan origination
and management solution.

Midland’s ability to leverage
technology and provide quality service
helped it to increase its commercial
mortgage servicing portfolio 26%
to $68 billion in 2001 and earn the
highest ratings from both Fitch and
Standard & Poor.

PNC Real Estate Finance remains
focused on adding value and building
wealth for clients by combining tradi-
tional commercial real estate financing

products with innovative financial and

technology-based solutions.




BUSINESS CREDIT 1n 2001, PNC
Business Credit strengthened
its position as one of the nation’s
largest asset-based lenders.

In a challenging economic
environment, PNC Business
Credit’s funding and advisory
services capabilities were valuable
to its middle market manufacturing,
wholesale, distribution, retailing and
service industry clients. Combining
features of a finance company and a
bank, PNC Business Credit develops
financing solutions that enable
clients to leverage their asset value
and cash flow to improve working
capital for mergers and acquisitions,
recapitalizations, restructuring and
turnarounds.

In January 2002, PNC
acquired a portion of the U.S.
asset-based lending business of
the National Bank of Canada,
adding $1.5 billion in loans. The
acquisition of this portfolio makes
PNC Business Credit one of
the nation’s top-five asset-based

lenders, with marketing offices in

19 states, including attractive areas
of the Southeast and West.

This acquisition will provide
PNC Business Credit with opportu-
nities to build on the success it has
achieved in deepening client rela-
tionships and cross-selling fee-based
products and services, such as
treasury management, capital mar-
kets and Workplace Banking.

In 2002, PNC Business Credit

will work to integrate the National PNC BUSINESS
. . CREDIT
Bank of Canada business and continue REVENUE
to meet client needs by emphasizing GrOWTH
(in millions)
PNCs fully-integrated menu of finan-
cial products and services.
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AMERICAN BANKER
Monday, famary 22, 2001

Mutual Fund Giants, PNC Unit
Plan Portal to Woo Advisers
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OFFERING A WIDE

ARRAY OF INVESTMENT

MANAGEMENT PRODUCTS
AND SERVICES AND A

FULL RANGE OF GLOBAL

FUNDS PROCESSING

CAPABILITIES THROUGH:

o ONE OF THE NATION'S
LARGEST WEALTH
MANAGERS

PROCESSING

oTHE 4TH-LARGEST
PUBLICLY TRADED
ASSET MANAGER

o THE LARGEST FULL-
SERVICE MUTUAL FUND
TRANSFER AGENT

@ PNCADVISORS PNC Advisors is one
of the nation’s largest wealth managers,
with offices in 19 states and a presence
in seven of the country’s wealthiest
geographic markets. It includes full-
service brokerage Hilliard Lyons and
Hawthorn, an investment consultant
for the ultra-affluent.

In 2001, PNC Advisors
enhanced its planning capabilities
for clients throughout the wealth
management spectrum and improved
its distribution platform.

Through its newly-created
Wealth Management Group, PNC
Advisors gathers a full range of finan-
cial planning and investment manage-
ment services under one umbrella,
delivered by a single point of contact
— the Client Advisor. This client-cen-
tered approach contributed to strong
customer growth in 2001, as evidenced
by s1 billion in net asset inflows from
new and existing customers in a diffi-
cult market environment.

Hilliard Lyons increased the
proportion of employees dedicated to
client contact and grew total accounts
by more than 37,000 last year while
streamlining support functions.

To take advantage of Hilliard
Lyons’ fuller product line and technol-
ogy — and better leverage PNC’s
brand in its traditional markets —
PNC is planning to integrate its

branch-based brokerage operations




with Hilliard Lyons in 2002. The
combined organization will operate as
PNC Investments in PNC'’s six-state
retail banking region, while Hilliard
Lyons will retain its brand name in the
markets where it is well established.
Investments in technology
also continue to enhance PNC
Advisors’ distribution platform. Clients
can effect certain transactions through
the PNC Bank Account Link® system,
a secure portal, and can securely view
all of their PNC Advisors accounts
and access helpful information on the
www.pncadvisors.com Web site. In
addition, the implementation of new
software applications will provide Client
Advisors with more detailed information
to support long-term financial planning
and improve their ability to respond

to clients’ changing needs.

& BLACKROCK BlackRock (NYSE: BLK)
continued to build on its position as
one of the nation’s premier investment
management companies. Assets under
management ended the year up 17%
to $239 billion, and diluted earnings
per share increased by 22%. BlackRock
continued to differentiate itself as a
growth firm, with last year’s results
driven by over g31 billion in net new
business and strong contributions from
an increasingly diverse product mix.

In its core fixed income business,

BlackRock’s assets under management

reached a record $135 billion. In addition
to robust new business from institutional
clients, BlackRock raised $3.2 billion of
closed-end bond fund assets during 2001,
more than any other manager in the
industry. Liquidity assets increased 30%
to $80 billion at year-end, with growth
driven by an extraordinarily favorable
interest rate environment and strong
sales. International equity assets
approached $9 billion, with over $2
billion of net new business supporting
growth in the face of declining equity
markets in 2001.

New efforts also contributed
significantly to BlackRocKk’s results during
the year. Nearly $80o million of new cap-
ital commitments in real estate finance
offerings supported growth in alternative
investments. In BlackRock Solutions,
the firm’s risk management and systems
services effort, 11 new assignments were
added and revenues increased by more
than 50%. The firm also continued to
build its domestic equity capabilities,
most visibly with the addition of a new
seven-person small and mid cap value
team based in Boston, and additional
investrnents are being pursued.

In January 2002, Global Investor
named BlackRock U.S. bond manager of
the year, citing the strength and consis-
tency of the firm’s team, investment
process and investment performance.

With its established position as a premier
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fixed income manager, an increasingly
diverse mix of high-quality businesses
and a recognized commitment to
delivering superior investment
performance and exceptional service
to its clients, BlackRock enters

2002 well-positioned to build on

its record of achievement for clients

and shareholders alike.

@ PFPC Technology-driven, customized
solutions, a wide range of products and
services and strategic global expansion
continue to fuel the success of PFPC.

In 2001, PFPC strengthened its status
among the world’s largest providers of
services to the investment fund and retire-
ment services industry and now services
more than $1s trillion in total assets.

PFPC is the nation’s largest full-
service mutual fund transfer agent and the
second-largest provider of mutual fund
accounting and administration services.
PFPC is also a leading provider of retire-
ment, subaccounting, custody, alternative
investment and Blue Sky services.

To help solidify its leadership
position and enhance its ability to
drive continued growth, PFPC made
significant progress on several strategic
initiatives in 2001.

PFPC expanded its product base by
introducing a unique, full-service transfer

agency and shareholder accounting solu-

tion for brokerage-marketed products
and also enhanced services for the college
savings plan market.

Moreover, PFPC continued
to diversify its revenue stream by
expanding its international presence
and further penetrating the alternative

investments market.
With offices in Europe and the

Cayman Islands, PFPC doubled its inter- PEPC
national client base and now services SHAREHOLDER
ACCOUNTS

more than $20 billion in offshore assets. SERVICED
Entering 2002, PFPC is focused e

on leveraging the innovative applica-

tion of leading-edge technology to -

continue creating customized client

solutions and developing a broader -

global business base. 5] ®

)

For cxample, greater use Of

Internet-based services — like Web-
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enabled 401(k) processing — will help

address the e-commerce needs of

clients. Two other recent initiatives

include AdvisorCentral.com — an

Inte r i vi
ternet portal for financial advisors F
created and jointly owned by PFPC, o 9899000
Fidelity Investments, Franklin Refecss 15G
Acquisition

Templeton Investor Services, Inc.,
and Putnam Investments — and
AssetDirections™, a Web-based
managed account platform.

This focused approach to antici-
pating customer needs, extending the
breadth of product lines and improv-

ing efficiency supports PEPC’s strategy

for continued growth.







ENRICHING LIVES

At PNC, we've long recognized
the importance of making a difference
in the communities we serve, and in
the lives of our employees and their
families. The strength of our company is

reflected in the myriad ways this occurs.

BUIlLDING RELATIONSHIPS To make
contributions to the communities
we serve more meaningful, we use a
combination of funding, expertise
and creative problem solving.

In 2001, the PNC Foundation dis-
tributed more than s1t million to hundreds
of charitable and non-profit organizations
in our six-state region. In addition, PNC
employees found other ways to help many
of these organizations achieve their goals,
with thousands of employees volunteering
time in advisory positions or to support
specific projects.

In fact, our employees are rapidly
approaching their collective goal
of contributing 1 million hours of
volunteer service under our Promise to
Neighborhood Children inidative.

PNC also helps many of these
organizations by supporting events that
are rich in tradition and valuable in
purpose. From sponsoring a horticultural
rite of spring with the Philadelphia Flower
Show to celebrating the theater arts with
the PNC Broadway Series in Louisville,
Ky., nearly $9 million in corporate spon-
sorships in 2001 helped to enrich the
communities in which we do business.

Of course, last year also marked
the inaugural season of PNC Park.

Our relationship with the Pittsburgh
Pirates helps to strengthen the core of

our headquarters region and bring

national exposure to our brand.

RESPONDING TO NEED The events of
September 11th brought an unprece-
dented response. PNC teamed with
customer Mine Safety Appliances
Company to rush 5,000 hard hats and
200 respirators to rescue workers at
Ground Zero. Additionally, employee
contributions, matched by the PNC
Foundation and BlackRock, along with a
branch collection effort, totaled approxi-

mately $1.8 million for relief efforts.

POWERED BY PEOPLE Clearly, the
driving force behind our success is our
team of 24,000 employees. They have
nurtured in our company a culture
based on values such as integrity, trust
and customer focus.

Our 2001 Performance Award
winners (named below) demonstrate
a deep commitment to those values
while also achieving exceptional
business results.

In addition to recognizing
their successes, we strive to provide
employees with a work environment
that promotes our shared values and
improves their quality of life. In 2001,
Fortune magazine named PNC one of
its “Most Admired Companies,” and
Working Mother magazine recognized
us as one of the “100 Best Companies

for Working Mothers.”

2001 PERFORMANCE AwARD WINNERS: Donna Bishop,
Philadelphia/S. New Jersey; Christine Cottle,
Pittsburgh; Patricia Crissien, Northern New
Jersey; Linda Haas, Kentucky; Richard Henry,
Philadelphia; James Kubaney, Northwest PA;
Ludlow Miller, Philadelphia/S. New Jersey;
Tushar Sukhadia, Northern New Jersey;

Joseph Vecchio, Pittsburgh.
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Pavr W, CHELLGREN 39
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Clay Holding Company
(investments)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

THE PNC FINANCIAL SERVICES GROUP, INC.

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

Year ended December 31
Dollats in millions, except per share data 1 ZOOOW’ 1999 1998 ] 1997
SUMMARY OF OPERATIONS
Interest income $4,137 $4,732 $4,583 $5,024 $4.912
Interest expense 1,875 2,568 2,239 2,536 2,467
Net interest income 2,262 2,164 2,344 2,488 2,445
Provision for credit losses 903 136 163 225 70
Noninterest income before net securities gains 2,412 2,871 2,428 2,070 1,583
Net secutities gains 131 20 22 16 40
Noninterest expense 3,338 3,071 2,843 2,698 2,403
Income from continuing operations before income
taxes 564 1,848 1,788 1,651 1,595
Income taxes 187 634 586 571 557
Income from continuing operations 377 1,214 1,202 1,080 1,038
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 5 65 62 35 14
Net income before cumulative effect of accounting
change 382 1,279 1,264 1,115 1,052
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax (5)
Net income $377 $1,279 $1,264 $1,115 $1,052
PER COMMON SHARE
Basic earnings
Continuing operations $1.27 $4.12 $3.98 $3.53 $3.29
Discontinued operations .02 23 21 A1 04
Before cumulative effect of accounting change 1.29 4.35 4.19 3.64 3.33
Cumulative effect of accounting change (.02)
Net income $1.27 $4.35 $4.19 $3.64 $3.33
Diluted earnings
Continuing operations $1.26 $4.09 $3.94 $3.49 §3.24
Discontinued operations .02 22 21 11 .04
Before cumulative effect of accounting change 1.28 4.31 4.15 3.60 3.28
Cumulative effect of accounting change (.02)
Net income $1.26 $4.31 34.15 $3.60 $3.28
Book value (At December 31) $20.54 $21.88 $19.23 $18.86 $10.87
Cash dividends declared $1.92 $1.83 £1.68 $1.58 $1.50

This Financial Review should be read in conjunction with The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. and subsidiaries (“Corporation” or “PNC”)
Consolidated Financial Statements and Statistical Information included herein. Certain prior-period amounts have been reclassified to conform with the
current year presentation. For information regarding certain business risks, see the Risk Factors and Risk Management sections in this Financial
Review. Also, see the Forward-1ooking Statements section in this Financial Review for certain other factors that conld canse actual results to differ

materially from forward-looking statements or bistorical performance.
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At or Year ended December 31

Dollars in millions 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
BALANCE SHEET HIGHLIGHTS
Assets $69,568 £69,844 $69,286  $70,754 $71,694
Earning assets 57,875 59,373 60,268 63,547 63,798
Loans, net of unearned income 37,974 50,601 49673 57,633 54,235
Securities 13,908 5,902 5,960 4,472 8,040
Loans held for sale 4,189 1,655 3,477 467 18
Deposits 47,304 47,664 45,802 46,150 46,956
Borrowed funds 12,090 11,718 14,229 15,939 16,958
Shareholders’ equity 5,823 6,656 5,946 6,043 5,384
Common shareholders’ equity 5,813 6,344 5,633 5,729 5,069
SELECTED RATIOS
From Continuing Operations
Return on

Average common shareholders’ equity 5.65% 20.52% 21.29%  20.14% 19.74%

Average assets .54 1.76 1.76 1.55 1.52
Net interest margin 3.84 3.64 3.86 3.99 3.98
Noninterest income to total revenue 52.7 57.0 50.9 45.4 39.6
Efficiency (a) 65.39 56.85 55.54 54.81 55.33
From Net Income
Return on

Average common shareholders’ equity 5.65 21.63 22.41 20.81 20.01

Average assets .53 1.68 1.69 1.49 1.49
Net interest margin 3.81 3.37 3.68 3.85 3.94
Noninterest income to total revenue 52.8 59.3 52.8 47.0 41.3
Efficiency (a) 65.27 55.17 54.82 54.76 56.07
Loans to deposits 30 106 108 125 116
Dividend payout 151.65 42.06 40.22 43.43 45.39
Leverage (b) 6.8 8.0 6.6 7.3 7.3
Common shareholders’ equity to assets 8.36 9.08 8.13 8.10 7.07
Average common shareholders’ equity to average

assets 84 S 'vlmnmmlvr 756 757 -

(a) The efficiency ratio is nonintetest expense divided by the sum of taxable-equivalent net interest income and noninterest income.

Amortization, distributions on capital securities and mortgage banking risk management activities are excluded for purposes of computing

this ratio. Excluding the impact of charges in 2001 related to strategic initiatives and additions to reserves related to insured residual value

exposures, the efficiency ratios from continuing operations and from net income were 58.14% and 58.07%, respectively.
(b) Includes discontinued operations in the years 1997 through 1999.
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OVERVIEW

THE PNC FINANCIAL SERVICES GROUP, INC.,

The Corporation is one of the largest diversified financial
services companies in the United States, operating businesses
engaged in regional community banking, corporate banking,
real estate finance, asset-based lending, wealth management,
asset management and global fund services. The Corporation
provides certain products and services nationally and others
in PNC’s primary geographic markets in Pennsylvania, New
Jersey, Delaware, Ohio and Kentucky. The Corporation also
provides certain banking, asset management and global fund
services internationally.

The most significant events affecting PNC’s financial
results in 2001 were the actions PNC took to reposition its
banking businesses. The impact of these and other actions
resulted in charges totaling $1.181 billion or $768 million
after tax.

PNC continues to pursue strategies to build a more
diverse and valuable business mix designed to create
shareholder value over time. PNC’s focus is on increasing
the contribution from more highly-valued businesses such as
asset management and processing while reducing lending
leverage and improving the risk/return characteristics of
traditional banking businesses. BlackRock and PFPC
continued to grow revenues at attractve rates and
contributed an increasing proportion of the Corporation’s
earnings. While PNC Advisors was adversely impacted by
weak equity market conditions in 2001, customer growth
continued with further investment in the sales and brokerage
force.

PNC’s goal is to derive a greater proportion of its
revenue from less volatile, fee-based products and services.
Over the past three years, PNC has reduced loans by $20
billion and unfunded loan commitments by §25 billion and
the loans to deposits ratio has improved from 121% at
December 31, 1998 to 80% at December 31, 2001. The term
“loans” in this report excludes loans held for sale and

securities that represent interests in pools of loans.

STRATEGIC REPOSITIONING

PNC took several actions in 2001 to accelerate the strategic
repositioning of its lending businesses that began in 1998,
Loans were reduced $12.6 billion from vear end 2000
primarily due to residential mortgage securitizations and
runoff, transfers to held for sale and the managed reduction
of institutional loans. A total of $12.0 billion of credit

exposure (comptised of loans outstanding, unfunded

commitments and letters of credit) including $6.2 billion of
outstandings were designated for exit or sale during the year,
of which $10.1 billion and $4.3 billion, respectively, related to
the institutional lending portfolio. The remaining credit
exposure and outstandings related to PNC’s vehicle leasing
business that it decided to discontinue,

Historically, vehicle leasing had provided appropriate
returns at reasonable risk with returns primarily dependent
upon residual value insurance protection. Recently,
circumstances in the vehicle leasing industry have changed as
depressed matket conditions combined with manufacturers’
pricing incentives have significantly dampened revenues and
weakened the used car market. In addition, residual value
protection has become more difficult and significantly more
costly to obtain. Also, in the fourth quarter of 2001 one of
the companies that issued residual value insurance policies to
PNC was placed in liquidation. PNC’s vehicle leasing
business had $1.9 billion in assets at December 31, 2001 that
have been designated for exit and are expected to mature
over a period of approximately five years. Costs incurted in
2001 to exit this business and additions to reserves related to
insured residual value exposures totaled $135 million.

In connection with these repositioning actions and other
strategic initiatives, $1.2 billion of pretax charges were taken
in 2001 as detailed in the tables below. The charges related to
institutional lending repositioning reflect adjustments to
market value that include the impact of deterioration in asset

quality and market liquidity conditions, among other factots.

Details Of Strategic Repositioning Charges

Year ended December31, 2001 - in millions _

Institutional lending repositioning $973
Vehicle leasing 135
Asset impairment and severance costs 37
Facilities consolidation and other charges 36

Total charges _ $1,181

Strategic Repositioning Charges By Business

Year ended December 31, 2001 - in mitlions Pretax charg

Corporate Banking $907
Regional Community Banking 148
PNC Business Credit 48
PFPC 36
PNC Real Estate Finance 35
Other 7
e SUI8




Strategic Repositioning Charges
By Income Statement Caption

Year ended December 31, 2001 — in millions

Pretax charges

Provision for credit losses $714
Noninterest income
Corporate services 259
Net securities gains 5
Othet 12
Noninterest expense
Staff expense 21
Equipment 1
Other 169
Total $1,181

At December 31, 2001, the institutional lending held for sale
and exit portfolios had a total of $7.7 billion of credit
exposure including $2.8 billion of outstandings. At year end,
$5.0 billion of credit exposure including $2.6 billion of
outstandings was classified as held for sale, net of total
charges of $855 million that represented the excess of
principal balances over the lower of cost or market values.
Details of the credit exposure and outstandings by business

are as follows:

Institutional Lending Held For Sale And Exzt Portfolios

Credit
December 31, 2001 — in billions Exposure
LoaNs HELD FOR SALE
Corporate Banking $4.6 $2.3
PNC Real Estate Finance 3 2
PNC Business Credit 1 A
Total loans held for sale 5.0 2.6
EXxIT
Corporate Banking 2.6 2
PNC Real Estate Finance 1
Total exit 2
Total $2.8

In the first quarter of 2001, PNC closed the sale of its
residential mortgage banking business. Certain closing date
adjustments are currently in dispute between PNC and the
buyer, Washington Mutual Bank, FA. The ultimate financial
impact of the sale cannot be determined until the disputes
are resolved. See Note 24 Legal Proceedings for additional
information.

See Strategic Repositioning in the Risk Factors section of
this Financial Review for additional information regarding
certain risks associated with executing these strategies.

RESTATEMENTS
Subsequent to year end, PNC announced two changes that
affected 2001 results. During 2001, the Corporation entered
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into transactions with subsidiaries of a third party financial
institution (American International Group, Inc) involving
the sale of loans and venture capital investments and the
receipt of preferred interests in the subsidiaries.

At the time of the transactions, the loans and venture
capital investments were removed from PNC’s balance sheet
and the preferred interests in the entities were recorded as
securities available for sale in conformity with accounting
guidance received from PNC’s independent auditors. In
January 2002, the Federal Reserve Board statf advised PNC
that under generally accepted accounting principles the
subsidiaries of the third party financial institution should be
consolidated into the financial statements of PNC in
preparing bank holding company reports. After considering
all the circumstances, PNC restated its consolidated financial
statemnents for the second and third quarters of 2001 to
conform financial reporting with regulatory reporting
requirements. All amounts appearing in this report reflect the
consolidation of these entities.

Loans in these entities are included in the consolidated
balance sheet as loans held for sale and are carried at the
lower of cost or market value. Charges recorded at the dates
the assets were sold into the entities were reflected as charge-
offs on those loans in portfolio and as valuation adjustments
in noninterest income on loans previously classified as held
for sale. Subsequent charges to adjust the carrying value of
the loans held for sale were also reflected as valuation
adjustments.

The amounts contained in this report also include the
restatement of the results for the first quarter of 2001 to
reflect the correction of an error related to the accounting
for the sale of the residential mortgage banking business.
This restatement reduced income from discontinued
operations and net income for 2001 by $35 million.

See Note 3 Restatements for additional information.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL RESULTS
Consolidated net income for 2001 was $377 million or $1.26
per diluted share. Excluding the effect of adopting the new
accounting standard for financial derivatives, net income was
$382 million or $1.28 per diluted share compared with $1.279
billion or $4.31 per diluted share for 2000. Income from
contdnuing operations in 2001 was $377 million or $1.26 per
diluted share compared with §1.214 billion or $4.09 per
diluted share in 2000. Income from discontinued operations
was $5 million or $.02 per diluted share in 2001 compared
with $65 million or §.22 per diluted share in 2000. Results for
2001 reflect the actions taken during the year to accelerate the
repositioning of PNC’s lending businesses and other strategic
initiatives. These charges, totaling $1.2 billion pretax, reduced
2001 net income by $768 million or $2.65 per diluted share.
Return on average common shareholders’ equity was
5.65% and return on average assets was .53% for 2001
compared with 21.63% and 1.68%, respectvely, for 2000.




The residential mortgage banking business is reflected in
discontinued operations throughout the Corporation’s
consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, the earnings
and net assets of the residential mortgage banking business
are shown separately on one line in the income statement and
balance sheet, respectively, for all periods presented. The
remainder of the presentation in this Financial Review
reflects continuing operations, unless otherwise noted.

Taxable-equivalent net interest income of $2.278 billion
for 2001 increased 4% compared with 2000. The increase was
primarily due to the impact of transaction deposit growth and
a lower rate environment that was partially offset by the
impact of continued downsizing of the loan portfolio. The
net interest margin widened 20 basis points to 3.84% for
2001 compared with 3.64% for 2000. The increase was
ptimarily due to the impact of the lower rate environment,
the benefit of growth in transaction deposits and the
downsizing of higher-cost, less valuable retail certificates and
wholesale deposits.

The provision for credit losses was $903 million for 2001,
which included expense of $714 million associated with the
institutional lending repositioning initiatives described above.
The provision was §136 million in 2000.

Noninterest income was $2.543 billion for 2001
compated with $2.891 billion in 2000. Noninterest income in
2001 included charges of $259 million for valuation
adjustments on loans held for sale related to the institutional
lending repositioning and $17 million of charges for asset
impairments associated with other strategic initiatives. A §111
million increase in net securities gains and growth in asset
management, fund servicing, consumer services and other
revenue was more than offset by net losses of $179 million
resulting from lower valuations of equity management
investments as well as reduced brokerage and corporate
services revenue as a result of lower capital markets activity.

Noninterest expense was $3.338 billion for 2001
compared with $3.071 billion for 2000. Excluding charges in
2001 of 3135 million related to PNC’s vehicle leasing
business and $56 million of integration and severance costs
related to downsizing and other strategic initdatives,
noninterest expense increased 2% compared with 2000.

Total assets were $69.6 billion at December 31, 2001
compared with $69.8 billion at December 31, 2000. At
December 31, 2001, loans were $38 billion and loans held for
sale were $4.2 billion, including $2.6 billion of institutonal
loans held for sale. At December 31, 2000, loans were $50.6
billion and loans held for sale were $1.7 billion, consisting
primarily of student loans. Average interest-earning assets
were $59.3 billion for 2001 compared with §59.9 billion for
2000. A decline in average loans and average loans held for
sale was largely offset by an increase in average securities
available for sale.

Shareholders” equity totaled $5.8 billion at December 31,
2001 compared with $6.7 billion at December 31, 2000. The
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payment of dividends, the impact of share buybacks, the
retirement of preferred stock and lower earnings in 2001
accounted for the decline. During 2001, PNC repurchased
9.5 million shares of common stock and purchased and
retired preferred stock for $301 million. The regulatory
capital ratios were 6.8% for leverage, 7.8% for ter I risk-
based and 11.8% for total risk-based capital at December 31,
2001 compared with 8.0% for leverage, 8.6% for tier I risk-
based and 12.6% for total risk-based capital at December 31,
2000.

Nonperforming assets were $391 million at December 31,
2001 compared with $372 million at December 31, 2000. The
ratio of nonperforming assets to total loans, loans held for
sale and foreclosed assets was .93% at December 31, 2001
compared with .71% at December 31, 2000.

The allowance for credit losses was $630 million and
represented 1.66% of total loans and 299% of nonaccrual
loans at December 31, 2001. The comparable amounts were
$675 million, 1.33% and 209%, respectvely, at December 31,
2000. See Note 11 Allowance For Credit Losses, Critical
Accounting Policies and Judgments in the Risk Factors
section and Credit Risk in the Risk Management section of
this Financial Review. .

2002 OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

Management expects 2002 will be another challenging year
with a weak economy and moderate capital markets recovery,
if any. The following challenges, and the Corporation’s
success in addressing them, will be among the factors that
influence PNC’s 2002 operating results and its ability to
redeploy capital, mitigate or avoid additional valuation
charges to earnings, and meet revenue and earnings targets
for 2002:

©  Expeditious disposition of loans held for sale without
significant valuation losses;

©  Maintaining stable asset quality in all loan portfolios;

©  Successfully integrating the National Bank of Canada
{"NBOC”) asset-based lending acquisition and managing
the related serviced portfolio as described on page 35;

o Continuing to invest in and sustain revenue growth of
fee-based businesses such as asset management and
processing notwithstanding market volatility and intense
competition; and

o  Continuing to improve the risk/return dynamics of
traditional banking businesses by building value-added
customer relationships, leveraging technology and
managing the revenue/expense relationship.

See the Risk Factors, Risk Management and Forward-
Looking Statements sections of this Financial Review for
additional information.




REVIEW OF BUSINESSES at independent companies providing similar products and

services. The allowance for credit losses is allocated based on

PNC operates seven major businesses engaged in regional management’s assessment of risk inherent in the loan
community banking, corporate banking, real estate finance, portfolios. Support areas not directly aligned with the
asset-based lending, wealth management, asset management businesses are allocated primarily based on the utilization of
and global fund services. services,

Results of individual businesses are presented based on Total business financial results differ from consolidated
PNC’s management accounting practices and the tesults from continuing operations primatily due to
Corporation’s management structure. There is no differences between management accounting practices and
comprehensive, authoritative body of guidance for generally accepted accounting principles, equity management
management accounting equivalent to generally accepted activities, minority interest in income of consolidated entities,
accounting principles; therefore, the financial results of residual asset and liability management activities, unallocated
individual businesses are not necessarily comparable with reserves, eliminations and unassigned items, the impact of
similar information for any other financial services which is reflected in the “Other” category. Details of inter-
institution. Financial results are presented, to the extent segment revenues are included in Note 26 Segment
practicable, as if each business operated on a stand-alone Reporting. The operating results and financial impact of the
basis. disposition of the residential mortgage banking business,

The management accounting process uses various previously PNC Mortgage, are included in discontinued
balance sheet and income statement assignments and operations.
transfers to measure performance of the businesses. The impact of the institutional lending repositioning and
Methodologies change from time to time as management other strategic actions that occurred duting 2001 is reflected
accounting practices are enhanced and businesses change. in the business results presented in the table below. The
Securities available for sale or borrowings and related net charges are separately idendfied in the business income
interest income are assigned based on the net asset or liability statements. Performance ratios in the results of individual
position of each business. Capital is assigned based on businesses reflect the impact of the charges.

management’s assessment of inherent risks and equity levels

Results Of Businesses
Return on
Earnings (Net Loss) Revenue (a) Assigned Capital Average Assets
Year ended December 31 - dollars in millions ‘ 2001 2000 ‘ 2001 2000 2001 2000 2001 ] 00 |
Banking Businesses
Regional Community Banking $596 $590 $2,231 $2,033 22% 22%  $40,285  $38,958
Corporate Banking (375) 241 764 844 (30) 18 16,685 17,746
PNC Real Estate Finance 38 84 213 229 10 21 5,290 5,889
PNC Business Credit 22 49 134 119 13 32 2,463 2,271
Total banking businesses 281 964 3,342 3,225 6 21 64,723 64,864
Asset Management and Processing
PNC Advisors 143 173 735 792 26 32 3,330 3,500
BlackRock 107 87 533 477 25 27 684 537
PFPC 36 47 738 674 17 22 1,771 1,578
Total asset management and processing 286 307 2,006 1,943 24 28 5,785 5,615
Total business results 567 1,271 5,348 5,168 10 23 70,508 70,479
Other (190) (57 (527) (95) (153) (1,988
Results from continuing operations 377 1,214 4,821 5,073 6 21 70,355 68,491
Discontinued operations 5 65 51 487
Results before cumulative effect of
accounting change 382 1,279 4,821 5073 . 6 22 70,406 68,978
Cumulative effect of accounting change (5
Total consolidated - as reported 8377 31279 84,821 ] $70,406$68,97

fus

(a) Business revenues are presented on a taxable-equivalent basis except for BlackRock and PFPC.
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REGIONAL COMMUNITY BANKING

Year ended December 31
Taxable-equivalent basis
AeCIETL 2001 2000
INCOME STATEMENT
Net interest income $1,466 81,414
Other noninterest income 679 608
Net securities gains 86 11
Total revenue 2,231 2,033
Provision for credit losses 50 45
Noninterest expense 1,099 1,071
Vehicle leasing 135
Asset impairment and severance costs 13
Pretax earnings 934 917
Income taxes 338 327
Earnings $596 $590
AVERAGE BALANCE SHEET
Loans
Consumer
Home equity $6,293 25,419
Indirect automobile 814 1,215
Other consumer 835 897
Total consumer 7,942 7,531
Residential mortgage 7,912 11,619
Commercial 3,557 3,649
Vehicle leasing 1,901 1,322
Other 133 144
Total loans 21,445 24,265
Securities available for sale 10,241 5,539
Loans held for sale 1,293 1,297
Assigned assets and other assets 7,306 7,857
Total assets $40,285 $38,958
Deposits
Noninterest-bearing demand $4,571 $4,548
Interest-bearing demand 5,713 5,428
Money market 12,162 10,253
Total transaction deposits 22,446 20,229
Savings 1,870 1,992
Certificates 11,906 13,745
Total deposits 36,222 35,966
Other liabilities 1,345 363
Assigned capital 2,718 2,629
Total funds $40,285 438,958
PERFORMANCE RATIOS
Return on assigned capital 22% 22%
Noninterest income to total revenue 34 30
Efficiency 54 51

Regional Community Banking provides deposit, branch-based
brokerage, electronic banking and credit products and services
to retail customers as well as deposit, credit, treasury
management and capital markets products and services to
small businesses primarily within PNC’s geographic region.
Regional Community Banking’s strategic focus is on
driving sustainable revenue growth, aggressively managing

the revenue/expense relationship and improving the
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risk/return dynamic of this business. Regional Community
Banking utilizes knowledge-based marketing capabilities to
analyze customer demographic information, transaction
patterns and delivery preferences to develop customized
banking packages focused on improving customer
satisfaction and profitability.

Regional Community Banking has also invested heavily
in building a sales culture and infrastructure while improving
efficiency. Capital investments have been strategically
directed towards the expansion of multi-channel distributon,
consistent with customer preferences, as well as the delivery
of relevant customer information to all distribution channels.

In the fourth quarter of 2001, the Corporaton made the
decision to discontinue its vehicle leasing business. This
portfolio is expected to mature over a period of
approximately five years. Costs incurred in 2001 to exit this
business and additions to reserves related to insured residual
value exposures totaled $135 million. See Strategic
Repositioning and Critical Accounting Policies and
Judgments in the Risk Factors section of this Financial
Review for additional information. Also, pretax charges of
$13 million were incurred for asset impairment and
severance costs related to other strategic initiatives.

Regional Community Banking earnings were $596 million
in 2001 compared with $590 million in 2000.

Total tevenue increased 10% to $2.231 billion for 2001.
Excluding net securities gains from both periods, revenue
increased 6% in the period-to-period comparison primarily
due to higher consumer transaction deposit activity in 2001,
gains on sales of residential mortgage loans and sales of
student loans in repayment.

The provision for credit losses for 2001 was $50 million
compared with $45 million for 2000. See Critical Accounting
Policies and judgments in the Risk Factors section and
Credit Risk in the Risk Management section of this Financial
Review for additional information.

Total loans decreased in the comparison primarily due to
the reduction of residential mortgage loans resulting from
sales and secutitizations and the continued downsizing of the
indirect automobile lending portfolio. Securities available for
sale increased in the year-to-year comparison due to the
retention of interests from the securitization of residential
mortgage loans combined with net securities purchases for
balance sheet and interest rate risk management activities,

Transaction deposits grew 11% on average in the
comparison primarily driven by an increase in money market
deposits that resulted from targeted consumer marketing
initiatives to add new accounts and retain existing customers

as higher cost certificates of deposit were de-emphasized.




CORPORATE BANKING

Year ended December 31

Taxable-equivalent basis

Dollass in millions 02000

INCOME STATEMENT

Credit-related revenue $408 $411

Noncredit revenue 356 433
Total revenue 764 844

Provision for credit losses 57 79

Noninterest expense 381 394

Institutional lending repositioning 891

Asset impairment and severance costs 16
Pretax (loss) earnings (581) 371

Income tax (benefit) expense (206) 130
(Net loss) earnings $(375) $241

AVERAGE BALANCE SHEET

Loans
Middle market $5,811 $6,553
Large corporate 3,103 3,193
Energy, metals and mining 1,233 1,507
Communications 1,110 1,501
Leasing 2,322 1,844
Other 328 357

Total loans 13,907 14,955

Loans held for sale 367 800

Other assets 2,411 1,991
Total assets $16,685 $17,746

Deposits $4,729 84,701

Assigned funds and other Liabilities 10,705 11,714

Assigned capital 1,251 1,331
Total funds $16,685 §17,746

PERFORMANCE RATIOS

Return on assigned capital (30)% 18%

Noncredit revenue to total revenue 64 51

Efficiency 71 46

L e —

Corporate Banking provides credit, equipment leasing,
treasury management and capital markets products and
services primarily to mid-sized corporations and government
entities within PNC’s geographic region. The strategic focus
for Cotporate Banking is to adapt its institutional expertise
to the middle market with an emphasis on higher-margin
noncredit products and services, especially treasury
management and capital markets, and to improve the
risk/return characteristics of its institutional lending
business.

During 2001, Cotporate Banking took actions to
accelerate the repositioning of its institutional lending
business. A total of §9.7 billion of credit exposure including
$4.0 billion of outstandings were designated for exit or sale.
Charges related to these actdons were $891 million, including
$41 million of charge-offs on loans designated for exit in the
first quarter of 2001. Institutional lending credits designated
for exit or sale were primarily in the communications
portfolio, certain portions of the energy, metals and mining

and large corporate portfolios, and relationships where the
potendal for future returns was considered unacceptable in
relation to risk. At December 31, 2001, the exit and held for
sale portfolios had total credit exposure of $7.2 billion
including outstandings of $2.5 billion. Of these amounts,

$4.6 billion and $2.3 billion, tespectively, were classified as
held for sale, net of charges of $850 million that represented
the excess of principal balances outstanding over the lower
of cost or market values. The Corporation is pursuing
opportunities to liquidate the held for sale portfolio
expeditiously. Gains and losses may result from the
liquidation of loans held for sale to the extent actual
petformance differs from estimates inherent in the recorded
amounts or market valuatons change. See Strategic
Repositioning and Critical Accounting Policies and
Judgments in the Risk Factors section of this Financial
Review for additional informadon. Additionally, 2 pretax
charge of $16 million was incurred in 2001 for asset
impairment and severance costs.

Corporate Banking incurred a net loss of $375 million in
2001 compared with earnings of $241 million in 2000.

Total revenue of $764 million for 2001 decreased $80
million compared with 2000. Credit-related revenue
decreased 1% compared with 2000 as the impact of a wider
net interest margin was more than offset by a decrease in
average loans. The decrease in average loans in 2001 was
primarily due to downsizing partially offset by the expansion
of equipment leasing. Noncredit revenue includes
noninterest income and the benefit of compensating
balances received in lieu of fees. Noncredit revenue
decreased $77 million compared with 2000 primarily due to
the impact of weak capital market conditions that resulted in
lower capital markets fees and losses resulting from lower
valuations of equity investments.

Total credit costs in the 2001 consolidated provision for
credit losses were $733 million, including $57 million
reflected in the Corporate Banking provision for credit losses
and $676 million reflected in the institutional lending
repositioning charge that represented net charge-offs.
Additionally, $76 million was charged against the allowance
for credit losses. The institutional lending repositioning
charge also included $215 million of valuation adjustments
related to loans held for sale. The provision for credit losses
was $79 million in 2000. See Strategic Repositioning and
Critical Accounting Policies and judgments in the Risk
Factors section and Credit Risk in the Risk Management
section of this Financial Review for additional information.

Treasury management and capital markets products
offered through Corporate Banking are sold by several
businesses across the Corporation and related profitability is
included in the results of those businesses. Consolidated
revenue from treasury management was $331 million for
2001 compared with $341 million for 2000. Increases in fee
revenue were more than offset by lower income earned on
customers’ deposit balances resulting from the lower interest
rate environment in 2001 and the impact of downsizing
institutional lending. Consolidated revenue from capital
markets was $123 million for 2007, 2 $10 million decrease
compared with 2000 due to weak capital market conditions
and the impact of changing customer relationships due to
downsizing certain lending portfolios.




PNC REAL ESTATE FINANCE

Year ended December 31
Taxable-equivalent basis
I?_ollars 1rlr11ﬂhons . 2001 ] _2300
INCOME STATEMENT
Net interest income $118 $121
Noninterest income
Commercial mortgage banking 58 68
Other 37 40
Total noninterest income 95 108
Total revenue 213 229
Provision for credit losses 16 @)
Noninterest expense 157 145
Institutional lending repositioning 34
Severance costs 1
Pretax earnings 5 91
Income tax (benefit) expense 33) 7
Earnings $38 584
AVERAGE BALANCE SHEET
Loans
Commercial real estate $2,337 $2,427
Commercial — real estate related 1,751 2,118
Total loans 4,088 4,545
Commercial mortgages held for sale 279 39
Other assets 923 948
Total assets $5,290 $5,889
Deposits $518 3697
Assigned funds and other liabilities 4,375 4,784
Assigned capital 397 408
Total funds $5,290 $5,889
PERFORMANCE RATIOS
Return on assigned capital 10% 21%
Noninterest income to total revenue 43 47
Efficiency 60 5

PNC Real Estate Finance provides credit, capital markets,
treasury management, commercial mortgage loan servicing
and other financial products and services to developers,
owners and investors in commercial real estate. PNC’s
commercial real estate financial services platform provides
processing services through Midland Loan Services, Inc., a
leading third-party provider of loan servicing and technology
to the commercial real estate finance industry, and national
syndication of affordable housing equity through Columbia
Housing Partners, LP (“Columbia”).

On October 17, 2001, PNC completed the acquisitdon of
certain lending and servicing-related business from TRI
Acceptance Corporation. The acquisition expands PNC Real
Estate Finance’s reach in multi-family finance, combining
permanent loan capacity with PNC’s traditional interim
lending activities and Columbia’s tax credit syndication
capabilities.

Over the past three years, PNC Real Estate Finance has
been strategically shifting to a more balanced and valuable

revenue stream by focusing on real estate processing
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businesses and increasing the value of its lending business by
seeking to sell more fee-based products.

During 2001, PNC Real Estate Finance took actions to
accelerate the downsizing of its institutional lending business.
A total of $400 million of credit exposure including $250
million of outstandings were designated for exit or held for
sale. Charges related to these actions were $34 million. At
December 31, 2001, $324 million of credit exposure
including $244 million of outstandings were classified as held
for sale, net of charges of $34 million that represented the
excess of principal balances outstanding over the lower of
cost or market values. See Strategic Repositioning and
Critical Accounting Policies and Judgments in the Risk
Factors section of this Financial Review for additional
information. A $1 million pretax charge for severance costs
was incurred in 2001,

PNC Real Estate Finance earned $38 million in 2001
compated with $84 million in 2000.

Total revenue was $213 million for 2001 compared with
$229 million for 2000. The decrease was primarily due to
higher amortization of servicing intangibles caused by lower
interest rates and lower commercial mortgage-backed
securitization gains. The commercial mortgage servicing
portfolio increased 26% to $68 billion at December 31, 2001
as shown below:

Commercial Mortgage Sevvicing Portfolio

In billions 2001 2000
January 1 $54 $45
Acquisitions/additions 25 17
Repayments/transfers (11) (8)
Dccembrer 31 $68 854

Total credit costs in the 2001 consolidated provision for
credit losses were §44 million, including $16 million reflected
in the PNC Real Estate Finance provision for credit losses
and $28 million reflected in the institutional lending
repositoning charge that represented net charge-offs.
Additionally, $14 million was charged against the allowance
for credit losses. The institutional lending repositioning
charge also included $6 million of valuation adjustments
related to loans held for sale. The provision for 2000
reflected a net recovery of §7 million. See Critical
Accounting Policies and Judgments in the Risk Factors
section and Credit Risk in the Risk Management section of
this Financial Review for additional information.
Nonintetest expense was $157 million for 2001
compared with $145 million in the prior year. The increase
was primarily due to non-cash (passive) losses on affordable
housing investments that were more than offset by related

income tax credits.




PNC BUSINESS CREDIT
Year ended December 31
Taxable-equivalent basis
LDollats in millions 2001‘“ . ZOQO ’
INCOME STATEMENT
Net interest income $104 599
Noninterest income 30 20
Total revenue 134 119
Provision for credit losses 19 12
Noninterest expense 31 30
Institutional lending repositioning 48
Pretax earnings 36 77
Income taxes 14 28
Earnings $22 $49
AVERAGE BALANCE SHEET
Loans $2,331 $2,197
Loans held for sale 72 24
Other assets 60 50
Total assets $2,463 42271
Deposits $77 $66
Assigned funds and other labilities 2,223 2,053
Assigned capital 163 152
Total funds $2,463 §2,271
PERFORMANCE RATIOS
Return on assigned capital 13% 32%
‘Efﬁciency 30 24

PNC Business Credit provides asset-based lending, capital
markets and treasury management products and services to
middle market customers nationally. PNC Business Credit’s
lending services include loans secured by accounts receivable,
inventory, machinery and equipment, and other collateral,
and its customers include manufacturing, wholesale,
distribution, retailing and service industry companies.

In January 2002, PNC Business Credit acquired a portion
of the U.S. asset-based lending business of NBOC. As a
result of this acquisition, PNC Business Credit established six
new marketing offices and enhanced its presence as one of
the premier asset-based lenders for the middle market
customer segment. At the acquisition date, credit exposure
acquired was approximately $2.6 billion including $1.5 billion
of loan outstandings. None of the loans were nonperforming
at acquisition.

Additionally, PNC Business Credit agreed to service a
portion of NBOC’s remaining U.S. asset-based loan
pottfolio (“serviced portfolio”) for a period of eighteen
months. The serviced portfolio consisted of approximately
$670 million of credit exposure including $463 million of
outstandings as of the acquisition date. At closing, $138
million of these outstandings were classified as
nonperforming. The serviced portfolio’s credit exposure and

outstandings are expected to be reduced through managed
liquidation and runoff during the eighteen-month servicing
period. At the end of the servicing term, NBOC has the right
to transfer the then remaining serviced portfolio to PNC
Business Credit. PNC Business Credit established a liability

of $112 million in 2002 as part of the allocation of the
putchase price to teflect this obligation. The amount of this
liability will be assessed quartetly with any changes
recognized in earnings. During the servicing term, NBOC
will be responsible for realized credit losses with respect to
the serviced portfolio to a maximum of $50 million. If the
right to transfer is exercised, the Corporation is responsible
for realized credit losses on the serviced portfolio that may
occur during the eighteen-month period in excess of certain
NBOC specific reserves related to those assets, when
applicable (available only on specified credits), and the $50
million first loss position. PNC Business Credit management
currently expects the amounts indicated above to be
adequate to cover potential losses in connection with the
serviced portfolio.

During 2001, as part of the overall lending repositioning,
a total of $88 million of credit exposure including $78 million
of outstandings was designated for sale. At December 31,
2001, $40 million of credit exposure including $30 million of
outstandings was classified as held for sale, net of charges of
$48 million that represented the excess of principal balances
outstanding over the lower of cost or market values. See
Strategic Repositioning and Critical Accounting Policies and
Judgments in the Risk Factors section of this Financial
Review for additional information.

PNC Business Credit earnings were $22 million in 2001
compared with §49 million in 2000.

Revenue was §134 million for 2001, a $15 million or 13%
increase compared with 2000 primarily due to higher net
interest income, as a result of loan growth, and higher
noninterest income. The increase in noninterest income
primarily resulted from gains on sales of equity interests
teceived as compensation in conjunction with lending
relationships. Such gains, if any, are recognized infrequently
and may produce variability in revenues from period to
period.

Total credit costs in the 2001 consolidated provision for
credit losses were $29 million, including $19 million reflected
in the PNC Business Credit provision for credit losses and
$10 million reflected in the institutional lending repositioning
charge that represented net charge-offs. The institutional
lending repositdoning charge also included $38 million of
valuation adjustments related to loans held for sale. The
provision for credit losses was $12 million in 2000. PNC
Business Credit loans are secured loans to botrowers, many
with a weaker credit risk rating. As a result, these loans
exhibit a higher risk of default. PNC Business Credit
attempts to mitigate this risk through higher interest rates,
direct control of cash flows, and collateral. The impact of
these loans on the provision for credit losses and the level of
nonperforming assets may be even more pronounced during
petiods of economic downturn. See Critical Accounting
Policies and Judgments in the Risk Factors section and
Credit Risk in the Risk Management section of this Financial
Review for additional information.




PNC ADVISORS

Year ended December 31

Taxable-equivalent basis

Dollars in millions mw_

INCOME STATEMENT

Net interest income $128 3136

Noninterest income
Investment management and trust 393 421
Brokerage 130 171
Other 84 64

Total noninterest income 607 656

Total revenue 735 792

Provision for credit losses 2 5

Noninterest expense 504 511
Pretax earnings 229 276

Income taxes 86 103
Earnings $143 §173

AVERAGE BALANCE SHEET

Loans
Consumer $1,103 $965
Residential mortgage 848 962
Commercial 528 602
Other 384 532

Total loans 2,863 3,061

Other assets 467 439
Total assets $3,330 $3,500

Deposits $2,058 $2,034

Assigned funds and other liabilides 730 917

Assigned capital 542 549
Total funds $3,330 $3,500

PERFORMANCE RATIOS

Rerurn on assigned capital 26% 32%

Noninterest income to total revenue 83

Efficiency 3

PNC Advisors provides a full range of tailored investment
products and services to affluent individuals and families,
including full-service brokerage through J.J.B. Hilliard, W.L.
Lyons, Inc. (“Hilliard Lyons”) and investment advisory
services to the ultra-affluent through Hawthorn. PNC
Advisors also serves as investment manager and trustee for
employee benefit plans and charitable and endowment assets.
PNC Advisors is focused on selectively expanding Hilliard
Lyons and Hawthorn, increasing market share in PNC’s
primary geographic region and leveraging its expansive

distribution platform.
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PNC Advisors earned $143 million in 2001 compared
with $173 million in 2000. Earnings for 2001 decreased 17%
compared with the prior year primarily due to a 357 million
decrease in total revenue resulting from the impact of weak
equity market conditions on brokerage activity and asset
management fees. Investment management and trust
revenue benefited from accrual adjustments of $15 million in
2001 and $11 million in 2000. Management expects that
revenue and earnings in this business will continue to be
challenged at least until equity market conditions improve.

Nonintetest expense decreased $7 million in the year-to-
year comparison primarily due to lower production-based

compensation and expense management initiatives.

Assets Under Management (2)

December 31 - in billions

Personal investment management and rrust

Institutional trust 13 15
Total

(a) Excludes brokerage assets administered.

Assets under management decreased $5 billion as net new
asset inflows of $1 billion from new and existing customers
during 2001 were more than offset by a decline in the value
of the equity component of customers’ portfolios, See
Business and Economic Conditions and Asset Management
Performance in the Risk Factors section of this Financial
Review for additional information regarding matters that
could impact PNC Advisors’ revenue,

Brokerage assets administered by PNC Advisors were
$28 billion at December 31, 2001 and 2000 and were also
impacted by weak equity market conditions.

PNC Adpvisors expects to continue to focus on acquiring
new customers and growing and expanding existing
customer relationships while aggressively managing its

revenue/expense telationship.




BLACKROCK

Year ended December 31
Poﬂars in millions ‘ 200"1 . — 2
INCOME STATEMENT
Investment advisory and
administrative fees $495 $453
Other income 38 24
Total revenue 533 477
Operating expense 292 248
Fund administration
and servicing costs — affiliates 61 76
Amortization of intangible assets 10 10
Total expense 363 334
Operating income 170 143
Nonoperating income 1 7
Pretax earnings 181 150
Income taxes 74 63
Earnings $107 387
PERIOD-END BALANCE SHEET
Intangible assets $182 $192
Other assets 502 345
Total assets $684 8537
Liabilities $198 $169
Stockholders’ equity 486 368
Total liabilities and
stockholders’ equity $684 $537
PERFORMANCE DATA
Return on equity 25% 27%
Operating margin (a) 36 36
Diluted earnings per share $1.65 $1.35

(a) Excludes the impact of fund administration and servicing costs - affiliates.

BlackRock is one of the largest publicly traded investment
management firms in the United States with approximately
$239 billion of assets under management at December 31,
2001. BlackRock manages assets on behalf of institutions and
individuals worldwide through a variety of fixed income,
liquidity and equity mutual funds, separate accounts and
alternative investment products. Mutual funds include the
flagship fund families, BlackRock Funds and BlackRock
Provident Institutional Funds. In additon, BlackRock
provides risk management and investment system services to

institutional investors under the BlackRock Solutions name.
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BlackRock continues to focus on delivering supetior
investment performance to clients while pursuing strategies
to build on cote strengths and to selectively expand the
firm’s expertise and breadth of distribution.

Earnings increased 23% in the year-to-year comparison
primarily due to a $35 billion or 17% increase in assets under
management. New client mandates and additional funding
from existing clients resulted in $31 billion or 90% of the
increase in assets under management.

Total revenue for 2001 increased $56 million or 12%
compared with 2000 primatily due to new institutional
liquidity and fixed-income business and strong sales of
BlackRock Solutions products. The increase in operating
expense in the yeat-to-year comparison suppotted revenue
growth and business expansion.

See Business and Economic Conditions and Asset
Management Performance in the Risk Factors section of this
Financial Review for additional information regarding

mattets that could impact asset management revenue.,

Assets Under Management

December 31 — in billions 2001 2000
Separate accounts
Fixed income $119 $104
Liquidity 7 6
Liquidity ~ securities lending 1 12
Equity 10 9
Alternative investment products 5 3
Total separate accounts 152 134
Mutual funds @
Fixed income 16 13
Liquidity 62 43
Equity 9 14
Total mutual funds 87 70
s under management $239 3204

(a) Includes BlackRock Funds, BlackRock Provident Instrutional Funds, BlackRock
Closed End Funds, Short Term Investment Funds and BlackRock Global Series
Funds.

BlackRock, Inc. is approximately 70% owned by PNC and is
listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol
BLK. Additional information about BlackRock is available in
its filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) and may be obtained electronically at the SEC’s

home page at www.sec.gov.




PFPC

Year ended December 31
Dollars in millions

2601 2000

INCOME STATEMENT

Fund servicing revenue $738 $674
Operating expense 536 501
Amortization 25 31
Operating income 177 142
Nonoperating income (a) 14 31
Debt financing 94 95
Facilities consolidation
and other charges 36
Pretax earnings 61 78
Income taxes 25 31
Earnings $36 847
AVERAGE BALANCE SHEET
Intangible assets $1,065 $1,107
Other assets 706 471
Total assets $1,771 $1,578
Assigned funds and other Habilities $1,563 81,369
Assigned capital 208 209
Total funds $1,771 91,578
PERFORMANCE RATIOS
Return on assigned capital 17% 22%
Igaeratin margin 19 21

(a) Net of nonoperating expense

PFPC is the largest full-service mutual fund transfer agent
and second largest provider of mutual fund accounting and
administration services in the United States, providing a
wide range of fund services to the investment management
industry. PFPC also provides processing solutions to the
internaticnal marketplace through its Ireland and
Luxembourg operations.

To meet the growing needs of the European
marketplace, PFPC continues its pursuit of offshore
expansion. PFPC is also focusing technological resoutces
on targeted Web-based initiatives and exploting strategic

alliances.
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In the fourth quarter of 2001, PFPC incurred $36
million of pretax charges largely related to a plan to
consolidate certain facilities as a folloW—up to the
integration of the Investor Services Group (“ISG”)
acquisition. The charges primarily reflect termination costs
related to exiting certain lease agreements and the
abandonment of related leasehold improvements.

PFPC earned $36 million in 2001 compared with $47
million in 2000. Excluding facilities consolidation and
other charges in 2001, earnings increased $12 million ot
26% in the year-to-year comparison and the return on
assigned capital and operating margin improved to 28%
and 24%, respectively. The increase was primarily due to
growth in transfer agency and subaccounting revenue that
resulted from an increase in shareholder accounts serviced,
and §9 million of nonrecurring fee adjustments.

Revenue of $738 million for 2001 increased $64 million
compared with 2000. An increase in shareholder accounts
serviced drove strong performance in transfer agency and
subaccounting revenues. The benefit of growth in
accounting/administration assets and shareholder accounts
more than offset the impact on revenue of lower custody
assets serviced. Revenue growth rates in this business may
be pressured by lower equity valuations, pricing and other
competitive factors. See Business and Economic
Conditions and Fund Servicing in the Risk Factors section
of this Financial Review for additional information
regarding matters that could impact fund servicing revenue.

Operating expense increased 7% in the year-to-year
comparison as the impact of business expansion was
partially mitigated by expense management initiatives and
the comparative impact of ISG integration costs that were

incurred in the prior year.

Servicing Statistics

December 31 00 2

]

Accounting/administration assets (§ in billions)
Domestic $514 $454
Foreign 21 9
Total $535 $463
Custody assets ($ in billions) 357 437




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF offset by the impact of continued downsizing of the loan

INCOME REVIEW portfolio. The net interest margin widened 20 basis points
to 3.84% for 2001 compared with 3.64% for 2000. The
NET INTEREST INCOME increase was primarily due to the impact of the lower rate
Changes in net interest income and margin result from the environment, the benefit of growth in transactdon deposits
interaction between the volume and composition of and downsizing of higher-cost, less valuable retail
earning assets, related yields and associated funding costs. certificates and wholesale deposits. See Interest Rate Risk in
Accordingly, portfolio size, composition and yields earned the Risk Management section of this Financial Review for
and funding costs can have a significant impact on net additional information regarding interest rate risk.
interest income and margin. Loans represented 76% of average interest-earning
Taxable-equivalent net interest income of $2.278 billion assets for 2001 compared with 84% for 2000. The decrease
for 2001 increased 4% compared with 2000. The increase was primarily due to the continued downsizing of certain
was primarily due to the impact of transaction deposit institutional lending portfolios and the securitization of
growth and a lower rate environment that was partially residential mortgage loans during 2001.

Net Interest Income Analysis

Average Balances Interest Income/Expense Average Yields/Rates
Taxable-equivalent basis
Year ended December 31
Dollass in millions 2001 2000 Change N ZOQI . 2090 ‘ Ch?n; e 2001 2000 Chne
Interest-earning assets
Loans held for sale $2,021 $2,507 $(486) $119 $204 $(85) 5.89% 8.14%  (225)bp
Securities 10,867 6,061 4,806 627 389 238 5.77 6.42 (65)
Loans, net of unearned income
Commercial 19,658 21,685 (2,027) 1,418 1,839 (421) 7.21 8.48 (127)
Commercial real estate 2,580 2,685 (105) 184 240 (56) 7.13 8.94 (181)
Consumer 9,099 9,177 (78) 732 791 59 8.04 8.62 (58)
Residential mortgage 8,801 12,599 (3,798) 635 900 (265) 7.22 7.14 8
Lease financing 4,223 3,222 1,001 293 235 58 6.94 7.29 (35)
Other 460 650 (190) 30 55 (25) 6.52 8.46 (194)
Total loans, net of unearned
income 44,821 50,018 (5,197) 3,292 4,060 (768) 7.34 8.12 (78)
Other 1,632 1,289 343 115 97 18 7.05 7.53 (48)
Total interest-earning assets/
interest income 59,341 59,875 (534) 4,153 4,750 (597 7.00 7.93 93)
Noninterest-earning assets 11,014 8,616 2,398
Investment in discontinued
operations 51 487 (436)
Total assets $70,406 368,978 $1,428
Interest-bearing liabilities
Deposits
Demand and money market $21,322 §18,735  $2,587 506 658 (152) 2.37 3.51 (114)
Savings 1,928 2,050 (122) 18 36 (18) 93 1.76 (83)
Retail certificates of deposit 12,313 14,642 (2,329) 634 826 (192) 5.15 5.64 (49)
Othet time 522 621 99 34 40 (6) 6.51 6.44 7
Deposits in foreign offices 829 1,473 644 37 93 (56) 4.46 6.31 (185)
Tortal interest-bearing
deposits 36,914 37,521 607y 1,229 1,653 (424) 3.33 441 (108)
Borrowed funds 13,482 13,746 (264) 646 915 (269) 4.79 6.66 (187)
Total interest-bearing liabilities/
interest expense 50,396 51,267 (871) 1,875 2,568 (693) 3.72 5.01 (129
Noninterest-bearing liabilities,
minority interest, capital securities
and shareholders’ equity 20,010 17,711 2,299
Total liabilities, minority interest,
capital securities and
shareholders’ equity $70,406 $68,978 §1,428
Interest rate spread 3.28 292 36
Impact of noninterest-bearing sources .56 72 (16y
Net interest income/matgin $2,278 $2,182 $96 3.84% 3,64% 20b
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Securities represented 18% of average interest-earning assets
for 2001 compared with 10% for 2000. The increase was
primarily due to the retention of interests from the
securitization of residential mortgage loans and net securides
purchases upon redeployment of funds resulting from loan
downsizing and interest rate risk management activities.

Funding cost is affected by the volume and compositon
of funding sources as well as related rates paid thereon,
Average deposits comprised 64% and 66% of total sources of
funds for 2001 and 2000, respectively, with the remainder
primarily comprised of wholesale funding obtained at
prevailing market rates.

Average interest-bearing demand and money market
deposits increased $2.6 billion or 14% compared with 2000,
primarily reflecting the impact of strategic marketing
Initiatives to grow more valuable transaction accounts, while
all other interest-bearing deposit categories decreased in the
year-to-year comparison as management de-emphasized these
more costly sources of funds. Average borrowed funds for

2001 were essentially flat compared with 2000.

PROVISION FOR CREDIT LOSSES

The provision for credit losses was $§903 million for 2001
compared with $136 million for 2000. The increase was
primarily related to provision expense of $714 million to
provide for net charge-offs associated with institutional
lending repositioning initiatives in 2001. As a result of these
charge-offs and other reserve activity in 2001, the allowance
for credit losses was $630 million at December 31, 2001
compared with $675 million at December 31, 2000. See Credit
Risk in the Risk Management section and Critical Accounting
Policies and Judgments in the Risk Factors section of this
Financial Review for additional information regarding credit

risk.

NONINTEREST INCOME
Noninterest income was $2.543 billion for 2001 compared
with $2.891 billion in 2000.

Asset management fees of $848 million for 2001 increased
$39 million or 5% primarily driven by new institutional
business and strong fixed-income performance at BlackRock
which more than offset decreases at PNC Advisors primarily
due to the impact of declining equity markets. Consolidated
assets under management were $284 billion at December 31,
2001, a 12% increase compated with December 31, 2000.
Fund servicing fees were $724 million for 2001, a $70 million

increase compared with 2000 primarily driven by new client

growth.

Service charges on deposits increased 6% to $218 million
for 2001 mainly due to an increase in transaction deposit
accounts. Brokerage fees were $206 million for 2001
compared with $249 million for 2000 as increased fees from
sales of insurance products were more than offset by declines
in other brokerage revenue due to weak equity markets.

Consumer services revenue of $229 million for 2001
increased $20 million or 10% compared with 2000 maialy
due to the expansion of PNC’s ATM network and the
increase in transaction deposit accounts.

Corporate services revenue was $60 million for 2001
compared with $342 million for 2000. Revenue in 2001 was
adversely impacted by valuation adjustments on loans held
for sale of $259 million. In addition, increases in treasury
management and CMBS setvicing revenue were mote than
offset by the comparative impact of losses resulting from
lower valuations of equity investments and lower capital
markets fees in 2001.

Equity management, which is comprised of venture
capital activities, reflected net losses of $179 million for 2001
compared with net gains of $133 million in 2000. The
decrease primarily resulted from a decline in the estimated
fair value of both limited partnership and direct investments.
At December 31, 2001, equity management investments held
by PNC and consolidated subsidiaries totaled approximately
$574 million. Approximately 53% of that amouant is invested
directly in a variety of companies and 47% is invested in
various limited partnerships. The valuation of equity
management assets is subject to the performance of the
underlying companies as well as market conditions and may
be volatile. The Corporation’s strategy in equity management
is to attract funding from investors and generate a greater
proportion of revenues from fees earned by managing
investments for others. See Business and Economic
Conditions and Ciritical Accounting Policies and Judgments
in the Risk Factors section of this Financial Review for
additional information regarding equity management assets.

Net securities gains were $131 million for 2001 compared
with $20 million in 2000.

QOther noninterest income was $306 million for 2001
compared with $269 million for 2000. Excluding $12 million
of asset write-downs in the fourth quarter of 2001, other
noninterest income increased 18% primarily due to higher
revenue from trading activities and gains on the sale of
residential mortgage loans. Net trading income included in
other noninterest income was $142 million in 2001 compated
with 384 million in 2000. See details in Note 7 Trading
Activities.




NONINTEREST EXPENSE

Nonintetest expense was 53.338 billion for 2001 compared
with $3.071 billion for 2000. Costs to exit the vehicle leasing
business, including the impairment of goodwill associated
with a prior acquisition and employee severance costs, and
additions to resetves related to insured residual value
exposures totaled $135 million and are included in 2001
noninterest expense. In addition, $56 million of integration
and severance costs related to other strategic initiatives were
incurred in 2001. Excluding these items, noninterest expense
increased 2% compared with 2000. The increase was
primarily in businesses that have shown higher revenue
growth including Regional Community Banking, BlackRock
and PFPC. Average full-time equivalent employees totaled
approximately 24,500 and 24,100 for 2001 and 2000,
respectively. The increase was mainly in asset management

and processing businesses.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
REVIEW

LOANS

Loans were $38.0 billion at December 31, 2001, a decrease of
$12.6 billion from year end 2000 primarily due to residendal
mortgage securitizations and runoff, transfers to held for sale

and the managed reduction of institutional loans.

Details Of Loans
December 31 - in millions 2001 2000
Commercial
Manufacturing $3,352 $5,581
Retail /wholesale 3,856 4413
Service providers 2,136 2944
Real estate related 1,720 1,783
Financial services 1,362 1,726
Communications 139 1,296
Health care 517 722
Other 2,123 2,742
Total commercial 15,205 21,207
Commercial real estate
Mortgage 592 673
Real estate project 1,780 1,910
Total commercial real
estate 2,372 2,583
Consumer
Home equity 7,016 6,228
Automobile 773 1,166
Other 1,375 1,739
Total consumer 9,164 9,133
Residendal mortgage 6,395 13,264
Lease financing 5,557 4,845
Other 445 568
Unearned income (1,164) (999
Total, net of unearned income $37,974 $50,601
S it i |
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At December 31, 2001, loans of $38.0 billion included $1.9
billion of vehicle leases and $200 million of commercial loans

that have been designated for exit.

LOANS HELD FOR SALE

Loans held for sale were $4.2 billion at December 31, 2001
compated with $1.7 billion at December 31, 2000. In the
fourth quarter of 2001, PNC designated for exit $3.1 billion
of loans and $7.9 billion of institutional credit exposure. Of
these amounts, $2.3 billion, net of §.6 billion of related
charges, with total credit exposure of $4.6 billion were
transferred to loans held for sale. Approximately $276
million of loans held at December 31, 2001 by subsidiaries of
a third-party financial institution are classified in the
consolidated financial statements as loans held for sale.
Substantially all student loans are classified as loans held for
sale. See Note 14 Securitizations for information as to any

interests retained in these loans.

Details Of Loans Held For Sale

December 31 — in millions 2001
Institutional lending repositioning $2,568
Student loans 1,340
Other 281

Total loans held for sale $4,189

See Strategic Repositioning and Critical Accounting Policies
and Judgments in the Risk Factors section of this Financial
Review for additional information regarding loans held for

sale,

SECURITIES

Total securities at December 31, 2001 were $13.9 billion
compared with $5.9 billion at December 31, 2000. Total
securities represented 20% of total assets at December 31,
2001 compared with 8% at December 31, 2000. The increase
was primarily due to purchases of mortgage-backed and
asset-backed securities during 2001 and the retention of
interests from the secutitization of residential mortgage loans
as loans declined and were replaced with securities.

At December 31, 2001, the securities available for sale
balance included 2 net unrealized loss of $132 million, which
represented the difference between fair value and amortized
cost. The comparable amount at December 31, 2000 was a net
unrealized loss of $54 million. Net unrealized gains and losses
in the securities available for sale portfolio are included in
accumulated other comprehensive income or loss, net of tax or,
for the portdon attributable to a hedged risk as part of a fair
value hedge strategy, in net income. The expected weighted-

average life of securities available for sale was 4 years at




December 31, 2001 compared with 4 vears and 5 months at
December 31, 2000.

Securities designated as held to maturity are carried at
amortized cost and are assets of subsidiaries of a third party
financial institution, which are consolidated in PNC’s financial
statements. The expected weighted-average life of securities
held to maturity was 18 years and 11 months at December
31, 2001, PNC had no securities held to maturity at December
31, 2000.

Details Of Securities

Amortized Fair
In millions Cost Value
December 31, 2001
SECURITIES AVAILABLE FOR SALE
Debt securities
U.S. Treasury and government
agencies $808 $807
Mortgage-backed 7,302 7,261
Asset-backed 5,166 5,093
State and municipal 62 64
Other debt 75 75
Corporate stocks and other 264 245
Total securities available for sale $13,677 $13,545
SECURITIES HELD TO MATURITY
Debt securities
U.S. Treasury and government
agencies $260 $257
Asset-backed 8 8
Other debt 95 95
Total securities held to maturity $363 $360
December 31, 2000
SECURITIES AVAILABLE FOR SALE
Debt securities
U.S. Treasury and government
agencies $313 $313
Mortgage-backed 4037 4,002
Asset-backed 902 893
State and municipal 94 96
Other debt 73 73
Corporate stocks and other 537 525

See Securitizations in the Risk Management section of this

Financial Review and Note 14 Securitizations for additional
information regarding the change in securities available for

sale.
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FUNDING SOURCES

Total funding sources were $59.4 billion at December 31,
2001 and 2000. Demand and money market deposits
increased due to ongoing strategic marketing efforts to retain
customers, as higher-cost, less valuable retail certificates of
deposit were de-emphasized. The change in the composition
of borrowed funds reflected a shift within categories to
manage overall funding costs. See Liquidity Risk under Risk
Management in the Financial Review section for additional

information.

Detazils Of Funding Sources

December 31 o millions 200 2000 |
Deposits
Demand and money market $32,589 $28,771
Savings 1,942 1,915
Retail certificates of deposit 10,727 14,175
Other ume 472 567
Deposits in foreign offices 1,574 2,236
Total deposits 47,304 47,664
Borrowed funds
Federal funds purchased 167 1,445
Repurchase agreements 954 607
Bank notes and senior debt 6,362 6,110
Federal Home Loan Bank
borrowings 2,047 500
Subordinated debt 2,298 2,407
Other borrowed funds 262 649
Total borrowed funds 12,090 11,718
Total $59,394 $59,382
——
CAPITAL

The access to and cost of funding new business initiatives
including acquisitions, the ability to engage in expanded
business activities, the ability to pay dividends, the level of
deposit insurance costs, and the level and nature of
regulatory oversight depend, in large part, on a financial
institution’s capital strength. At December 31, 2001, the
Corporation and each bank subsidiary were considered
“well-capitalized” based on regulatory capital ratio
requirements. See Note 19 Regulatory Matters and
Supervision and Regulation in the Risk Factors section of

this Financial Review for additional information.




Risk-Based Capital

December 31 - dollars in millions _

Capital components
Shareholders’ equity

Common $5,813 306,344
Preferred 10 312
Trust preferred capital securities 848 848
Minority interest 134 109

Goodwill and other intangibles
Net unrealized securities losses

(2174 (2312

Continuing operations 86 35
Discontinued operations 45
Net unrealized gains on cash flow
hedge derivatives (98)
Other, net (20 (14)
Tier I risk-based capital 4,599 5,367
Subordinated debt 1,616 1,811
Minority interest 36
Eligible allowance for credit losses 707 667
Total tisk-based capital $6,958  $7,845

Assets
Risk-weighted assets and off-
balance-sheet instruments, and
market risk equivalent assets

$58,958 62,430

Average tangible assets 67,604 66,809
Capital ratios

Tier I risk-based 7.8% 8.6%

Total risk-based 11.8 12.6

Leverage 7 6.8 8.0

The capital position is managed through balance sheet size
and composition, issuance of debt and equity instruments,
treasury stock activities, dividend policies and retention of
earnings.

During 2001, PNC purchased a portion and redeemed
the balance of the outstanding shares of Fixed/Adjustable
Rate Noncumulative Preferred Stock Series F for
approximately $301 million.

During 2001, PNC repurchased 9.5 million shares of its
common stock. On January 3, 2002, the Board of Directors
authorized the Corporation to purchase up to 35 million
shares of its common stock through February 29, 2004.
These shares may be purchased in the open market or
privately negotiated transactions. This authorization
terminated any prior authorizaton. The extent and timing of
any share repurchases will depend on a number of factors
including, among others, progress in disposing of loans held

for sale, regulatory capital considerations, alternative uses of

capital and receipt of regulatory approvals if then required.

RISK FACTORS

The Corporation is subject to a number of risks including,
among others, those described below and in the Risk
Management and Forward-Looking Statements sections of
this Financial Review. These factors and others could impact
the Corporation’s business, financial condition and results of

operations.

BUSINESS AND ECONOMIC CONDITIONS

The Corporation’s business and results of operations are
sensitive to general business and economic conditions in the
United States. These conditions include the level and
movement of interest rates, inflation, monetary supply,
fluctuations in both debt and equity capital markets, and the
strength of the U.S. economy, in general, and the regional
economies in which the Corporation conducts business. A
sustained weakness or further weakening of the economy
could decrease the value of loans held for sale, decrease the
demand for loans and other products and services otfered by
the Corporation, increase usage of unfunded commitments
ot increase the number of customers and counterparties who
become delinquent, file for protection under bankruptey laws
or default on their loans or other obligations to the
Cotporation. An increase in the number of delinquencies,
bankruptcies or defaults could result in a higher level of
nonperforming assets, net charge-offs, provision for credit
losses, and valuation adjustments on loans held for sale.
Changes in interest rates could affect the value of certain on-
balance-sheet and off-balance-sheet financial instruments of
the Corporation. Higher interest rates would also increase
the Corporation’s cost to borrow funds and may increase the
rate paid on deposits. Changes in interest rates could also
affect the value of assets under management. In a period of
rapidly tising interest rates, certain assets under management
would likely be negatively impacted by reduced asset values
and increased redemptions. Also, changes in equity markets
could affect the value of equity investments and the value of
net assets under management and administration. A decline
in the equity markets adversely affected results in 2001 and
could continue to negatively affect noninterest revenues in

future periods.




STRATEGIC REPOSITIONING

The Corporation took several actions in 2001 to accelerate
the strategic repositioning of its lending business that began
in 1998. These actions entail a degree of risk pending
completion.

At December 31, 2001, $5.0 billion of institutional
lending credit exposure including $2.6 billion of outstandings
were classified as held for sale. A total of $169 million of
these loans was included in nonperforming assets at that
date. The loans are carried at the lower of cost or estimated
fair market value. The estimation of fair market values
involves a number of judgments, and is inherently uncertain.
In addition, the value of loan assets is affected by a variety of
company, industry, economic and other factors, and can be
volatile. If the value of loans held for sale deteriorates prior
to disposition, valuation adjustments will be made through
charges to earnings. Moreover, detesioration in the condition
of the borrowers could lead to additional loans being placed
on nonperforming status. See Critical Accounting Policies
and Judgments for additional information.

During the fourth quarter of 2001, the Corporation
decided to discontinue its vehicle leasing business and
recorded charges of $135 million related to exit costs and
additions to reserves related to insured residual value
exposures. At December 31, 2001, approximately $1.9 billion
of vehicle leases remained on the Corporation’s books.
These leases are expected to mature over a period of
approximately five years. During this period, the Corporation
will continue to be subject to tisks inherent in the vehicle
leasing business, including credit risk and the risk that
vehicles returned during or at the conclusion of the lease
term cannot be disposed of at a price at least as great as the
Corporation’s remaining investment in the vehicles after
application of any available residual value insurance or
related reserves.

In January 2001, PNC sold its tesidential mortgage
banking business. Certain closing date purchase price
adjustments aggregating approximately $300 million pretax
are currently in dispute between the parties. The Corporation
has established a receivable of approximately $140 million to
reflect additional purchase price it believes is due from the
buyer. The buyer has taken the position that the purchase
price it has already paid should be reduced by approximately
$160 million. The Corporation has established specific
reserves related to a portion of its recorded receivable. The
putchase agreement requires that an independent public
accounting firm determine the final adjustments. The buyer
also has filed a lawsuit against the Corporation seeking
compensatory damages with respect to certain of the
disputed matters that the Corporation believes are covered
by the process provided in the purchase agreement,
unquantified punitive damages and declaratory and other
relief. Management intends to assert the Corporation’s

positions vigorously. Management believes that, net of
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available reserves, an adverse outcome, expected to be
recorded in discontinued operations, could be material to net
income in the period in which recorded, but that the final
disposition of this matter will not be material to the
Corporation’s financial position.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
JUDGMENTS

The Corporation’s consolidated financial statements are
ptepared based on the application of certain accounting
policies, the most significant of which are described in

Note 1 Accounting Policies. Certain of these policies requite
aumerous estimates and strategic or economic assumptions
that may prove inaccurate ot subject to variations and may
significantly affect PNC’s reported results and financial
position for the period or in future periods. Changes in
underlying factors, assumptions, or estimates in any of these
areas could have a material impact on PNC’s future financial
condition and results of operations.

Allowance For Credit Losses

The allowance for credit losses is calculated with the
objective of maintaining a reserve level believed by
management to be sufficient to absorb estimated probable
credit losses. Management’s determination of the adequacy
of the allowance is based on periodic evaluations of the
credit portfolio and other relevant factors. However, this
evaluation is inherently subjective as it requires material
estimates, including, among others, expected default
probabilities, loss given default, expected commitment usage,
the amounts and timing of expected future cash flows on
impaired loans, value of collateral, estimated losses on
consumer loans and residential mortgages, and general
amounts for historical loss experience. The process also
considers economic conditions, uncertainties in estimating
losses and inherent risks in the various credit portfolios. All
of these factors may be susceptible to significant change.
Also, the allocation of the allowance to specific loan pools is
based on historical loss trends and management’s judgment
concerning those trends. Commercial loans are the largest
category of credits and are the most sensitive to changes in
assumptions and judgments underlying the determination of
the allowance. As such, approximately $467 million or 74%
of the total allowance at December 31, 2001 has been
allocated to the commercial loan category. This allocation
also considers other relevant factors such as actual versus
estimated losses, regional and national economic conditions,
business segment and portfolio concentrations, industry
competition and consolidation, the impact of government
regulatons, and risk of potential estimation or judgmental
errors. To the extent actual outcomes differ from
management estimates, additional provision for credit losses
may be required that would adversely impact earnings in
future periods.




Loans Held For Sale

Loans are classified as held for sale based on management’s
intent to sell them. At the initial transfer date of a loan from
pottfolio to held for sale, any lower of cost or market
(“LOCOM?”) adjustment is recorded as a charge-off. This
results in a new cost basis. Any subsequent adjustment as a
result of the LOCOM analysis is recognized as a valuation
adjustment with changes included in noninterest income.
Although the market value for certain held for sale assets
may be readily obtainable, other assets require significant
judgments by management as to the value that could be
realized at the balance sheet date. These assumptions include
but are not limited to the cash flows generated from the
asset, the dming of a sale, the value of any collateral, the
market conditions for the particular credit, overall investor
demand for these assets and the determination of a proper
discount rate. Changes in market conditions and actual
liquidation experience may result in additional valuation
adjustments that could adversely impact earnings in future

periods.

Equzty Management Asset Valuation

Equity management assets are valued at each balance sheet
date based primarily on either, in the case of limited
partnership investments, the financial statements received
from the limited partnership or, with respect to direct
investments, the estimated fair value. Changes in the market
value of these investments are reflected in the Corporation’s
results of operations as equity management income. The
value of limited partnership investments is based on the
financial statements received from the general partners. Due
to the nature of the direct investments, management must
make assumptions as to future performance, financial
condition, liquidity, availability of capital, and market
conditions, among others, to determine the estimated fair
value of the investments. Market conditions and actual
performance of the companies invested in could differ from
these assumptions resulting in lower valuations that could

adversely impact earnings in future periods.

Lease Residuals

Leases are carried at the aggregate of lease payments and the
estimated residual value of the leased propetty, less unearned
income. The Corporation provides financing for various
types of equipment, aircraft, energy and power systems and
rolling stock through a variety of lease arrangements. A
significant portion of the residual value is guaranteed by
governmental entities or covered by residual value insurance.
Residual values are subject to judgments as to the value of
the underlying equipment that can be affected by changes in

economic and market conditions and the financial viability of
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the residual guarantors and insurers. To the extent not
guaranteed or assumed by a third party, or otherwise insured
against, the Corporation bears the risk of ownership of the
leased assets including the risk that the actual value of the
leased assets at the end of the lease term will be less than the
residual value which could result in a charge and adversely

impact earnings in future periods.

Goodwill And Other Amortizable Assets

Goodwill arising from business acquisitions represents the
value attributable to unidentifiable intangible elements in the
business acquired. The majority of the Corporation’s
goodwill relates to value inherent in fund servicing and
banking businesses. The value of this goodwill is dependent
upon the Corporation’s ability to provide quality, cost
effective services in the face of competition from other
market leaders on a national and global basis. This ability in
turn relies upon continuing investments in processing
systems, the development of value-added service features,
and the ease of use of the Corporation’s services.

As such, goodwill value is supported ultimately by
revenue which is driven by the volume of business transacted
and the market value of the assets under administration. A
decline in earnings as a result of a lack of growth or the
Corporation’s inability to deliver cost effective services over
sustained petiods can lead to impairment of goodwill which
could result in a charge and adversely impact earnings in
future periods.

Total goodwill and other amortizable assets were $2.4
billion at December 31, 2001.

SUPERVISION AND REGULATION

The Corporation operates in highly regulated industries.
Applicable laws and regulations, among other things, restrict
permissible activities and investments and require
compliance with consumet-related protections for loan,
deposit, fiduciary, mutual fund and other customers. The
consequences of noncompliance can include substantial
monetary and nonmonetary sanctions. In addition, the
Corporation is subject to comprehensive examination and
supervision by, among other regulatory bodies, the Federal
Reserve Board and the Office of the Comptroller of the
Currency. These regulatory agencies generally have broad
discretion to impose restrictions and limitations on the
operatons of a regulated entity where the agencies
determine, among other things, that such operatons are
unsafe or unsound, fail to comply with applicable law or are
otherwise inconsistent with laws and regulations or with the
supervisory policies of these agencies. The examination
process and the regulators’ associated supervisory tools could

materially impact the conduct, growth and profitability of the




Corporation’s operations. Additional information is included
in Note 19 Regulatory Matters and Item 1 of the

Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K.

RESTATEMENTS

Early in 2002, the Corporation announced two restatements
affecting previously reported financial results. See Note 3
Restatements. The Corporation is a defendant in several
lawsuits filed after announcement of the restatement related
to consolidation of subsidiaries of a third party financial
institution. The staffs of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the Federal Reserve Board have informed
the Corporation that they are conducting inquiries into the
transactions that are the subject of such restatement. In
addition, the reputational risk created by the restatements
may have consequences to the Corporation in such areas as
business generation and retention, funding and liquidity that

cannot be predicted at this time.

MONETARY AND OTHER POLICIES

The financial services industry is subject to various monetary
and other policies and regulations of the United States
government and its agencies, which include the Federal
Reserve Board, the Office of the Comptroller of Currency
and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation as well as
state regulators. The Corporation is particularly affected by
the policies of the Federal Reserve Board, which regulates
the supply of money and credit in the United States. The
Federal Reserve Board’s policies influence the rates of
interest that PNC charges on loans and pays on interest-
bearing deposits and can also affect the value of on-balance-
sheet and off-balance-sheet financial instruments. Those
policies also influence, to a significant extent, the cost of

funding for the Corporation.

COMPETITION

PNC operates in a highly competitive environment, both in
terms of the products and services offered and the
geographic markets in which PNC conducts business. This
environment could become even more competitive in the
future. The Corporation competes with local, regional and
national banks, thrifts, credit unions and non-bank financial
institutions, such as investment banking firms, investment
advisory firms, brokerage firms, investment companies,
ventute capital firms, mutual fund complexes and insurance
companies, as well as other entties that offer financial and
processing services, and through alternative delivery channels
such as the World Wide Web. Technological advances and

legislation, among other changes, have lowered barriers to

entry, have made it possible for non-bank institutions to

offer products and services that traditionally have been
provided by banks, and have increased the level of
competition faced by the Corporation. Many of the
Corporation’s competitors benefit from fewer regulatory
constraints and lower cost structures, allowing for more

competitive pricing of products and services.

DISINTERMEDIATION

Disintermediation is the process of eliminating the role of
the intermediary in completing a transaction. For the
financial services industry, this means eliminating or
significantly reducing the role of banks and other depository
institutions in completing transactions that have traditionally
involved banks. Disintermediation could result in, among
other things, the loss of customer deposits and decreases in

transactions that generate fee income,

ASSET MANAGEMENT PERFORMANCE

Asset management revenue Is primarily based on a
percentage of the value of assets under management and
performance fees expressed as a percentage of the returns
realized on assets under management. A decline in the value
of debt and equity instruments, among other things, could
cause asset management revenue to decline.

Investment performance is an important factor for the
level of assets under management. Poor investment
performance could impair revenue and growth as existing
clients might withdraw funds in favor of better performing
products. Also, performance fees could be lower or
nonexistent. Additionally, the ability to attract funds from

existing and new clients might diminish.

FUND SERVICING

Fund servicing fees are primarily based on the market value
of the assets and the number of shareholder accounts
administered by the Corporation for its clients. A rise in
interest rates or a sustained weakness or further weakening
ot volatility in the debt and equity markets could influence an
investor’s decision to invest or maintain an investment in a
mutual fund. As a result, fluctuatons may occur in the level
or value of assets that the Corporation has under
administration. A significant investor migraton from mutual
fund investments could have a negative impact on the
Corporatdon’s revenues by reducing the assets and the
number of shareholder accounts it administers. There has
been and continues to be merger, acquisition and
consolidation activity in the financial services industry.
Mergers or consolidadons of financial institutions in the
future could reduce the number of existing or potential fund

servicing clients.




ACQUISITIONS

The Corporation expands its business from time to time by
acquiring other financial services companies. Factors
pertaining to acquisitions that could adversely affect the
Corporation’s business and earnings include, among others:
anticipated cost savings or potential revenue enhancements
that may not be fully realized or realized within the expected
time frame; key employee, customer or revenue loss
following an acquisition that may be greater than expected;
and costs or difficulties related to the integration of

businesses that may be greater than expected.

TERRORIST ACTIVITIES

The impact of the September 11% terrorist attacks or any
future terrorist activities and responses to such activities
cannot be predicted at this time with respect to severity or
duration. The impact could adversely affect the Corporation
in a number of ways including, among othets, an increase in
delinquencies, bankruptcies or defaults that could resultin a
higher leve! of nonperforming assets, net charge-offs and

provision for credit losses.

RISK MANAGEMENT

In the normal course of business, the Corporation assumes
various types of risk, which include, among other things,
credit risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk, and risk associated
with trading activities, financial derivatives and “off-balance
sheet” activides. PNC has risk management processes
designed to provide for risk identification, measurement and

monitoring.

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk represents the possibility that a borrower,
countetparty ot insurer may not perform in accordance with
contractual terms. Credit risk is inherent in the financial
services business and results from extending credit to
customers, purchasing securities and entering into financial
derivative transactions. The Corporation seeks to manage
credit risk through, among other things, diversification,
limiting credit exposure to any single industry or customer,
requiring collateral, selling participations to third parties, and

purchasing credit-related derivatives.

ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES

The Corporation maintains an allowance for credit losses to
absorb losses inherent in the loan portfolio. The allowance is
determined based on regular quarterly assessments of the

probable estimated losses inherent in the loan portfolio and

is in compliance with applicable regulatory standards and
generally accepted accounting principles. The methodology
for measuring the appropriate level of the allowance consists
of several elements, including specific allocations to impaired
loans, allocations to pools of non-impaired loans and
unallocated reserves. While allocations are made to specific
loans and pools of loans, the total reserve is available for all
credit losses.

Specific allowances are established for all loans
considered impaired by a method prescribed by Statement of
Financial Accounting Standatds (“SFAS”) No. 114,
“Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan.”
Specific allowances are determined by PNC’s Special Asset
Committee based on an analysis of the present value of the
loan’s expected future cash flows, the loan’s observable
market price or the fair value of the loan’s collateral.

Allocations to non-impaired commercial loans (pool
reserve allocations) are assigned to pools of loans as defined
by PNC’s internal risk rating categories. The pool reserve
methodology’s key elements include expected default
probabilides (EDP), loss given default (LGD) and expected
commitment usage. EDPs are derived from historical default
analyses and are a function of the borrower’s risk rating
grade and loan tenor. LGDs are derived from historical loss
data and are a function of the loan’s collateral value and
other structural factors that may affect the uldmate ability to
collect the loan. The final non-impaired loan reserve
allocations are based on this methodology and management’s
jadgment of other relevant factors which may include,
among others, regional and national economic conditions,
business segment and portfolio concentrations, historical
actual versus estimated losses and the volatility of PNC’s
historic loss trends.

This methodology is sensitive to changes in key risk
parameters such as EDPs and LGDs. In general, a given
change in any of the major risk parameters will have a
commensurate change in the pool reserve allocations to non-
impaired commercial loans. Additionally, other factors such
as the rate of migration in the severity of problem loans ot
changes in the distribution of loan tenor will contribute to
the final pool reserve allocations.

Consumer and residential mortgage loan allocations are
made at a total portfolio level by consumer product line
based on actual historical loss experience adjusted for
volatility, current economic conditions and other relevant
factors.

While PNC’s specific and pool reserve methodologies

strive to reflect all risk factors, there continues to be certain

elements of risk associated with, but not limited to, potential




estimation and judgmental errors. Furthermore, events may
have occurred as of the reserve evaluation date that are not
vet reflected in the risk measures or characteristics of the
portfolio due to inherent lags in information. Unallocated
reserves are established to provide coverage for such risks.
Senior management’s Reserve Adequacy Committee
provides oversight for the allowance evaluation process,
including quarterly evaluadons and methodology and
estimation changes. The results of the evaluations are

reported to the Credit Committee of the Board of Directors.

Allocation Of Allowance For Credit Losses

2001 2000

December 31 Loans to Loans to
Dollars in millons __ Allowance  Total Loans Allowance  Torl Loans
Commetcial $467 40.0% $536 41.9%
Commercial

real estate 67 6.3 53 5.1
Consumer 49 24.1 51 18.0
Residential

mortgage 8 16.8 10 26.2
Other 39 12.8 25 8.8
Total $630 0.0% _ 8675 ] 100.

For purposes of this presentation, the unallocated portion of
the allowance for credit losses of $143 million has been
assigned to loan categories based on the relative specific and
pool allocation amounts.

The provision for credit losses for 2001 and the
evaluation of the allowance for credit losses as of December
31, 2001 reflected changes in loan portfolio composition, the
net impact of downsizing credit exposute and changes in
asset quality. The unallocated portion of the allowance for
credit losses represents 23% of the total allowance and .38%
of total loans at December 31, 2001, compared with 20%
and .26%, respectively, at December 31, 2000,

Rollforward Of Allowance For Credit Losses

In millions .__,_m_ 2001 2000

January 1 $675 3674

Charge-offs (985) (186)

Recoveries 37 51
Net charge-offs (948) (135)

Provision for credit losses 903 136
December 31 - $630

The allowance as a percent of nonaccrual loans and total
loans was 299% and 1.66%, respectively, at December 31,
2001. The comparable year end 2000 petrcentages were 209%
and 1.33%, respectively. During 2001, the Corporation took
several actions to accelerate the strategic repositioning of the
institutional lending business. These repositioning initiatives
resulted in a decrease in commercial loan portfolio credit
exposure and a decrease in both specific and pooled

allowances at December 31, 2001,

Charge-Offs And Recoveries

Percent of
Year ended December 31 Net Average
:

2001
Commercial $876 $17 $859 4.37%
Commercial real estate 37 1 36 140
Consumer 42 16 26 29
Residential mortgage 2 1 1 .01
Lease financing 28 2 26 .62

Total $985 $37 $948  2.12
2000
Commercial %121 §21 $100 46%
Commercial real estate 3 4 1 (04
Consumer 46 22 24 .26
Residential mortgage 8 2 6 .05
Lease financing 8 2 6 19

Total $186 £51 3135 27

Net charge-offs were $948 million for 2001 compared with
$135 million for the same period in 2000 and included $804

million of net charge-offs in 2001 related to institutional

lending repositioning initiatives, of which $673 million

related to charges on loans transferred to held for sale.

NONPERFORMING, PAST DUE AND POTENTIAL PROBLEM
ASSETS

Nonperforming assets include nonaccrual Joans, troubled
debt restructurings, nonaccrual loans held for sale and
foreclosed assets. In addition, certain performing assets have

interest payments that are past due or have the potential for

future repayment problems.




Nonperforming Assets By Type

December 31 - dollars in millions 2001 2000
Nonaccrual loans
Commercial $188 $312
Commercial real estate 4 3
Consumer 3 2
Residental mortgage 5 4
Lease financing 11 2
Total nonaccrual loans 211 323
Nonperforming loans held for sale () 169 33
Foreclosed assets
Commercial real estate 1 3
Residental mortgage 3 8
Other 7 5
Total foreclosed assets 1 16
Total nonperforming assets $391 $372
Nonaccrual loans to total loans .56% .64%
Nonperforming assets to total loans, loans
held for sale and foreclosed assets 93 71
Nonperforming assets to total assets .56 .53

(a) Includes $6 million of a troubled debt restrucrured loan held for sale in 2001

Of the total nonaccrual loans at December 31, 2001,
approximately 47% are related to PNC Business Credit.
These loans are to botrowers many of which have weaker
credit risk ratings. As a result, a greater proportion of such
loans may be classified as nonperforming. Such loans are
secured by accounts receivable, inventory, machinery and
equipment, and other collateral. This secured position helps
to mitigate risk of loss on these loans by reducing the
teliance on cash flows for repayment. The above table
excludes $18 million of equity management assets carried at
estimated fair value at December 31, 2001 and 2000. The
amount of nonaccrual loans that were current as to principal
and interest was $93 million at December 31, 2001 and $67
million at December 31, 2000. The amount of
nonperforming loans held for sale that were current as to
principal and interest was $8 million at December 31, 2001.
There were no nonperforming loans held for sale that were

current as to principal and interest at December 31, 2000.

Nonperforming Assets By Business

IDecember 31 —in millions 2001_ _ ZOOOV '
Regional Community Banking $52 847
Corporate Banking 220 252
PNC Real Estate Finance 6 35
PNC Business Credit 109 36
PNC Advisors 4 2
Totalmerforming assets $391 $372

At December 31, 2001, Corporate Banking, PNC Business
Credit and PNC Real Estate Finance had nonperforming
loans held for sale of $161 million, $7 million and $1 million,
respectively.

Credit quality was adversely impacted in 2001 and a
sustained weakness or further weakening of the economy, ot
other factors that affect asset quality, could result in an
increase in the number of delinquencies, bankruptcies or
defaults, and a higher level of nonperforming assets, net
charge-offs and provision for credit losses in future periods.
With the current weak economy and growth in PNC
Business Credit, nonperforming assets will likely increase
from year end amounts. See the Forward-Looking
Statements section of this Financial Review for additional
factors that could cause actual results to differ materially

from forward-looking statements or historical performance.

Change In Nonperforming Assets

In millions i _ 2001 . 2000
January 1 $372 §325
Transferred from accrual 852 471
Returned to performing (28) (13)
Principal reductions (278) (184)
Asset sales 27) &)
Charge-offs and other (500) (148)
December 31 _ - $391 L $372

Accruing Loans And Loans Held For Sale Past Due 90

Days Or More

Percent of Total
Amount Outstandings

Decembet 31
Dollars in millions

_2001 2000 2001 2000

Commercial $54 $46
Commercial real estate 1 6
Consumer 36 24
Residential mortgage 56 36
Lease financing 2 1

Total loans 159 113
Loans held for sale 33 16

Total loans and

loans held forsale _$192  $129 46 25

Loans and loans held for sale not included in nonperforming
or past due categories, but where information about possible
credit problems causes management to be uncertain about
the borrower’s ability to comply with existing repayment
terms over the next six months, totaled $87 million and $213
million, respectively, at December 31, 2001, compared with

$182 million and $11 million, respectively, at December 31,
2000.




CREDIT-RELATED INSTRUMENTS

Credit default swaps provide, for a fee, an assumption of a
portion of the credit risk associated with the undetlying
financial instruments. The Corporation primarily uses such
contracts to mitigate credit risk associated with commercial
lending activities. At December 31, 2001, credit default
swaps of $198 million in notional value were used by the
Corporation to hedge credit risk associated with commercial

lending activities.

INTEREST RATE RISK
Interest rate risk arises primarily through the Corporation’s
traditional business activities of extending loans and accepting
deposits. Many factors, including economic and financial
conditions, movements in interest rates and consumer
preferences affect the spread between interest earned on assets
and interest paid on liabilides. In managing interest rate risk,
the Corporation seeks to minimize its reliance on a particular
interest rate scenario as a source of earnings while
maximizing net interest income and net interest ﬁlargin. To
further these objectives, the Corporation uses securities
purchases and sales, short-term and long-term funding,
financial derivatives and other capital markets instruments.
Interest rate risk is centrally managed by Asset and
Liability Management, The Corporation acdvely measures
and monitors components of interest rate risk including term
structure or repricing risk, vield curve or nonparallel rate
shift risk, basis risk and optons risk. The Corporation
measures and manages both the short-term and long-term
effects of changing interest rates. An income simulation
model is designed to measure the sensitivity of net interest
income to changing interest rates over the next twenty-four
month period. An economic value of equity model is
designed to measure the sensitivity of the value of existing
on-balance-sheet and off-balance-sheet positions to changing
interest rates.

The income simulation model is the primary tool
used to measure the direction and magnitude of changes in
net interest income resulting from changes in interest rates.
Forecasting net interest income and its sensitivity to changes
in interest rates requires that the Corporation make
assumptions about the volume and characteristics of new
business and the behavior of existing posidons. These
business assumptions are based on the Corporaton’s

experience, business plans and published industry

experience. Key assumptions employed in the model include

prepayment speeds on mortgage-related assets and consumer
loans, loan volumes and pricing, deposit volumes and
pricing, the expected life and repricing characteristics of
nonmaturity loans and deposits, and management’s financial
and capital plans.

Because these assumptions are inherently uncertain, the
model cannot precisely estimate net interest income or
precisely predict the effect of higher or lower interest rates
on net interest income. Actual results will differ from
simulated results due to the timing, magnitude and frequency
of interest rate changes, the difference between actual
experience and the assumed volume and characteristics of
new business and behavior of existing positions, and changes
in market conditions and management strategies, among
other factors.

The Corporation models additional interest rate scenarios
covering a wider range of rate movements to identify yield
curve, term structure and basis risk exposures. These
scenarios are developed based on historical rate relationships
or management’s expectations regarding the future direction
and level of interest rates. Depending on market conditions
and other factors, these scenarios may be modeled more or
less frequently. Such analyses are used to identify risk and
develop strategies.

An economic value of equity model is used by the
Corporation to value all current on-balance-sheet and off-
balance-sheet positons under a range of instantaneous
interest rate changes. The resulting change in the value of
equity is 2 measure of overall long-term interest rate risk
inherent in the Corporation’s existing on-balance-sheet and
off-balance-sheet positions. The Corporation uses the
economic value of equity model to complement the net
interest income simulation modeling process.

The Corporation’s interest rate risk management policies
provide that net interest income should not decrease by
more than 3% if interest rates gradually increase or decrease
from current rates by 100 basis points over a twelve-month
period and that the economic value of equity should not
decline by more than 1.5% of the book value of assets for a
200 basis point instantaneous increase or decrease in interest
rates. Policy exceptions, if any, are reported to the Finance
Committee of the Board of Directors.

The following table sets forth the sensitivity results for

the last two years.




Interest Sensitivity Analysis
December 31 2001 2000

¢

Net Interest Income Sensitivity Simulation
Effect on net interest income from
gradual interest rate change over
following 12 months of:

100 basis point increase (-:3)% (3)%
100 basis point decrease 2.8)% 4%

Economic Vatue of Equity Sensitivity Model
Effect on value of on- and off-balance-
sheet positions as a percentage of
assets from instantaneous change in
interest rates of:

200 basis point increase 1.H% (.8)%
200 basis point decrease 5% (1%

Key Period-End Interest Rates

Ore month LIBOR 187%  6.56%
8%

Three-year swap 4.33%

L

Current market interest rates, which are used as base rates in
the Corporation’s net Interest income simulation and
economic value of equity models, have declined significantly
from yeat-end 2000 to year-end 2001.

The major sources of the change in net interest income
sensitivities from 2000 to 2001 are the effects of this decline
in rates on two of the key drivers of the simulation results.
First, the decline in market rates and the lowering of the
rates paid by PNC on transaction deposits have reduced the
expected impact that further rate declines could have on the
rate paid on transacton deposits. Second, the lower rate
environment has increased the effect that a further rate
decline could have on the anticipated prepayment rates of
mortgage-related assets.

Over the course of 2001, management has taken actions
to mitigate the adverse effects of significantly declining
interest rates on the Corporation’s net interest income.
Without these actions, the Cotporation’s reported sensitivity
to a 100 basis point decline in interest rates at year end 2001
would have been significantly higher. These actions included
purchasing fixed-rate securities and financial derivatives. The
effects of these actions have contributed to the year-over-
year change in the Corporation’s economic value of equity
sensitivities, Thus far in 2002, management’s actions have
focused on reducing the effects of significanty higher

interest rates on the Corporation’s net interest income and

economic value of equity.

LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity represents the Corporation’s ability to obtain cost-
effective funding to meet the needs of customers as well as
the Corporation’s financial obligations. Liquidity is centrally
managed by Asset and Liability Management, with oversight
provided by the Corporate Asset and Liability Committee
and the Finance Committee of the Board of Directors.

The Corporation’s main sources of funds to meet its
liquidity requirements are access to the capital markets, sale
of liquid assets, secured advances from the Federal Home
Loan Bank, its core deposit base and the capability to
securitize assets for sale.

Access to capital markets is a key factor affecting liquidity
management. Access to such markets is in part based on the
Corporation’s credit ratings, which are influenced by a
number of factors including capital ratios, asset quality and
earnings. Additional factors that impact liquidity include the
matutity structure of existing assets, liabilities, and off-
balance-sheet positions, the level of liquid securities and
loans available for sale, regulatory capital classification, and
the Corporation’s ability to securitize and sell various types
of loans.

Liquid assets consist of short-term investments and
securities available for sale. At December 31, 2001, such
assets totaled $14.9 billion, with $6.2 billion pledged as
collateral for borrowings, trust and other commitments.
Secured advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank, of
which PNC Bank, N.A. (“PNC Bank”), PNC’s principal
bank subsidiary, is 2 member, are generally secured by
residential mortgages, other real-estate related loans and
mortgage-backed securities. At December 31, 2001,
approximately $10.6 billion of residential mortgages and
other real-estate related loans were available as collateral for
borrowings from the Federal Home Loan Bank. Funding can
also be obtained through alternative forms of borrowing,
including federal funds purchased, repurchase agreements
and short-term and long-term debt issuances.

Liquidity for the parent company and subsidiaries is also
generated through the issuance of securities in public or
private markets and lines of credit. At December 31, 2001,
the Corporation had unused capacity under effecave shelf
registration statements of approximately $3.3 billion of debt
ot equity securities and $400 million of trust preferred capital
securities. The Corporation had an unused line of credit of
$500 million at December 31, 2001.




The principal source of parent company revenue and limitations to be restored during 2002 from retained

cash flow is the dividends it receives from PNC Bank. The earnings.

bank’s dividend level may be impacted by its capital needs, In addition to dividends from PNC Bank, other sources
supervisory policies, corporate policies, contractual of parent company liquidity include cash and short-term
restrictions and other factors. Also, there are legal limitations investments, as well as dividends and loan repayments from
on the ability of national banks to pay dividends or make other subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2001, the parent
other capital distributdons. PNC Bank was not permitted to company had approximately $800 million in funds available
pay dividends to the parent company as of December 31, from its cash and short-term investments or other funds
2001 without prior approval from banking regulators as a available from unrestricted subsidiaries. Management

result of the repositioning charges taken in 2001 and prior believes the parent company has sufficient liquidity available
dividends. Under these limitations, PNC Bank’s capacity to from sources other than dividends from PNC Bank to meet
pay dividends without prior regulatory approval can be current obligadons to its debt holders, vendors, and others
restored through retention of earnings. Management expects and to pay dividends at current rates through 2002.

PNC Bank’s dividend capacity relative to such legal

The following tables set forth contractual obligations and various commitments representing required and potential cash
outflows as of December 31, 2001.

Contractual Obligations Payment Due By Period

Less than one One to three Four to five After five
December 31, 2001 — in millions Total year  years _ years vears
Minimum annual rentals on noncancellable leases $908 $125 $220 $181 $382
Remaining contractual maturities of time deposits 12,773 8,718 2,456 1,110 489
Borrowed funds 12,090 3,382 4,482 2,742 1,484
Capital securities of subsidiary trusts (a) 848 848

Total contractu_a_l_caﬁh obh_&uons $26 619 $12 225 $7,158 $4,033 $3,03 _

(a) Reflects the maturity of junior subordinated debentures held b\ subixd.lan trusts.

Other Commitments (a) Total Amount Of Commitment Expitation By Period
Amounts  Less than one One to three Four to five After five
Committed yvear vears rears years

- in mﬂhom

December 31, 2001

Standby letters of credit $3,998 $2,102 $1,727 $156 $13
Loan commitments 25,279 15,507 6,632 2,808 332
Asset-backed commercial paper conduit 5,764 5,713 51
Othet commitments (b) 247 9 211 27

Total comrmtments $35, 288 $23 331 $8,621 $2991 $345 |

(a) Commlr_ment< are funding commitments that could potenuall\ require performance in the event of demand< by thlrd pames or conungent events. Loan commitments are reported
net of participations, assignments and syndications.
(b) Equity Management funding commitments.

TRADING ACTIVITIES Risk associated with trading, capital markets and foreign
Most of PNC’s trading activities are designed to provide exchange activities is managed using a value-at-risk approach
capital markets services to customers and not to position the that combines interest rate risk, foreign exchange rate risk,
Corporation’s portfolio for gains from market movements. spread risk and volatility risk. Using this approach, exposure
Trading acavites are confined to financial instruments and is measured as the potential loss due to a two standard
financial detrivadves. PNC participates in derivatives and deviation, one-day move in interest rates. The estimated
foreign exchange trading as well as underwriting and “market average combined value-at-risk of all trading operations
making” in equity securities as an accommodation to using this measurement was 3.7 million for both 2001 and
customers. PNC also engages in trading activities as part of 2000. The estimated combined period-end value-at-risk was
risk management strategies. Net trading income was $147 $.9 million at December 31, 2001 and 8.5 million at

million in 2001 compared with $91 million in 2000. See Note December 31, 2000.

7 Trading Actvities for additdonal informatdon.
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FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES calculated on a notional amount. The floating rate is based

As required, effective January 1, 2001, the Corporation on a money market index, primarily short-term LIBOR.

implemented SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Total rate of return swaps are agreements with 2

Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended by SFAS counterparty to exchange an interest rate payment for the

No. 137 and No. 138. The statement requires the total rate of return on a specified refetence index calculated

Corporation to recognize all derivative instruments at fair on a notional amount. Purchased interest rate caps and floors

value as either assets or liabilites. Financial derivatives are are agreements where, for a fee, the counterparty agrees to

reported at fair value in other assets or other liabilities. The pay the Corporation the amoun, if any, by which a specified

cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle market interest rate exceeds or is less than a defined rate

resulting from the adoption of SFAS No. 133 was an after- applied to a notional amount, respectvely. Interest rate

tax charge of $5 million reported in the consolidated income futures contracts are exchange-traded agreements to make or

statement and an after-tax accumulated other comprehensive take delivery of a financial instrument at an agreed upon

loss of $4 million in the consolidated balance sheet. See Note price and are setded in cash daily.

20 Financial Detivatives for additional information. Financial derivatives involve, to varying degrees, interest
The Corporation uses a variety of financial derivatives as rate, market and credit risk. For interest rate and total rate of

part of the overall asset and liability risk management process return swaps, caps and floors and futures contracts, only

to manage interest rate, market and credit risk inherent in the petiodic cash payments and, with respect to caps and floors,

Cotporation’s business activities. Substantially all such premiums, are exchanged. Therefore, cash requirements and

instruments are used to manage risk related to changes in exposure to credit risk are significantly less than the notional

interest rates. Interest rate and total rate of return swaps, value,

purchased interest rate caps and floors and futures contracts Not all elements of interest rate, market and credit risk

are the primary instruments used by the Corporation for are addressed through the use of financial or other

interest rate risk management. derivatives, and such instruments may be ineffective for their
Interest rate swaps are agreements with a counterparty to intended purposes due to unanticipated market

exchange periodic fixed and floating interest payments characteristics among other reasons.

The following table sets forth changes, during 2001, in the notional value of financial derivatives used for risk management and

designated as accounting hedges under SFAS No. 133.

Financial Derivatives Activity

Weighted-
December 31 January 1 December 31 Average

Dollars in millions 2000 Adjustments 2001 Additions Maturities  Terminations 2001

Interest rate risk management
Interest rate sw aps

Receive fixed $4,756 $180 $4,936 $6,300  $(2,118) $(2,370) $6,748 3 yrs. 2 mos.

Pay fixed 1 248 249 248 (390) 107 4 yrs. 1 mo.

Basis swaps 2,230 (1,773) 457 235 (5) (600) 87 6 yrs. 10 mos.
Interest rate caps 308 (243) 65 44 (84) 25 4 yrs. 4 mos.
Interest rate floors 3,238 (238) 3,000 60 (3,053) 7 3 yrs. 4 mos.
Futures contracts 642 (244 398 7 mos.

Total interest rate risk

management 10,533 (1,826) 8,707 7,529 (2,123) (6,741 7,372

Commercial mortgage banking
risk management

Interest rate swaps 311 311 965 (1,171 105 9 yrs. 9 mos.
Total rate of return swaps 75 75 250 (175) 150 2 mos.
Total commercial mortgage ’
banking risk management 386 386 1,215 (175) (1,171) 255
Student lending activities
Forward contracts 347 (347)
Credit-related activities
Credit default swaps 4,391 (4,391)

_Toral _ 815,657 $(6,564) §9,093

38,744 2 SN2 2021

(a) Primarily consists of demam es that are not de51gnated as accounung hedges under SFAS No. 133 and instruments no longer conszdeted financial derivatives under SFAS I\/o 133.
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The following table sets forth the notional value and the fair value of financial derivatives used for risk management and
designated as accounting hedges under SFAS No. 133 at December 31, 2001, Weighted-average interest rates presented are
based on the implied forward vield curve at December 31, 2001.

Financial Derivatives - 2001

Notional Weighted-Average Interest Rates
Dccomber 3 ol e e value  FairValue  Paid  Received
Interest rate risk management
Asset rate conversion
Interest rate swaps (2) '
Receive fixed designated to loans $4,335 $132 3.35% 5.23%
Pay fixed designated to loans 107 (5) 5.88 4.66
Basis swaps designated to loans 87 5.49 5.42
Interest rate caps designated to loans (b) 25 NM NM
Interest rate floors designated to loans () 7 NM NM
Future contracts designated to loans 398 NM NM
Total asset rate conversion 4,959 127
Liability rate conversion
Interest rate swaps (a)
Receive fixed designated to borrowed funds 2,413 135 5.20 5.94
Total liability rate conversion 2,413 135
Total interest rate risk management 7,372 262
Commercial mortgage banking risk management
Pay fixed interest rate swaps designated to loans held for sale (2) 105 1 5.52 5.82
Payv total rate of return swaps designated to loans held for sale () 150 5.89 1.39
Total commercial mortgage banking risk management
; Total financial derivatives designated for risk management

(a) The floating rate portion of interest rate contracts is based on money-market indices. As a percent of notional value, 65% were based on 1-month LIBOR 34% on 3-month
LIBOR and the remainder on other short-term indices.

(b) Interest rate caps with notional values of §15 million require the counterparty to pay the Corporation the excess, if any, of 3-month LIBOR over 2 weighted-average strike of
6.40%. In addition, interest rate caps with notional values of 36 million require the counterparty to pay the excess, if any, of 1-month LIBOR over a weighted-average strike of
6.00%. The remainder is based on other short-term indices. At December 31, 2001, 3-month LIBOR was 1.88% and 1-month LIBOR was 1,87%.

(¢) Interest rate floors with notonal values of $3 million require the counterparty to pay the excess, if any, of the weighted-average strike of 4.50% over 3-month LIBOR. The
remainder is based on other short-term indices. At December 31, 2001, 3-month LIBOR was 1.88%.

NM- Not meaningful
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The following table sets forth the notional value and the estimated fair value of financial derivatives used for risk management at

December 31, 2000. Weighted-average interest rates presented are based on the implied forward yield curve at December 31, 2000.

Financial Derivatives - 2000

Notional Estimated Weighted-Average Interest Rates

December 31, 2000 - dollars in millions Value Fair Value Paid Received

Interest rate risk management
Asset rate conversion

Interest rate swaps (a)

Receive fixed designated to loans 83,250 $27 5.96% 5.56%
Basis swaps designated to other earning assets 226 3 5.63 5.85
Interest rate caps designated to loans (b) 308 4 NM NM
Interest rate floors designated to loans (¢ 3,238 @) NM NM
Total asset rate conversion 7,022 33

Liability rate conversion
Interest rate swaps (a)
Receive fixed designated to:

Interest-bearing deposits 125 4 5.85 6.73
Borrowed funds 1,381 57 5.96 6.60
Pay fixed designated to borrowed funds 1 5.88 5.78
Basis swaps designated to borrowed funds 2,004 10 5.76 5.79
Total liability rate conversion 3,511 71
Total interest rate risk management 10,533 104
Commercial mortgage banking risk management
Pay fixed interest rate swaps designated to securities held for sale (3) 135 © 6.94 6.04
Pay fixed interest rate swaps designated to loans held for sale (a) 176 3 5.76 5.99
Pay total rate of return swaps designated to loans held for sale (2) 75 (5) 5.76 6.15
Total commercial mortgage banking risk management 386 (10
Student lending activities — Forward contracts (d) 347 NM NM
Credit-related activities — Credit default swaps (d) 4,391 &N NM NM

Total financial derivatives designated for risk manag

A TR

(a) The floating rate portion of interest rate contracts is based on money-market indices. As a p
LIBOR and the remainder on other short-term indices,

(b) Interest rate caps with notonal values of $61 million, $95 million and 3150 million require the counterparty to pay the Corporation the excess, if any, of 3-month LIBOR over a
weighted-average strike of 6.00%, 1-month LIBOR over a weighted-average suike of 3.68% and Prime over a weighted-average strike of 8.76%, respectively. At December 31,
2000, 3-month LIBOR was 6.40%, 1-month LIBOR was 6.56% and Prime was 9.50%.

(c) Interest rate floors with notional values of $3.0 billion require the counterparty to pay the excess, if any, of the weighted-average strike of 4.63% over 3-month LIBOR. At
December 31, 2000, 3-month LIBOR was 6.40%.

{d) Due to the structure of these contracts, they are no longer considered financial derivatives under SFAS No. 133,

NM- Not meaningful




OTHER DERIVATIVES

To accommodate customer needs, PNC enters into

customer-related financial derivative transactions primarily

consisting of interest rate swaps, caps, floors and foreign

exchange contracts. Risk exposure from customer positions

is managed through transactions with other dealers.

Additionally, the Corporation enters into other derivative

transactions for risk management purposes that are not

designated as accounting hedges, primarily consisting of

interest rate floors and caps and basis swaps. Other

noninterest income for 2001 included $31 million of net

gains related to the derivatives held for risk management

putposes not designated as accounting hedges. Prior to 2001,

changes in the fair value of these derivatives that were

previously accounted for under the accrual method wete not

reflected in operating results.

Other Derivatives
At December 31, 2001 2001
Positive Negative Average
Nodonal Fair Fair Net Asset Fair
Tn millions Value Value Value (Liability) Value
Customer-related
Interest rate
Swaps $20,317 $336 $(335) $1 $(6)
Caps/floors
Sold 3,493 (34) 34 (25)
Purchased 2,79 27 27 21
Foreign exchange 4,429 43 39 4 11
Other 2,957 65 (55) 10 4
Total customer-related 33,987 471 (463) 8 5
Other risk management and proprietary
Interest rate
Basis swaps 2,408 8 8 10
Caps/floots
Sold 250 2) 2) 6y
Purchased 4,650 2 2 1
Other 547 8 3) 5 7
Total other risk management and
proprietary 7,855 18 (5) 13 17
Total other derivatives $41,842 $489 $(468) $21 $22

“OFF-BALANCE-SHEET” ACTIVITIES

PNC has reputation, legal, operational and fiduciary risks in
virtually every area of its business, many of which are not
reflected in assets and liabilities recorded on the balance
sheet, and some of which are conducted through limited
purpose entities known as “special purpose entities.” These
activities are part of the banking business and would be
found in most larger financial institutions with the size and
activities of PNC. Most of these involve financial products
distributed to customers, trust and custody services, and
processing and funds transfer services, and the amounts
involved can be quite large in relation to the Corporation’s
assets, equity and earnings. The primary accounting for these
activities on PNC’s records is to reflect the earned income,
operating expenses and any receivables or liabilities for
transaction settlements. For example: PNC Bank provides
credit and liquidity to customers through loan commitments
and letters of credit (see the Other Commitments table in the
Liquidity Risk section of Risk Management in this Financial

Review); BlackRock provides investment advisory and

administration services for others through registered

investment companies, separate accounts, and other legal
entities - additional information about BlackRock is available
in its filings with the SEC and may be obtained electronically
at the SEC’s home page at www.sec.gov; PFPC processes
mutual fund transactions, provides securities lending services
and maintains custody of certain fund assets; PNC Advisors
provides trust services and holds assets for personal and
institutional customers; Hilliard Lyons maintains brokerage
assets of customers; and Columbia Housing administers and
manages funds that invest in affordable housing projects that
generate tax credits to investors; among others, In addition
to these activities, PNC has other activities or financial
interests that involve credit risk and market risk (including
interest rate risk) that are not fully reflected on the balance
sheet. The most significant of these activities include the
following:

o PNC sponsors Market Street Funding Corporation

(“Market Street”), a mult-seller asset-backed

commercial paper conduit -- see discussion that follows




and the Other Commitments table under Liquidity Risk
in the Risk Management section of this Financial
Review.

©  Loan commitments and letters of credit -- see the Other
Commitments table under Liquidity Risk and Credit
Risk in the Risk Management section of this Financial
Review, and Note 9 Loans and Commitments to Extend
Credit.

©  Financial derivatives -- see Financial Derivatives in the
Risk Management section of this Financial Review and
Note 20 Financial Derivatives.

e  Loan securitization and servicing activities — see
Securitizations in the Risk Management section of this
Financial Review and Note 14 Securitizations. See also
the discussion of the Natdonal Bank of Canada servicing

arrangement in Note 30 Subsequent Events.

Except to the extent inherent in customary activities such as
those described above, PNC does not use off-balance-sheet
entities to fund its business operations. The Corporation
does not capitalize any off-balance-sheet entity with PNC
stock and has no commitments to provide financial backing
to any such entity by issuing PNC stock.

The accounting for special purpose entities is currently
under review by the Financial Accounting Standards Board
and the conditions for consolidation or non-consolidation of
such entities could change.

See the Risk Factors section in this Financial Review for
a discussion of key risks associated with these and other off-

balance-sheet activities.

MARKET STREET FUNDING CORPORATION

The most significant portion of commercial loan facilities
provided by PNC Bank is to Market Street, an asset-backed
commetcial papet conduit that is 100% independently owned
and managed. PNC Bank provides credit enhancement,
liquidity facilities and certain administrative services to
Market Street. Market Street had total assets of $5.2 billion
and $4.0 billion at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
The activities of Market Street are limited to the purchase of
undivided interests in pools of receivables from U.S.
corporations (“sellers”) that desire access to the commercial
paper market. Market Street funds the purchases by issuing
commercial paper (“CP”). The CP has been rated A1/P1 by
Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s. Credit enhancement
provided by PNC is in the form of a revolving credit facility
with a five year term expiring December 31, 2004. At
December 31, 2001 and 2000, $166.1 million and

$115.7 million, respectively, was outstanding. Also at
December 31, 2001 and 2000, Market Street had liquidity
facilities totaling $5.8 billion and $4.5 billion, respectively,
provided by PNC Bank. The maximum total amount of such
facilities and the amount of such total provided by PNC
Bank during the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000,
was %7.0 billion and $5.8 billion, and $5.2 billion and $4.5
billion, respectively. PNC Bank received related loan
commitment fees of $7.8 million and $6.5 million for the
years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

PNC Bank serves as Market Street’s program
administrator for which it received related fees of $11.7
million and $10.7 million for the years ended December 31,
2001 and 2000, respectively.

SECURITIZATIONS

From time to time the Corporation has sold loans in
secondary market securitization transactions. The
Corporation uses securitizations to manage various balance
sheet risks. Also, in such securitization transactions, the
Corporation may retain certain interest-only strips and
servicing rights that were created in the sale of the loans. The
Corporation’s liquidity is not dependent on securitizations.

During 2001 and 2000, the Corporation sold loans
totaling $1.5 billion and $865 million, respectively, in
secondary market securitization transactions, resulting in pre-
tax gains of $13 million in each year.

In addition to these transactions, in March 2001 PNC
securitized $3.8 billion of residential mortgage loans by
selling the loans into a trust with PNC retaining 99% or $3.7
billion of the certificates. PNC also securitized $175 million
of commercial mortgage loans by selling the loans into a
trust with PNC retaining 99% or $173 million of the
certificates. In each case, the 1% interest in the trust was
purchased by a publicly-traded entity managed by a
subsidiary of PNC. A substantial portion of the entity’s
purchase price was financed by PNC. The reclassification of
these loans to securities increased the liquidity of the assets
and was consistent with PNC’s on-going balance sheet
restructuring. At the time of the residential mortgage
secufitization, gains of $25.9 million were deferred and are
being recognized when principal payments are received ot
the securities are sold to third parties. At December 31, 2001,
these securities had been reduced to $1.3 billion through
sales and principal payments and the remaining deferred
gains were $7.8 million. No gain was recognized at the time
of the commercial mortgage loan securitization and none of

the securities retained at the time of the securitization

remained on the balance sheet at December 31, 2001.




2000 VERSUS 1999
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT REVIEW

Summary Results

Income from continuing operations for 2000 was $1.214
billion or $4.09 per diluted share compared with $1.202
billion or $3.94 per diluted share, respectively, for 1999.
Return on average common shareholders’ equity was 20.52%
and return on average assets was 1.76% for 2000 compared
with 21.29% and 1.76%, respectvely, for 1999.

Net Interest Income

Taxable-equivalent net interest income of $2.182 billion for
2000 decreased $184 million or 8% compared with 1999. The
net interest margin of 3.64% for 2000 narrowed 22 basis
points from 3.86% in the prior year. These decreases were
primarily due to funding costs related to the ISG acquisition,
changes in balance sheet composition and a higher interest

rate environment in 2000.

Provision For Credit Losses

The provision for credit losses was $136 million for 2000
compared with $163 million for 1999. Net charge-offs were
$135 million or .27% of average loans for 2000 compared
with $161 million or .31%, respectively, for 1999. The
decrease in the provision was primarily due to the sale of the
credit card business in the first quarter of 1999, partally
offset by higher commercial loan net charge-offs in 2000,

Noninterest Income

Noninterest income was $2.891 billion for 2000 and
represented 57% of total revenue compared with $2.450
billion and 51%, respectively, for 1999. The increase was
primarily dtiven by growth in certain fee-based businesses,
the benefit of the ISG acquisition and higher equity
management income.

Asset management fees of $809 million for 2000
increased $128 million or 19% primarily driven by new
business. Assets under management were $253 billion at
December 31, 2000, a 19% increase compared with
December 31, 1999. Fund servicing fees of $654 million for
2000 increased $403 million compared with 1999 primarily
due to the ISG acquisition. Excluding ISG, fund servicing

fees increased 22% mainly due to existing and new client

growth.

Service charges on deposits of $206 million for 2000
were consistent with the prior year. Brokerage fees of $249
million for 2000 increased $30 million or 14% compared
with 1999 reflecting expansion of Hilliard Lyons’ distribution
network. Consumer services revenue of $209 million for
2000 increased 7% compared with the prior year, excluding
credit card fees, primarily due to higher consumer
transaction volume.

Corporate services revenue was $342 million for 2000
compared with $133 million for 1999. The increase in
corporate services revenue was primarily driven by the
comparative impact of valuation adjustments in the prior
year and higher treasury management and commercial
mortgage servicing fees that were partially offset by a lower
level of commercial mortgage-backed securitization gains due
to the impact of weaker capital market conditions.

Equity management income was $133 million for 2000
compared to $100 million in the prior year.

Net securities gains were 320 million for 2000 compared
with $22 million for 1999. The net securities gains in 1999
included a $41 million gain from the sale of Concord EFS,
Inc. stock that was partially offset by a $28 million write-
down of an equity investment.

Sale of subsidiary stock of $64 million in 1999 reflected
the gain from the BlackRock initial public offering,

Other noninterest income was $269 million for 2000
compared with §555 million for 1999. The decrease resulted
primarily from the comparative impact of gains in 1999 from
the sale of the credit card business of $193 million and from
the sale of an equity interest in Electronic Payment Setvices,
Inc. of 897 million.

Noninterest Expense

Noninterest expense was $3.071 billion and the efficiency
ratio was 56.85% for 2000 compared with $2.843 billion and
55.54%, tespectively, for 1999. The increases were primarily
related to the ISG acquisition. Average full-time equivalent
employees totaled approximately 24,100 and 22,700 for 2000
and 1999, respectively. The increase was primarily due to the
ISG acquisition, pardally offset by the impact of efficiency
initiatives in traditional banking businesses and the sale of the

credit card business in 1999.




CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET REVIEW

Loans

Loans were $50.6 billion at December 31, 2000, a $928
million increase from year-end 1999 as increases in
residential mortgage loans and lease financing more than
offset lower consumer, commercial and commercial real

estate loans,

Loans Held For Sale

Loans held for sale were $1.7 billion at December 31, 2000
compared with $3.5 billion at December 31, 1999. The
decrease was primarily due to dispositions of loans

designated for exit.

Securities Available For Sale

The fair value of securities available for sale at December 31,
2000 was $5.9 billion compared with $6.0 billion as of
December 31, 1999. Securitdes represented 8% of total assets
at December 31, 2000 and 9% at December 31, 1999. The
expected weighted-average life of securities available for sale
was 4 years and 5 months at December 31, 2000 and 4 years
and 7 months at year-end 1999.

Funding Sources

Total funding sources were $59.4 billion at December 31,
2000 and $60.0 billion at December 31, 1999. Increases in
demand and money market deposits allowed PNC to reduce
higher-costing funding sources including deposits in foreign

offices, Federal Home Loan Bank borrowings and bank

notes and senijor debt.

Total deposits were $47.7 billion at December 31, 2000
compared to $45.8 billion at December 31, 1999. Increases in
demand and money market deposits, as a result of strategic
marketing initiatives to grow more valuable transaction
accounts, were partially offset by a decrease in deposits in

foreign offices.

Asset Quality

The ratio of nonperforming assets to total loans, loans held
for sale and foreclosed assets was .71% at December 31,
2000 and .61% at December 31, 1999. Nonperforming assets
were $372 million at December 31, 2000 compared with
%325 million at December 31, 1999. The allowance for credit
losses was $675 million and represented 209% of nonaccrual
loans and 1.33% of total loans at December 31, 2000. The
comparable amounts were $674 million, 232% and 1.36%,
respectively, at December 31, 1999,

Capital

Shareholders’ equity totaled $6.7 billion and $5.9 billion at
December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively, and the leverage
ratio was 8.0% and 6.6%, respectively, in the comparison.
Tier I and total risk-based capital ratios were 8.6% and
12.6%, respectively, at December 31, 2000, compared with
7.1% and 11.1%, respectively, at December 31, 1999,

computed on a basis including discontinued operations.




FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains, and other statements made by the
Corporation may contain, forward-looking statements within
the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act
with respect to the outlook or expectations for earnings,
revenues, asset quality, share repurchases, and other future
financial or business performance, strategies and
expectations. Forward-looking statements are typically

identified by words or phrases such as “believe,” “feel,”

2 <« EERT 113

“expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “outlook,” “estimate,”
“forecast,” “position,” “poised,” “target,” “mission,”
“assume,” “achievable,” “potential,” “strategy,” “goal,”
“objective,” “plan,” “aspiration,” “outcome,” “continue,”
“remain,” “maintain,” “seek,” “strive,” “trend” and

variations of such words and similar expressions, or future or
conditional verbs such as “will,” “would,” “should,” “could,”

2 <«

“might,” “can,” “may” or similar expressions.

The Corporation cautions that forward-looking
statements are subject to numerous assumptions, risks and
uncertainties, which change over time. Actual results could
differ materially from those anticipated in forward-looking
statements and future results could differ materially from
historical performance. Forward-looking statements speak
only as of the date they are made, and the Corporation
assumes no duty to update forward-looking statements,

In addition to factors mentioned elsewhete in this report
or previously disclosed in the Corporation’s SEC reports
(accessible on the SEC’s website at wnw.sec.gor), the following
factors, among others, could cause actual results to differ
materially from forward-looking statements or historical
performance:

(1) adjustments to recorded results of the sale of the
residental mortgage banking business after disputes
over certain closing date adjustments have been
resolved;

(2) changes in political, economic or industry conditions,
the interest rate environment or financial and capital
markets, which could result in: a detetioration in credit
quality and increased credit losses; an adverse effect on
the allowance for credit losses; a reduction in demand
for credit or fee-based products and services, net
interest income, value of assets under management and
assets serviced, value of venture capital investments and
of other debt and equity investments, value of loans
held for sale or value of other on-balance-sheet and off-
balance-sheet assets; or changes in the availability and
terms of funding necessary to meet PNC’s liquidity

needs;

(3) relative investment performance of assets under
management;

(4) the introduction, withdrawal, success and timing of
business initiatives and strategies, decisions regarding
further reductions in balance sheet leverage, the timing
and pricing of any sales of loans held for sale, and
PNC’s inability to realize cost savings or revenue
enhancements, implement integration plans and other
consequences of mergers, acquisitions, restructurings
and divestitures;

(5) customer borrowing, repayment, investment and deposit
practices and their acceptance of PNC’s products and
services;

(6) the impact of increased competition;

(7y the means PNC chooses to redeploy available capital,
including the extent and timing of any share repurchases
and investments in PNC businesses;

(8) the inability to manage risks inherent in PNC’s business;

(9) the unfavorable resolution of legal proceedings ot
government inquiries;

(10) the denial of insurance coverage for claims made by
PNG;

(11) an increase in the number of customer or counterparty
delinquencies, bankruptcies or defaults that could result
in, among other things, increased credit and asset quality
risk, a higher loan loss provision and reduced
profitability;

(12) the impact, extent and timing of technological changes,
the adequacy of intellectual property protection and
costs assoclated with obtaining rights in intellectual
property claimed by others;

(13) actions of the Federal Reserve Board, legislative and
regulatory reforms, and regulatory, supervisory ot
enforcement actions of government agencies; and

(14) terrorist activities, including the September 11% terrorist
attacks, which may adversely affect the general
economy, financial and capital markets, specific
industries, and PNC. The Corporation cannot predict
the severity or duration of effects stemming from such

activities or any actions taken in connection with them.

Some of the above factors are described in more detail in
the 2002 Operating Environment and Risk Factors sections
of this Financial Review and factors relating to credit risk,
interest rate risk, iquidity risk, trading activities, financial and
other derivatives and “off-balance-sheet” activities are
discussed in the Risk Management section of this Financial

Review. Other factors are described elsewhere in this report.
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REPORTS ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

THE PNC FINANCIAL SERVICES GROUP, INC.

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. is responsible for
the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of its
published financial statements. The accompanying
consolidated financial statements have been prepated in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States and, as such, include judgments and
estimates of management. The PNC Financial Services
Group, Inc. also prepared the other information included in
the Annual Report and is responsible for its accuracy and
consistency with the consolidated financial statements.

Management is responsible for establishing and
maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting. The internal control system is augmented by
written policies and procedures and by audits performed by
an internal audit staff, which reports to the Audit Committee
of the Board of Directors. The Audit Committee, composed
solely of independent directors, provides oversight to
management’s conduct of the financial reporting process.

There are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any
system of internal control, including the possibility of human
error and circumvention or overriding of controls.
Accordingly, even effective internal control can provide only
teasonable assurance with respect to financial statement
preparation. Further, because of changes in conditions, the
effectiveness of internal control may vary over time.

Management assessed The PNC Financial Services
Group, Inc’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2001. This assessment was based on criteria
for effective internal control over financial reporting
described in “Internal Control-Integrated Framework” issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission and considered the matters that gave
rise to the restatements announced in early 2002. Based on
this assessment, management believes that The PNC
Financial Services Group, Inc. maintained an effective
internal control system over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2001.

Robert L. Haunschild
Chief Financial Officer

James E. Rohr

Chairman, President
and Chief Executive Officer

REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP,
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Shareholders and Board of Directors

"The PNC Financial Services Group, Ine.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheet of The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the
related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2001. These financial statements
are the responsibility of The PNC Financial Services Group,
Inc.’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whethet the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.
and subsidiaries 2t December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the
consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2001, in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States.

M ¢ MLLP

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania
March 1, 2002




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

THE PNC FINANCIAL SERVICES GROUP, INC.

Year ended December 31

In millions, except per share data 2001 — _ 2000 1999%
INTEREST INCOME
Loans and fees on loans $3,279 $4,045 $4,064
Sécurities 625 386 362
Loans held for sale 119 204 104
Other 114 97 53

Total interest income 4,137 4732 4,583
INTEREST EXPENSE
Deposits 1,229 1,653 1,369
Borrowed funds 646 915 870

Total interest expense 1,875 2,568 2,239

Net interest income 2,262 2,164 2,344
Provision for credit losses 903 136 163

Net interest income less provision for credit losses 1,359 2,028 2,181
NONINTEREST INCOME
Asset management 848 809 681
Fund servicing 724 654 251
Service charges on deposits 218 206 207
Brokerage 206 249 219
Consumer services 229 209 218
Corporate services 60 342 133
Equity management 179) 133 100
Net securities gains 131 20 22
Sale of subsidiary stock 64
Other 306 269 555

Total noninterest income 2,543 2,891 2,450
NONINTEREST EXPENSE
Staff expense 1,667 1,616 1,380
Net occupancy 220 203 224
Equipment 255 224 232
Amortization 105 110 92
Marketing 57 70 70
Distributions on capital securities 63 67 65
Minority interest in income of consolidated entites 33 27 15
Other 938 754 765

Total noninterest expense 3,338 3,071 2,843
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 564 1,848 1,788
Income taxes 187 634 586
Income from continuing operations 377 1,214 1,202
Income from discontinued operations

(less applicable income taxes of $0, $44 and $41) 5 65 62
Net income before cumulative effect of accounting change 382 1,279 1,264
Cumulative effect of accounting change (less applicable income

tax benefit of $2) )

Net income e $377 315279 $1.264
EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE
From continuing operations
Basic $1.27 $4.12 $3.98
Diluted 1.26 4.09 3.94
From net income
Basic 1.27 4.35 4.19
Diluted 1.26 4.31 4.15
CASH DIVIDENDS DECLARED PER COMMON SHARE 1.92 1.83 1.68
AVERAGE COMMON SHARES QUTSTANDING
Basic 287 290 297
Diluted E— w0 25 300

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

THE PNC FINANCIAL SERVICES GROUP, INC.

December 31
LIn rpﬂlions, except par yalue 2001 _ 2000
ASSETS
Cash and due from banks $4,327 $3,662
Short-term investments 1,335 1,151
Loans held for sale 4,189 1,655
Securities 13,908 5,902
Loans, net of unearned income of $1,164 and $999 37,974 50,601
Allowance for credit losses {630) (675)
Net loans 37,344 49,926
Goodwill and other amortizable assets 2,373 2,468
Investment in discontinued operations 356
Other 6,092 4724
Total assets $69,568 $69,844
LIABILITIES
Deposits
Noninterest-bearing $10,124 $8,490
Interest-bearing 37,180 39,174
Total deposits 47,304 47 664
Borrowed funds
Federal funds purchased 167 1,445
Repurchase agreements 954 607
Bank notes and senior debt 6,362 6,110
Federal Home Loan Bank borrowings 2,047 500
Subordinated debt 2,298 2,407
Other borrowed funds 262 649
Total borrowed funds 12,090 11,718
Other 3,333 2,849
Total liabilities 62,727 62,231
Minority interest 170 109
Mandatorily redeemable capital securides of subsidiaty trusts 848 848
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Preferred stock 1 7
Common stock - $5 par value
Authorized 800 and 450 shares
Issued 353 shares 1,764 1,764
Capital surplus 1,077 1,303
Retained earnings 6,549 6,736
Deferred benefit expense (16) (25)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) from continuing operations 5 (43)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss from discontinued operations (453)
Common stock held in treasury at cost: 70 and 63 shares (3,557) (3,041)
Total shareholders’ equity 5,823 6,656
Total liabilities, minority interest, capital securities and shareholders’ equity $69,568

e

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY

THE PNC FINANCIAL SERVICES GROUP, INC.

In millions

Preferred
Stock

Common

Stock

$1,250

Retained
Earnings

Deferred
Benefir
Expense

Accumulated Other

from

Comprehensive Income (Loss
P

Continuing  Discontinued
Operatons

Operations

Treasury
Stock

Total

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Balance at January 1, 1999 $7 81,764 $5,262 $(36) 524 $19)  $(2,161) $6,043
Net income 1,264 1,264
Net unrealized securities losses (104) (116) (220)
Minimum pension liability adjustment 5) (5)
Other 1 1
Comprehensive income 1,040
Cash dividends declared

Common (501) (501)

Preferred (19) (19
Treasury stock activity

(11.0 net shares purchased) 13 (662) (649)
Tax benefit of ESOP and stock

option plans 13 13
Deferred benefit expense 19 19
Balance at December 31, 1999 7 1,764 1,276 6,006 (17 (132) (135) (2,823) 5,946
Net income 1,279 1,279
Net untealized securities gains 86 90 176
Minimum pension liability adjustment 1 1
Other 2 2
Comprehensive income 1,458
Cash dividends declared

Common (530) (530

Preferred (19) 19
Treasury stock activity

(3.1 net shares purchased) 6 (218) (212)
Tax benefit of ESOP and stock

option plans 21 21
Deferred benefit expense (8) (8
Balance at December 31, 2000 7 1,764 1,303 6,736 (25) (43) (45) (3,041) 6,656
Net income 377 377
Net unrealized securities (losses)

gains oD 45 (6)
Net unrealized gains on cash flow

hedge derivatives 98 98
Minimum pension lability adjustment ) 1)
Other 2 2
Comprehensive income 470
Cash dividends declared

Common (552) (552

Preferred (12) (12)
Treasury stock activity

(6.4 net shares purchased) 26 (516 490)
Tax benefit of ESOP and stock

option plans 43 43
Series F preferred stock tender

offer/redemption (6.0 shares

purchased/redeemed) (6) (295) (301)
Deferred benefit expense 9 9
Balance at December 31, 2001 $1 81,764 $1,077 $6,549  $(16) $(3,557 $5 83




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

THE PNC FINANCIAL SERVICES GROUP, INC.

Year ended December 31

LIn millions 2001 2000
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $377 $1,279 $1,264
Income from discontinued operations (5) (65) (62)
Cumulative effect of accounting change 5
Income from continuing operations 377 1,214 1,202
Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing operations
to net cash provided by operating activities
Provision for credit losses 903 136 163
Depreciation, amortization and accretion 260 340 305
Deferred income taxes (48) 376 97
Securities transactions (128) 29 (25)
Gain on sale of businesses (317)
Valuation adjustments 265 27 195
Change in
Loans held for sale 92) 1,652 175
Other (271) (668) (23)
Net cash provided by operating activities 1,266 3,048 1,772
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net change in loans 4,099 (2,215) 348
Repayment of securities 2,445 920 1,303
Sales
] Securities 22,144 8,427 7,553
; Loans 1,155 551 648
Foreclosed assets 15 24 36
Purchases .
Securities (28,598) (8,437) (9,576)
Loans (758) (363)
Net cash received (paid) for divestitures/acquisitions 485 (30) 1,854
Other (131 (301) (139
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities 856 (1,061) 1,664
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net change in
Noninterest-bearing deposits 1,634 329 (1,289)
Interest-bearing deposits (1,994) 1,533 1,328
Federal funds purchased (1,260) 164 §91
Repurchase agreements 347 205 (45)
Sale/issuance
Bank notes and senior debt 2,157 2,849 2,416
Federal Home Loan Bank borrowings 3,123 1,781 1,696
Subordinated debt 100 650
Other borrowed funds 35,346 37,060 32,997
Common stock 184 189 141
Repayment/maturity
Bank notes and senior debt (1,915) (3,715 (5,827)
Federal Home Loan Bank borrowings 1,576) (3,539 (1,802)
Subordinated debt (200) (20) (104)
Other borrowed funds (35,752) (37,367) (32,614
Acquisition of treasury stock (681) (428) (803)
Seties F preferred stock tender offer/redemption (301)
Cash dividends paid (569) (546) (520
Net cash used by financing activities (1,457) (1,405) (2,885)
INCREASE IN CASH AND DUE FROM BANKS 665 582 551
Cash and due from banks at beginning of year 3,662 3,080 2,529
Cash and due from banks at end of year $4,327 83,662 $3,080
CASH PAID FOR
Interest $1,813 82,598 82,237
Income taxes 215 289 344
NON-CASH ITEMS
Transfer of mortgage loans to securities 4,341 710
Transfer to (from) loans from (to) loans held for sale (2,707) 143 (3,378)
11

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.




NOTES To CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

THE PNC FINANCIAL SERVICES GROUP, INC.

BUSINESS

The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. (“Corporation” ot
“PNC”) is one of the largest diversified financial services
companies in the United States, operating businesses
engaged in regional community banking, corporate banking,
real estate finance, asset-based lending, wealth management,
asset management and global fund services. The Corporation
provides certain products and services nationally and others
in PNC’s primary geographic markets in Pennsylvania, New
Jersey, Delaware, Ohio and Kentucky. The Corporation also
provides certain banking, asset management and global fund
services internationally. PNC is subject to intense
competition from other financial services companies and is
subject to regulation by various domestic and international

authorities.

NOTE 1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASis OF FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts
of PNC, its subsidiaries, most of which are wholly owned,
and other consolidated entities. Such statements have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States. All significant intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminated. Certain
prior-period amounts have been reclassified to conform with
the current period presentation. These reclassifications did
not impact the Corporation’s financial condition or results of
operations.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
management is required to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts teported. Actual results will differ
from such estimates and the differences may be material to
the consoclidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements, notes to
consolidated financial statements and statistical information
reflect the residential mortgage banking business, which was
sold on January 31, 2001, in discontinued operations, unless
otherwise noted. Certain quarterly amounts for 2001
contained in this report have been restated to reflect
accounting adjustments that reduced income from
discontinued operations for the year and to reflect the
consolidadon of the subsidiaries of a third party financial

institution,.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
In business combinations accounted for using the purchase
method of accounting, the net assets of the companies

acquired are recorded at their estimated fair value at the date
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of acquisition and include the results of operations of the
acquired business from the date of acquisidon.

In business combinations accounted for as poolings-of-
interests, the financial position and results of operations and
cash flows of the respective companies are restated as
though the companies were combined for all historical
periods. Effective July 1, 2001, the Corporation adopted
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No.
141, “Business Combinations,” which prohibits the use of
the pooling-of-interests method of accounting for business
combinations. On January 1, 2002, the Corporation adopted
SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”
Under this standard, goodwill is no longer amortized but
rather must be tested for impairment periodically. Refer to
“Recent Accounting Pronouncements” herein for further

discussion of the impact of these new standards.

LOANS HELD FOR SALE

Loans are designated as held for sale when the Corporation -
has a positive intent to sell them. Loans are transferred at the

lower of cost or market to the loans held for sale category.

At the dme of transfer, related write-downs on the loans are

recorded as charge-offs. A new cost basis of the loan is

established and any subsequent adjustment as a result of

lower of cost or market analysis is recognized as a valuation

allowance with changes included in noninterest income.

The lower of cost or market analysis on pools of
homogeneous loans is applied on a net aggregate basis. Such
analysis on non-homogeneous loans is applied on an
individual loan basis.

Interest income with respect to loans held for sale is

accrued on the principal amount outstanding.

SECURITIES
Securities are classified as investments and carried at
amortized cost if management has the positve intent and
ability to hold the securities to maturity. Securities purchased
with the intention of recognizing short-term profits are
placed in the trading account, carried at market value and
classified as short-term investments. Gains and losses on
trading securities are included in noninterest income.
Securities not classified as investments or trading are
designated as securities available for sale and carried at fair
value with unrealized gains and losses, net of income taxes,
reflected in accumulated other comprehensive income or
loss.

Interest and dividends on securities, including

amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts using




the effective-interest method, are included in interest
income. Gains and losses realized on the sale of securities
available for sale are computed on a specific security basis

and included in noninterest income.

LOANS AND LEASES

Loans are stated at the principal amounts outstanding, net of
unearned income. Interest income with respect to loans
other than nonaccrual loans is accrued on the principal
amount outstanding. Significant loan fees are deferred and
accreted to interest income over the respective lives of the
loans.

The Corporation also provides financing for various
types of equipment, aircraft, energy and power systems and
rolling stock through a variety of lease arrangements. Direct
financing leases are carried at the aggregate of lease payments
plus estimated residual value of the leased property, less
unearned income. Lease financing income is recognized over
the term of the lease using methods that approximate the
level yield method. Gains or losses on the sale of leased
assets or valuation adjustments on lease residuals are

included in noninterest income.

LOAN SECURITIZATIONS AND RETAINED INTERESTS

The Corporation sells mortgage and other loans through
secondary market securitizations. In certain cases, the
Corporation will retain a portion of the securities issued,
interest-only strips, one or motre subordinated tranches,
servicing rights and/or cash reserve accounts, all of which
are associated with the securitized asset. Any gain or loss
recognized on the sale of the loans depends on the allocation
between the loans sold and the retained interests, based on
their relative fair market values at the date of transfer. The
Corporation generally estimates fair value based on the
present value of future expected cash flows using
assumptions as to discount rates, prepayment speeds, ctedit
losses and servicing costs, if applicable.

Servicing rights are maintained at the lower of carrying
value or fair market value and are amortized in proportion to
estimated net servicing income. Retained interests in loan
securitizations are carried at fair market value and included in
other assets. For retained interests classified as securities
available for sale, adjustments to fair market value are
recognized through accumulated other comprehensive
income of loss. Fair market value adjustments for all other
retained interests are recotded in noninterest income. For
servicing rights retained, the Corporation generally receives a
fee for servicing the securitized loans.

For purposes of measuring impairment, the Corporation

stratifies the pools of assets underlying servicing rights by

product type and geographic region of the borrower. A
valuation allowance is recorded when the carrying amount of

specific asset strata exceeds its fair value.

NONPERFORMING ASSETS

Nonperforming assets include nonaccrual loans, troubled
debt restructurings, nonaccrual loans held for sale and
foreclosed assets. Generally, loans other than consumer are
classified as nonaccrual when it is determined that the
collection of interest or principal is doubtful or when a
default of interest or principal has existed for 90 days or
more, unless the loans are well secured and in the process of
collection. When interest accrual is discontinued, accrued but
uncollected interest credited to income in the current year is
reversed and unpaid interest accrued in the prior year, if any,
is charged against the allowance for credit losses. Consumer
loans are generally charged off when payments are past due
120 days.

A loan is categorized as a troubled debt restructuring in
the year of restructuring if a significant concession is granted
to the borrower due to deterioration in the financial
condition of the borrower.

Nonperforming loans are generally not returned to
performing status until the obligation is brought current and
has performed in accordance with the contractual terms for a
reasonable period of time and collection of the contractual
principal and interest is no longer doubtful.

Impaired loans consist of nonaccrual commercial and
commercial real estate loans and troubled debt
restructurings. Interest collected on these loans is recognized
on the cash basis or cost recovety method.

Loans held for sale, which are carried at lower of cost or
market value, are considered nonaccrual when it is
determined that the collection of interest or principal is
doubtful or when a default of interest or principal has existed
for 90 days or more, unless the loans ate well secured and in
the process of collection. Nonaccrual loans held for sale are
reported as other nonperforming assets.

Foreclosed assets are comprised of property acquired
through a foreclosure proceeding or acceptance of a deed-in-
lieu of foreclosure. These assets are recorded on the date
acquired at the lower of the related loan balance or market
value of the collateral less estimated disposition costs, Market
values are estimated primarily based on appraisals.
Subsequently, foreclosed assets are valued at the lower of the
amount recorded at acquisition date or the current market
value less estimated disposition costs. Gains or losses
realized from disposition of such property are reflected in

noninterest expense.




ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES

The allowance for credit losses is established through
provisions charged against income. Loans deemed to be
uncollectible are charged against the allowance and
recoveties of previously charged-off loans are credited to the
allowance.

The allowance is maintained at a level believed by
management to be sufficient to absorb estimated probable
credit losses. Management’s determination of the adequacy
of the allowance is based on periodic evaluations of the
credit portfolio and other relevant factors. This evaluation is
inherently subjective as it requires material estimates,
including, among others, expected default probabilities, loss
given default, expected commitment usage, the amounts and
timing of expected future cash flows on impaired loans,
estimated losses on consumer loans and residential
mortgages, and general amounts for historical loss
experience, economic conditions, uncertainties in estimating
losses and inherent risks in the various credit portfolios, all
of which may be suscepdble to significant change.

In determining the adequacy of the allowance for credit
losses, the Corporation makes specific allocations to
impaired loans and to pools of watchlist and nonwatchlist
loans for various credit risk factors. Allocations to loan pools
are developed by business segment and risk rating and are
based on historical loss trends and management’s judgment
concerning those trends and other relevant factors. These
factors may include, among others, actual versus estimated
losses, regional and national economic conditions, business
segment and portfolio concentrations, industry competition
and consolidation, and the impact of government
regulations. Consumer and residential mortgage loan
allocations are made at a total portfolio level based on
historical loss experience adjusted for portfolio activity and
economic conditions.

While PNC’s pool reserve methodologies strive to reflect
all risk factors, there continues to be a certain element of risk
associated with, but not limited to, potential estimation ot
judgmental errors. Unallocated reserves are designed to
provide coverage for such risks. While allocations are made
to specific loans and pools of loans, the total reserve is

available for all credit losses.

EQuITY MANAGEMENT ASSETS

Equity management assets are included in other assets and
are comprised of limited partnerships and direct investments.
Investments in limited partnerships are valued based on the
financial statements received from the general partner, Direct
investments are carried at estimated fair value. Changes in

the value of these assets are recognized in noninterest

income.

GOODWILL AND OTHER AMORTIZABLE ASSETS

Goodwill is amortized to expense on a straight-line basis
over periods ranging from 15 to 25 years. Other amortizable
assets are amortized to expense using accelerated or straight-
line methods over their respective estimated useful lives. On
a periodic basis, management reviews goodwill and other
amottizable assets and evaluates events or changes in
circumstances that may indicate impairment in the carrying
amount of such assets. If the sum of the expected
undiscounted future cash flows, excluding interest charges, is
less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment
loss is recognized. Impairment, if any, is measured on a
discounted future cash flow basis.

Effective January 1, 2002, the Corporation adopted SFAS
No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” which
changes the method of recognition and accounting for
goodwill and certain other intangible assets, and SFAS No.
144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
lived Assets,” which addresses implementation issues
regarding the impairment of long-lived assets. Refer to
“Recent Accounting Pronouncements” herein for further

discussion of the impact of these new standards.

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION

For financial reporting purposes, premises and equipment
are depreciated principally using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives ranging from one to 39
years. Accelerated methods are used for federal income tax
purposes. Leasehold improvements are amortized over their
estimated useful lives or the respective lease terms,

whichever is shorter.

REPURCHASE AND RESALE AGREEMENTS

Repurchase and resale agreements are treated as
collateralized financing transactions and are carried at the
amounts at which the secutities will be subsequently
reacquired or resold, including accrued interest, as specified
in the respective agreements. The Corporation’s policy is to
take possession of securities purchased under agreements to
resell. The market value of securities to be repurchased and
tesold is monitored, and additional collateral may be
obtained where considered appropriate to protect against

credit exposure.

TREASURY STOCK

The Corporation records common stock purchased for
treasury at cost. At the date of subsequent reissue, the
treasury stock account is reduced by the cost of such stock

on the first-in, first-out basis.




DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES
The Corporation uses a variety of financial derivatives as part
of the overall asset and liability risk management process to
manage interest rate, market and credit risk inherent in the
Corporation’s business activities. Substantially all such
instruments are used to manage risk related to changes in
interest rates. Interest rate and total rate of return swaps,
purchased interest rate caps and floors and futures contracts
are the primary instruments used by the Corporation for
interest rate risk management.

Interest rate swaps are agreements with a counterparty to
exchange periodic fixed and floating interest payments
calculated on a notional amount. The floating rate is based
on a money market index, primarily short-term LIBOR.
Total rate of return swaps are agreements with a
counterparty to exchange an interest rate payment for the
total rate of return on a specified reference index calculated
on a notional amount. Purchased interest rate caps and floors
are agreements where, for a fee, the counterparty agrees to
pay the Corporation the amount, if any, by which a specified
market interest rate exceeds or is less than a defined rate
applied to a notional amount, respectively. Interest rate
futures contracts are exchange-traded agreements to make or
take delivery of a financial instrument at an agreed upon
ptice and are settled in cash daily.

Financial derivatives involve, to varying degrees, interest
rate, market and credit risk. The Corporation manages these
risks as part of its asset and liability management process and
through credit policies and procedures. The Corporation
seeks to minimize the credit risk by entering into transactions
with only a select number of high-quality institutions,
establishing credit limits, and generally requiring bilateral
netting and collateral agreements.

As required, effective January 1, 2001, the Corporation
implemented SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended by SFAS
No. 137 and No. 138. The statement requires the
Corporation to recognize all derivative instruments at fair
value as either assets or liabilities. Financial derivatives are
reported at fair value in other assets or other liabilities. The
accounting for changes in the fair value of a detivative
instrument depends on whether it has been designated and
qualifies as part of a hedging relationship. For derivatives not
designated as hedges, the gain or loss is recognized in cutrent
earnings.

For those derivative instruments that are designated and
qualify as hedging instruments, the Corporation must
designate the hedging instrument, based on the exposute
being hedged, as either a fair value hedge, a cash flow hedge

or a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation. The

Cotporation has no derivatives that hedge the net investment
in a foreign operation.

For derivatives that are designated as fair value hedges
(i.e., hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of an
asset or a liability attributable to a pardcular risk), the gain or
loss on derivatives as well as the loss or gain on the hedged
items are recognized in current earnings. An adjustment to
the hedged item for the change in its fair value pertaining to
the hedged risk is included in its carrying value. For
derivatives designated as cash flow hedges (i.e., hedging the
exposure to variability in expected future cash flows), the
effective portions of the gain or loss on derivatives are
reported as a component of accumulated other
comprehensive income and recognized in earnings in the
same period or periods during which the hedged transaction
affects earnings. Any remaining gain or loss on these

derivatives is recognized in current earnings.

Fair Value Hedging Strategies

The Corporation enters into interest rate and total rate of
retutn swaps, caps, floors and interest rate futures detivative
contracts to hedge designated commercial mortgage loans
held for sale, securities available for sale, commercial loans,
bank notes, senior debt and subordinated debt for changes in
fair value primarily due to changes in interest rates.
Adjustments related to the ineffective portion of fair value
hedging instruments are tecorded in interest income, interest
expense or noninterest income depending on the hedged

item.

Cash Flow Hedging Strategy

The Corporation enters into interest rate swap contracts to
modify the interest rate characteristics of designated
commercial loans from variable to fixed in order to reduce
the impact of interest rate changes on future interest income.
The fair value of these derivatives is reported in other assets
or other liabilities and offset in accumulated other
comprehensive income for the effective pordon of the
derivatives. Amounts reclassed into earnings, when the
hedged transaction culminates, are included in interest
income. Ineffectiveness of the strategy, as defined under
SFAS No. 133, if any, is reported in interest income.

Customer And Other Derivatives

To accommodate customer needs, PNC also enters into
financial derivative transactions primarily consisting of
interest rate swaps, caps, floors and foreign exchange
contracts. Market risk exposure from customer positons ate
managed through transactions with other dealers. The credit

risk associated with derivatives executed with customers is




essentially the same as that involved in extending loans and is
subject to normal credit policies. Collateral may be obtained
based on management’s assessment of the customer.
Additionally, the Corporation enters into other derivative
transactions for risk management purposes that are not
designated as accounting hedges. The positions of customer
and other derivatives are recorded at fair value and changes

in value are included in noninterest income.

Derivative Instruments And Hedging Activities — Pre-SFAS
No. 133

Prior to January 1, 2001, interest rate swaps, caps and floors
that modified the interest rate characteristics (such as from
fixed to variable, variable to fixed, or one variable index to
another) of designated interest-bearing assets or liabilities
were accounted for under the accrual method. The net
amount payable or receivable from the derivative contract
was accrued as an adjustment to interest income ot interest
expense of the designated instrument. Premiums on
contracts were deferred and amortized over the life of the
agreement as an adjustment to interest income ot interest
expense of the designated instruments. Unamortized
premiums were included in other assets.

Changes in the fair value of financial derivatives
accounted for under the accrual method were not reflected
in results of operations. Realized gains and losses, except
losses on terminated interest rate caps and floors, were
deferred as an adjustment to the catrying amount of the
designated instruments and amortized over the shorter of the
remaining original life of the agreements or the designated
instruments. Losses on terminated interest rate caps and
floors were recognized immediately in results of operations.
If the designated instruments were disposed of, the fair value
of the associated derivative contracts and any unamortized
deferred gains or losses were included in the determination
of gain or loss on the disposition of such instruments.
Contracts not qualifying for accrual accounting were marked
to market with gains or losses included in noninterest
income.

Credit default swaps were entered into to mitigate credit
risk and lower the required regulatory capital associated with
commercial lending activities. If the credit default swaps
qualified for hedge accounting treatment, the premium paid
to enter into the credit default swaps was recorded in other
assets and deferred and amortized to noninterest expense
over the life of the agreement. Changes in the fair value of
credit default swaps qualifying for hedge accounting

treatment were not reflected in the Corporation’s financial

position and had no impact on results of operations.

If the credit default swap did not qualify for hedge
accounting treatment or if the Corporation was the seller of
credit protection, the credit default swap was marked to
market with gains or losses included in noninterest income.,

Due to the particular structure of the Corporation’s
credit default swaps discussed in the preceding paragraphs,
these instruments are not considered financial derivatives
under the provisions of SFAS No. 133. Commencing
January 1, 2001, the premiums paid to enter credit default
swaps not considered to be derivatives are recorded in other
assets and amortized to noninterest expense over the life of

the agreement.

ASSET MANAGEMENT AND FUND SERVICING FEES

Asset management and fund servicing fees are recognized
primarily as the services are performed. Asset management
fees are primarily based on a percentage of the fair value of
the assets under management and performance fees based on
a percentage of the returns on such assets. Fund servicing
fees are primarily based on a percentage of the fair value of
the assets, and the number of shareholder accounts,

administered by the Corporation.

INCOME TAXES

Income taxes are accounted for under the liability method.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are detetmined based on
differences between financial reporting and tax bases of
assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax
rates and laws that are expected to be in effect when the

differences are expected to reverse.

EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

Basic earnings per common share is calculated by dividing
net income adjusted for preferred stock dividends declared
by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock
outstanding,.

Diluted earnings per common share is based on net
income adjusted for dividends declared on nonconvertible
preferred stock. The weighted-average number of shares of
common stock outstanding is increased by the assumed
conversion of outstanding convertible preferred stock and
debentures from the beginning of the year or date of
issuance, if later, and the number of shares of common stock
that would be issued assuming the exercise of stock options
and the issuance of incentive shares. Such adjustments to net
income and the weighted-average number of shares of
common stock outstanding are made only when such
adjustments are expected to dilute earnings per common

share.




STOCK OPTIONS
Stock options are granted at exercise prices not less than the
fair market value of common stock on the date of grant. No

compensation expense is recognized on such stock optons.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

As stated previously, the Corporation adopted SFAS No. 133
effective January 1, 2001. As a result, the Corporation
recognized an after-tax loss from the cumulative effect of a
change in accounting principle of §5 million, which is
reported in the consolidated statement of income for the
year ended December 31, 2001, and an after-tax accumulated
other comprehensive loss of §4 million. Refer to “Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities” herein and to Note 20
Financial Derivatives for addidonal detail on the accounting
for derivative instruments held by the Corporation.

SFAS No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing
of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities,” was
issued in September 2000 and replaced SFAS No. 125.
Although SFAS No. 140 has changed many of the rules
regarding securitizations, it continues to require an entity to
recognize the financial and servicing assets it controls and
the liabilities it has incurred and to derecognize financial
assets when control has been surtendered in accordance with
the criteria provided in the standard. As required, the
Cotporation applied the new rules prospectively to
transactions consummated beginning in the second quarter
of 2001. SFAS No. 140 requires certain disclosures
pertaining to securitization transactions effective for fiscal
years ending after December 15, 2000. These disclosures are
included in Note 14 Securitizations.

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB™) issued SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations.”
SFAS No. 141 requites the purchase method of accounting be
used for all business combinations initiated or completed after
June 30, 2001 and eliminates the pooling-of-interests method
of accounting. The statement also addresses disclosure
requirements for business combinations and initial recognition
and measurement ctiteria for goodwill and other intangible
assets as a result of purchase business combinations.

While SFAS No. 141 wilt affect how future business
combinations, if undertaken, are accounted for and disclosed in
the financial statements, the issuance of the new standard had

no effect on the Corporation’s results of operations, financial

position, or liquidity during 2001.

Also in July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” which changes the
accounting from amortizing goodwill to an impairment-only
approach. The amortizadon of goodwill, including goodwill
recognized relating to past business combinations, will cease
upon adoption of the new standard. Impairment testing for
goodwill at a reporting unit level will be required on at least an
annual basis. The new standard also addresses other accounting
matters, disclosure requirements and financial statement
presentation issues relating to goodwill and other intangible
assets.

The Corporation adopted SFAS No. 142 effective January
1, 2002. Assuming no impairment adjustments are necessary,
no future business combinatons and no other changes to
goodwill, the Corporation expects net income to increase by
approximately $93 million in 2002 resulting from the cessation
of goodwill amortization. The Corporation currently does not
have any other indefinite-lived assets on its balance sheet, nor
does it antcipate any material reclassifications or adjustments to
the useful lives of finite-lived intangible assets as a result of
adopting the new standard.

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143,
“Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,” which
requires that the fair value of a liability be recognized when
incurred for the retirement of a long-lived asset and the value
of the related asset be increased by that amount. The
statement also requires that the liability be maintained at its
present value in subsequent periods and oudines certain
disclosures for such obligations. The adoption of this
statement, which is effective January 1, 2003, is not expected
to have a material impact on the Corporation’s consolidated
financial statements.

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144,
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets,” which replaces SFAS No. 121. This statement
primarily defines one accounting model for long-lived assets
to be disposed of by sale, including discontinued operatons,
and addresses implementation issues regarding the
impairment of long-lived assets. PNC adopted this standard
effective January 1, 2002. The standard is not expected to
have a material impact on the Corporation’s consolidated

financial statements.




NOTE 2 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In the first quarter of 2001, PNC closed the sale of its
residential mortgage banking business. Certain closing date
adjustments are currently in dispute between PNC and the
buyer, Washington Mutual Bank, FA. The uldmate financial
impact of the sale will not be determined until the disputed
matters are finally resolved. See Note 24 Legal Proceedings.
The income and net assets of the residential mortgage banking
business, which are presented on one line in the income
statement and balance sheet, respectively, are as follows:

Income From Discontinued Operations
Year ended December 31 - in millions

Income from operations, after tax $15 $65 $62
Net loss on sale of business, after tax (a) (10)
Total income from discontinued
operations $5 365

(a) Includes recognition of $35 million of previously unrealized securities losses in
accumulated other comprehensive income.

Investment In Discontinued Operations

December 31 - in millions

Loans held for sale $3,003
Securities available for sale 3,016
Loans, net of unearned income 739
Goodwill and other amortizable assets 1,925
All other assets 1,168

Total assets 9,851
Deposits 1,150
Borrowed funds 7,601
Other liabilities 744

Total liabilities 9,495
L ASSELS e 5000

The notional and fair value of financial derivatives used for
residential mortgage banking risk management were $15.2
billion aqd $124 million, respectively, at December 31, 2000.

NOTE 3 RESTATEMENTS

In connection with the repositioning of its institutional
lending and venture capital businesses, PNC completed three
transactions during 2001, one each in June, September, and
November. In each of these transactions, assets were sold or
transferred to a subsidiary of a third party financial
institution and PNC received preferred interests in the
subsidiaries.

The transactions in the aggregate involved the sale of
loan assets of 3592 million and venture capital assets of $170
million. Of the loan assets sold, $132 million were classified
as nonperforming assets at the date of sale. Loan assets sold
included loans previously held for sale and other loans that
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were reclassified from loans to loans held for sale and
marked to the lower of cost ot market ptior to the sale. This
resulted in chatge-offs at the date transferred of $24 million
on loans and valuation adjustments of $4 million for those
loans that previously had been classified as held for sale.
Including previous charge-offs and valuation adjustments,
loans transferred had been charged down by approximately
$108 million prior to sale. In addition to the loan and venture
capital assets, PNC also transferred cash amounting to $403
million. In return, PNC received one hundred percent of the
Class A convertible preferred shares in each subsidiary. The
Class A convertible preferred shares owned by PNC have no
voting rights. PNC, as holder of the Class A convertible
preferred shares, may convert such preferred shares to Class
A common shares and cause the liquidation of the
subsidiary. A noncumulative annual dividend may be paid on
the preferred stock.

The third party financial insttution formed each of the
entities, contributed three percent equity in the form of cash
and received one hundred percent of the Class B preferred
shares and one hundred petcent of the Class B common
shates of each entty. The proceeds received by the
applicable entity from the issuance of the Class A preferred
and all of the Class B shares were used by each entity to fund
certain operating expenses, future commitments under the
loan and venture capital agreements, investment in a
managed asset account and to purchase U. S. Treasury zero
coupon securities. The third party financial institution is the
managing member of each of the entities and holds one
hundred percent of the voting power. All management and
operating decisions regarding the assets are at the discretion
of the managing member. The managing member is paid an
annual fee for its services. PNC is the servicer of the loans
and venture capital assets and is paid a servicing fee.

At the time of the transactions, the loans and venture
capital investments were removed from PNC’s balance sheet
and the preferred interests in the entities were recorded as
securities available for sale in conformity with accounting
guidance received from PNC’s independent auditors. In
January 2002, the Federal Reserve Board staff advised PNC
that under generally accepted accounting principles the
subsidiaries of the third party financial institution should be
consolidated into the financial statements of PNC in
preparing bank holding company reports. After considering
all the circumstances, PNC restated its consolidated financial
statements for the second and third quarters of 2001 to
conform financial reporting with regulatory reporting
requirements.




The amounts contained in this report also include the
restatement of the results for the first quarter of 2001 to
reflect the correction of an error related to the accounting
for the sale of the residential mortgage banking business.
This restatement reduced income from discontinued
operations and net income for 2001 by 335 million.

NOTE 4 FOURTH QUARTER ACTIONS

In the fourth quarter of 2001, PNC took several actions to
accelerate the strategic repositioning of its lending businesses
that began in 1998. The Corporation decided to exit
approximately $7.9 billion of credit exposure including $3.1
billion of loan outstandings in the institutional lending
portfolios. Of these amounts, approximately $5.2 billion of
credit exposure and $2.9 billion of loans, respectively, have
been transferred to loans held for sale. The remaining
amounts have been designated for exit and are expected to
run off over the next several years. In connection with the
transfer to held for sale, $653 million of charge-offs and
valuation adjustments were recognized in the fourth quarter.
Additionally, $90 million in charge-offs were taken against
the allowance for credit losses specifically allocated to these
loans.

PNC also made the decision to discontinue its vehicle
leasing business due to continued depressed market
conditions and the increased difficulty and cost of obtaining
residual value insurance protection. The vehicle leasing
business had $1.9 billion in assets at December 31, 2001 that
have been designated for exit and will mature over a period
of approximately five years. Costs incurred in 2001 to exit
this business, including the impairment of goodwill
associated with a prior acquisition and employee severance
costs, and additions to reserves related to insured residual
value exposures totaled $135 million and were charged to
noninterest expense.

The Corporation also recotded charges of $65 million in
the fourth quarter for certain integration, severance and
other costs related to other strategic initiatives.

NOTE S SALE OF SUBSIDIARY STOCK

PNC recognizes as income the gain from the sale of stock by
its subsidiaties. The gain is the difference between PNC’s
basis in the stock and the proceeds per share received. PNC

provides applicable taxes on the gain.

In October 1999, BlackRock, Inc. (“BlackRock™), a
majority-owned investment management subsidiary of the
Corporation, issued nine million shares of class A common
stock at $14.00 per share in an initial public offering (“IPO”).
Prior to the IPO, PNC and BlackRock’s management owned
approximately 82% and 18%, respectvely, of BlackRock’s
outstanding common stock. Proceeds from the sale were
approximately $115 million and resulted in PNC recording a
pretax gain in the amount of $64 million or $59 million after
tax. As of December 31, 2001, PNC owned approximately
70% of BlackRock.

NOTE 6 CASH FLOWS
For the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents are defined as cash and due from banks.

The following table sets forth information pertaining to
acquisitions and divestitures that affected cash flows:

Cash Flows

Year ended December 31 - in millions

...................................................................................... 2001 2000 1 999

Assets divested (acquired) $7,252 $@4)  $2,062
Liabilities divested (acquired) 6,852 G 208
Cash paid 18 31 1,407
Cash and due from banks received 1 3,261

NOTE 7 TRADING ACTIVITIES
Most of PNC’s trading activities are designed to provide
capital markets services to customers and not to position the
Corporation’s portfolio for gains from market movements.
PNC participates in derivatives and foreign exchange trading
as well as underwriting and “market making” in equity
securities as an accommodation to customers. PNC also
engages in trading activities as part of risk management
strategies.

Net trading income in 2001, 2000 and 1999 included in

noninterest income was as follows:

Details Of Trading Activities
Yeprended Decermber 31 inmilions 2001 2000 1999

Corporate services $5 $7
Other noninterest income

Securities underwriting and

trading 55 42 348
Derivatives trading 61 20 8
Foreign exchange 26 22 17

Net trading income




NOTE 8 SECURITIES

Amortized Unrealized Fair
In millions Cost_ Gains Losses Value
December 31, 2001
SECURITIES AVAILABLE FOR SALE
Debt securities
U.S. Treasuty and government agencies $808 $3 $4) $807
Mortgage-backed 7,302 35 (76) 7,261
Asset-backed 5,166 10 (83) 5,093
State and municipal 62 2 64
Other debt 75 1 (€8} 75
Total debt securites 13,413 51 (164) 13,300
Corporate stocks and other 264 (19) 245
Tortal securities available for sale $13,677 $51 $(183) $13,545
SECURITIES HELD TO MATURITY
Debt securities
U.S. Treasury and government agencies $260 $(3) $257
Asset-backed 8 8
Other debt 95 95
Total debt securities 363 3) 360
Total securities held to maturity $363 $(3) $360
December 31, 2000
SECURITIES AVAILABLE FOR SALE
Debt securities
U.S. Treasury and government agencies 8313 $1 S(1) $313
Mortgage-backed 4,037 13 (48) 4,002
Asset-backed 902 1 (10) 893
State and municipal 94 2 96
Other debt 73 1 1) 73
Total debt securites 5419 18 {(60) 5377
Corporate stocks and other 537 2 14 525
Total securities available for sale $5,956 $20 3(74) $5,902
December 31, 1999
SECURITIES AVAILABLE FOR SALE
Debt securities
U.S. Treasury and government agencies $411 $(11) %400
Mortgage-backed 3,918 $2 (151) 3,769
Asset-backed 1,051 (24) 1,027
State and municipal 134 2 ®) 131
Other debt 40 (1) 39
Total debt securities 5,554 4 (192) 5.366
Corporate stocks and other 590 9 (5) 594
56,144 s saop __ssou0]

The expected weighted-average life of securities available for of Concord EFS, Inc. (“Concord™) stock that was partally

sale was 4 years at December 31, 2001 compared with 4 years offset by a $28 million write-down of an equity investment.
Net securities losses of $3 million in 2001 and net securities
gains of $9 million and $3 million in 2000 and 1999,

respectively, related to commercial mortgage banking

and 5 months at yeat-end 2000 and 4 yeats and 7 months at
year-end 1999.

The securities classified as held to maturity are owned by
the subsidiaries of a third party financial institution described activities were included in corporate services revenue.
in Note 3 Restatements. The expected weighted-average life Information relating to securities sold is set forth in the
of securities held to maturity was 18 years and 11 months at

December 31, 2001. PNC had no securities held to maturity

following table:

Securities Sold
at December 31, 2000. Vear ended
.. . . . . . Gross Gross Net
Net securities gains associated with the disposition of December 31 . .
In millions Proceeds Gains Losses Gains Taxes

securities available for sale were $131 million in 2001, $20

million in 2000 and $22 million in 1999. Reflected in the 2001 $22,144 3144 816 $1§8
1999 net securities gains was a $41 million gain from the sale 2000 8427 37 8 ? 10
1999 - ”‘77“77,5737‘ 769 44 25 9
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The carrying value of securities pledged to secure public and securites accepted as collateral that the Corporation is

trust deposits and repurchase agreements and for other permitted by contract or custom to sell or repledge was $260
putposes was $6.2 billion and $3.8 billion at December 31, million at December 31, 2001, of which $160 million was
2001 and December 31, 2000, respectively. The fair value of repledged to others.

The following table presents the amortized cost, fair value and weighted-average yield of debt securities at December 31,

2001, by remaining contractual maturity.

Contractual Maturity Of Debt Securities

December 31, 2001 Within 1to 5to After 10
Dollars in millions 1Yearw U 5 Years 10 Years o \»’eaﬁrs

SECURITIES AVAILABLE FOR SALE
U.S. Treasury and government agencies $95 $591 $116 $6 $808
Mortgage-backed 29 1 7,262 7,302
Asset-backed 2,309 1,010 1,847 5,166
State and municipal 2 15 38 7 62
Other debt 3 30 27 15 75
Total securities available for sale $100 $2,974 $1,202 $9,137 $13,413
Fair value $100 $2,958 $1,183 $9,059 $13,300
Weighted-average vield 1.93% 3.65% 5.35% 5.80% 5.26%
SECURITIES HELD TO MATURITY
U.S. Treasury and government agencies $260 $260
Asset-backed $8 8
Other debt $66 23 $6 95
Total securides held to maturity $66 $31 $6 $260 $363
Fair value $66 $31 $6 - $257 $360
i Weighted-average yield 2.04% 2.30% _5.88% 5.80% 4.8% !

Based on current interest rates and expected prepayment speeds, the total weighted-average expected maturity of mortgage-
backed securities was 4 years and asset-backed securities was 4 years and 2 months at December 31, 2001. Weighted-average

yields are based on historical cost with effective yields weighted for the contractual maturity of each security.

NOTE 9 LOANS AND COMMITMENTS TO EXTEND CREDIT

Loans outstanding were as follows:

IDecembgr 31’ - in millions 2001 __ i 2000 1999 1998 1997
Commercial $15,205 821,207 $21,468 $25,177 319,988
Commercial real estate 2,372 2,583 2,730 3,449 3,974
Consumer 9,164 9,133 9,348 10,980 11,205
Residential mortgage 6,395 13,264 12,506 12,253 12,776
Lease financing 5,557 4,845 3,663 2,978 2,224
Credit card 2,958 3,830
Other 445 568 632 392 650

Total loans 39,138 51,600 50,397 58,187 54,647
Unearned income (1,164) (999) (724) (554 (412
_Totlloans,net of uncamed income___S3197 S0 ____§won e 5

Loans outstanding and related unfunded commitments are concentrated in PNC’s primary geographic markets. At December

31, 2001, no specific industry concentration exceeded 8.3% of total commercial loans outstanding and unfunded commitments.




Net Unfunded Commitments

December 31 - in millions

Commercial $20,233 824,253
Commercial real estate 711 1,039
Consumer 4,977 4,414
Lease financing 146 123
Other 139 173
Institutional lending repositioning 4,837 1,700

Total ;531,043 $31,702

Commitments to extend credit represent arrangements to
lend funds subject to specified contractual conditions. At
December 31, 2001, commercial commitments are reported
net of $7.1 billion of participatons, assignments and
syndications, primarily to financial institutions. The
comparable amount was $7.2 billion at December 31, 2000.
Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates, may
require payment of a fee, and contain termination clauses in
the event the customer’s credit quality deteriorates. Based on
the Corporation’s historical experience, most commitments
expire unfunded, and therefore cash requirements are
substantially less than the total commitment.

Net outstanding letters of credit totaled $4.0 billion at
December 31, 2001 and 2000 and consisted primarily of

NOTE 10 NONPERFORMING ASSETS

standby letters of credit that commit the Corporation to
make payments on behalf of customers if certain specified
future events occur. Such instruments are typically issued to
support industrial revenue bonds, commercial paper, and
bid-or-performance related contracts. At year-end 2001, the
largest industry concentration within standby letters of credit
was for educational services, which accounted for
approximately 9% of the total. Maturities for standby letters
of credit ranged from 2002 to 2011.

At December 31, 2001, $14.7 billion of loans were
pledged to secure borrowings and for other purposes.

Certain directors and executive officers of the
Corporation and its subsidiaries, as well as certain affiliated
companies of these directors and officers, were customers of
and had loans with subsidiary banks in the ordinary course of
business. All such loans were on substantially the same
terms, including interest rates and collateral, as those
prevailing at the time for compatable transactions with other
customers and did not involve more than a normal risk of
collectibility. The aggregate principal amounts of these loans
were $24 million and $29 million at December 31, 2001 and
2000, respectively. During 2001, new loans of $47 million

were funded and repayments totaled $52 million.

The following table sets forth nonperforming assets and related information:

ember 31 - dollars in millions 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
Nonaccrual loans $211 $323 $291 $286 $270
Nonperforming loans held for sale () 169 33 17
Foreclosed assets 11 16 17 33 52

Total nonperforming assets () $391 $372 8325 4319 8322
Nonaccrual loans to total loans .56% .64% .59% .50% 50%
Nonperforming assets to total loans, loans held for sale

and foreclosed assets .93 71 .61 .55 59
Nonperforming assets to total assets .56 .53 47 45 45
Interest on nonperforming loans

Computed on otiginal terms $27 42 $28 $25 $31

Recognized 10 10 11 6 6
Past due loans

Accruing loans past due 90 days or more $159 %113 $86 §263 $287

As a percentage of total loans 42% 22% 17% 46% .53%
Past due loans held for sale

Accruing loans held for sale past due 90 days or more $33 316 324

Asa percentage of total loan _ .69%

(a) Includes $6 million of a troubled debt restructured loan held for sale in 2001.

(b) The above table excludes $18 million, $18 million and $13 million of equity management assets at December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively, that are carried at estimated fair

value.
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NOTE 11 ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES

Changes in the allowance for credit losses were as follows:

In millions 2001 2000 1999
January 1 $675 $674 8753
Charge-offs (985) (186) (216)
Recoveries 37 51 55

Net charge-offs (948) (135) (161)
Provision for credit losses 903 136 163
Sale of credit card business (81)

December 31 $630 8675 $674

|

Impaired loans totaling $192 million and $316 million at
December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively, had a
corresponding specific allowance for credit losses of $28
million and §76 million. The average balance of impaired
loans was $319 million in 2001, $277 million in 2000 and
$243 million in 1999. There was no interest income

recognized on impaired loans in 2001, 2000 or 1999.

NOTE 12 pREMISES, EQUIPMENTAND
LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS
Premises, equipment and leasehold improvements, stated at

cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization, were as

follows:
December 31 - in millions 2001 — 2000 -
Land $87 386
Buildings 448 456
Equipment 1,413 1,373
Leasehold improvements 321 190
Total 2,269 2,105
Accumulated depreciation and
amortization (1,141) (1,069)

Net bqok value _

Depreciation and amortization expense on premises,
equipment and leasehold improvements totaled $168 million
in 2001, $149 million in 2000 and $204 million in 1999.

Certain facilities and equipment are leased under
agreements expiring at various dates through the year 2071.
Substantally all such leases are accounted for as operating
leases. Rental expense on such leases amounted to $165
million in 2001, $148 million in 2000 and $132 million in
1999.

At December 31, 2001 and 2000, required minimum
annual rentals due on noncancelable leases having terms in
excess of one year aggregated $908 million and $684 million,

respectively. Minimum annual rentals for each of the years

2002 through 2006 are $125 million, $115 million, $104
million, $96 million and $85 million, respectively.

In the fourth quarter of 2001, management of PFPC
Worldwide Inc., 2 majority-owned subsidiary of the
Corporation, initiated a plan to consolidate certain facilities
as a follow-up to the integration of the Investor Services
Group acquisition. In connection with this initiative and
other strategic actions in the fourth quarter 2001, pretax
charges to noninterest expense of $36 million were
recognized in the fourth quarter. The charges primarily
reflect termination costs related to exiting certain lease
agreements and the abandonment of related leasehold
improvements.

During 1999, PNC made the decision to sell various
branches and office buildings. Initial write-downs were
recorded in noninterest expense and generally reflected the
difference between book value and appraised value less
selling costs. Write-downs totaled $35 million and
subsequent net gains from disposals totaled $8 million in
1999.

NOTE 13 GOODWILL AND OTHER AMORTIZABLE
ASSETS
Goodwill and other amortizable assets, net of amortization,

consisted of the following:

Y | S—)1]
Goodwill $2,043 $2,155
Customer-related intangibles 131 157
Commercial mortgage
servicing rights 199 156
Total $2,373 $2,468

Amortization of goodwill and other amortizable assets was

as follows:

Year ended December 31
I o e ———————————

L

Goodwill $117 8116 830
Purchased credit cards 6
Commercial mortgage
servicing rights 27 18 20
Other (12) (6) 6
Total 132 3128  $112

In addition, write-downs of $11 million related to
impairment of goodwill for the year ended December 31,

2001 resulted from PNC’s decision to discontinue its vehicle

leasing business.




NOTE 14 SECURITIZATIONS

During 2001, the Corporation sold residential mortgage
loans, commercial mortgage loans and other loans totaling
$1.0 billion, $374 million, and $82 million, respectively, in
secondary market securitization transactions. These
securitization transactions resulted in pretax gains of $9.6
million, $1 million, and $2 million, respectvely, for the year
ended December 31, 2001.

In additon to the sale of loans discussed above, in March
2001 PNC securitized $3.8 billion of residential mortgage
loans by selling the loans into a trust with PNC retaining
99% or $3.7 billion of the certificates. PNC also securitized
$175 million of commercial mortgage loans by selling the
loans into a trust with PNC retaining 99% or $173 million of
the certificates. In each case, the 1% interest in the trust was
purchased by a publicly-traded entity managed by a
subsidiary of PNC. A substantial portion of the entity’s
purchase price was financed by PNC. The reclassification of
these loans to securities increased the liquidity of the assets
and was consistent with PNC’s on-going balance sheet
restructuring. At the time of the residential mortgage
securitization, gains of $25.9 million were deferred and are
being recognized when principal payments are received or
the securities are sold to third parties. At December 31, 2001,
these securities had been reduced to $1.3 billion through
sales and principal payments and the remaining deferred
gains were $7.8 million. No gain was recognized at the time
of the commercial mortgage loan securitization and none of
the securities retained at the time of the securitization
remained on the balance sheet at December 31, 2001.

In addition to the securities discussed above, the
Corporation retained certain interest-only strips and servicing
rights that were created in the sale of certain loans.
Additional information on these items is contained below.

Key economic assumptions used in measuring the fair
value of the interest-only strips and servicing rights at the
date of the securitization resulting from securitizations
completed during the year and related information were as
follows:

Key Economic Assumptions

Weighted- Prepayment
Fair average Life Speed  Discount
Dollars in millions  Value (Years) (CPR)@) Rate
During 2001
Residential
mortgage $38 1.2-1.7 36.0% 10.00%
Commercial
mortgage 5 9.4 10.0  10.00
Other 2 1.9 4.14
During 2000
Commercial
9.6 10.0%  10.00%

{a) Constant Prepayment Rate (“CPR™).
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Quantitative information about managed securitized loan
portfolios in which the Corporation had interest-only strips
outstanding at December 31, 2001 and related delinquencies
follows:

Interest-Only Strips

Managed Delinquencies

cheﬁ}bq 31 -in {nilli(_)ns 2001 2000 2001 2000
Residental loans $1,058 $178 $24 $2
Student loans 453 573 49 66
Total manag¢d loans $1,511 $751 $73 $68

Certain cash flows received from and paid to securitization
trusts in which the Cotporation had interest-only strips
outstanding during the period follows:

Securitization Cash Flows

2000
§877

Year ended December 31 - in millions
—

2001

Proceeds from new securitizations

$1,040

Servicing revenue
Other cash flows received on retained

interests
| cem—e——rr——rrewyrrre

Proceeds from new securitizations ate limited to cash
proceeds received from third parties. It excludes the value of
securities generated as a result of the recharacterization of
loans to securities. During 2001 and 2000, there were no
putchases of delinquent or foreclosed assets, and servicing
advances and repayments of servicing advances were not
significant.

Changes in the Corporation’s commercial mortgage

servicing assets are as follows:

Commercial Mortgage Servicing Activity

Io millions 2001 2000
Balance at January 1 $156 $125
Additions 70 49
Amortization (27) (18)

Balance at December 31 $199 $156

Assumning a prepayment speed of 10% and weighted average
life of 10.8 years discounted at 10%, the estimated fair value
of commercial mortgage servicing rights was $240 million at
December 31, 2001. A 10% and 20% adverse change in all
assumptions used to determine fair value at December 31,
2001, results in a $22 million and $44 million decrease in fair
value, respectively. No valuation allowance was necessary for
the years ended December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2000,




At December 31, 2001, key economic assumptions and
the sensitivity of the current fair value of residual cash flows
to an immediate 10% or 20% adverse change in those

assumptions are as follows:

Fair Value Assumptions

December 31, 2001 Residential Student

Dollass in millions Mortgage Loans  Other
Fair value of retained interest

(catrying value) $29 $52 $2
Weighted-average life (in years) .8 2.0 1.8
Residual cash flows discount rate 7.50% 4.40% 4.14%
Impact on fair value of 10%

adverse change $(.2) $(2.2)
Impact on fair value of 20%

adverse change (3 33
Prepayment speed assumption

(CPR) 50.0% 13.7% (a)
Impact on fair value of 10%

adverse change $(1.9)  $(.8) (2)
Impact on fair value of 20%

adverse change 3.5) (L.3) ()

(a) Historically, there have been no prepayments on these loans, which are guaranteed
by an agency of the U. §. Government.

These sensitivities are hypothetical and should be used with
caution. As the figures indicate, changes in fair value based
on a 10% variation in assumptions generally cannot be
extrapolated because the relationship of the change in
assumption to the change in fair value may not be linear.
Also, the effect of a variation in a particular assumption on
fair value is calculated independently of variations in other
assumptions, whereas a change in one factor may realistically
have an impact on another, which might magnify or
counteract the sensitivities.

During 2000, the Corporation sold commercial mortgage
loans of $865 million in secondary market securitization
transactions and recognized a pretax gain of $13 million.
Additionally, the Corporation sold $737 million of
commercial mortgage loans into a trust. The Corporation
retained servicing rights in the loans and 99% or §730 million
of the mortgage-backed securities. The 1% interest in the
trust was purchased by a publicly-traded entity managed by a
subsidiary of PNC. A substantial portion of the entity’s
purchase price was financed by PNC. The Corporation had
securities of $155 million related to the trust in its portfolio
at December 31, 2000. No gain related to the portion of
securities retained was recognized by the Corporation as of
December 31, 2000. The securities were subsequently sold to
third parties in the first quarter of 2001.
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NOTE 15 DEPOSITS

The aggregate amount of time deposits with a denomination
greater than $100,000 was $4.0 billion and $5.8 billion at
December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Remaining
contractual maturities of time deposits for the years 2002
through 2006 and thereafter are $8.7 billion, $1.3 billion, $1.2
billion, $681 million and 3917 million, respectively.

NOTE 16 BORROWED FUNDS
Bank notes have interest rates ranging from 1.95% to 6.50%
with approximately 40% maturing in 2002. Senior and

subordinated notes consisted of the following:

December 31, 2001

99H§f§mjn_ FE“?E’PS i Ou;standln Stated Rate Maturity
Senior $2,762  2.45% - 7.00% 2002-2006
Subotdinated
Nonconvertible 2,298 6.13-8.25 2003-2009
Total $5,060

Botrowed funds have scheduled repayments for the years
2002 through 2006 and thereafter of $3.4 billion, $2.4 billion,
$2.1 billion, $1.6 billion and $2.6 billion, respectively.

Included in outstandings for the senior and subordinated

notes in the table above are basis adjustments of $8 million
and $89 million, respectively, related to SFAS No. 133,

NOTE 17 CAPITAL SECURITIES OF SUBSIDIARY
TRUSTS

Mandatorily Redeemable Capital Securities of Subsidiary
Trusts (“Capital Securities”) include nonvoting preferred
beneficial interests in the assets of PNC Institutional Capital
Trust A, Trust B and Trust C. Trust A, formed in December
1996, holds $350 million of 7.95% junior subordinated
debentures, due December 15, 2026, and redeemable after
December 15, 2006, at a premium that declines from
103.975% to par on or after December 15, 2016. Trust B,
formed in May 1997, holds $300 million of 8.315% junior
subordinated debentures due May 15, 2027, and redeemable
after May 15, 2007, at a premium that declines from
104.1575% to par on or after May 15, 2017. Trust C, formed
in June 1998, holds $200 million of junior subordinated
debentures due June 1, 2028, bearing interest at a floating
rate per annum equal to 3-month LIBOR plus 57 basis
points. The rate in effect at December 31, 2001 was 2.65%.
Trust C Capital Securities are redeemable on or after June 1,
2008 at par.




Cash distributions on the Capital Securites are made to million shares were purchased by the Corporation at a price

the extent interest on the debentures is received by the of $50.35 per share plus accrued and unpaid dividends on
Trusts. In the event of certain changes or amendments to April 5, 2001. The remainder of the outstanding shares of
regulatory requirements or federal tax rules, the Capital Series F preferred stock was redeemed on October 4, 2001
Securities are redeemable in whole. for approximately $205 million.
Trust A is a wholly owned finance subsidiary of PNC During 2000, the Board of Directors adopted a
Bank, N.A., PNC’s principal bank subsidiary, and Trusts B shareholder rights plan providing for issuance of share
and C are wholly owned finance subsidiaries of the purchase rights. Except as provided in the plan, if a person
Corporation. or group becomes beneficial owner of 10% or more of
The respective parents of the Trusts have, through the PNC’s outstanding common stock, all holders of the rights,
agreements governing the Capital Securities, taken together, other than such person or group, may purchase PNC
fully, irrevocably and unconditionally guaranteed all of the common stock or equivalent preferred stock at half of
obligations of the Trusts under the Capital Securides. For a market value.
discussion of certain dividend restrictions, see Note 19 The Corporation has a dividend reinvestment and stock
Regulatory Matters. purchase plan. Holders of preferred stock and common
stock may participate in the plan, which provides that
NOTE 18 SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY additional shares of common stock may be purchased at
Information related to preferred stock is as follows: market value with reinvested dividends and voluntary cash
payments. Common shares purchased pursuant to this plan
Ligidation Preferred Shares were: 472,015 shares in 2001, 649,334 shares in 2000 and
St i housands ' usehi:; 2001 2000 567,266 shares in 1999.
Anthorized — ' —_—— At December 31, 2001, the Corporation had reserved
$1 par value 17,172 17,224 approximately 33.8 million common shares to be issued in
Issued and ourstanding connection with certain stock plans and the convetsion of
Series A $40 10 11 certain debt and equity securities.
Series B 40 3 3
e poRa = NOTE 19 REGULATORY MATTERS
Series F 50 6.000 The Corporation is subject to the regulations of certain
Total 510 6,561 federal and state agencies and undergoes periodic

examinations by such regulatory authorities. Neither the

Series A through D are cumulative and, except for Series B, Corporation nor any of its subsidiaries is subject to written
are redeemable at the opton of the Corporation. Annual agreements entered into with any of the agencies.
dividends on Series A, B and D preferred stock total $1.80 Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory
per share and on Series C preferred stock total $1.60 per framework for prompt corrective action, the Corporation
share. Holders of Series A through D preferred stock are must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quanttative
entdtled to a number of votes equal to the number of full measures of assets, liabilities and certain off-balance-sheet
shares of common stock into which such preferred stock is items as calculated under regulatory accounting practices.
convertible. Seties A through D preferred stock have the Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can result in
following conversion privileges: (i) one sharte of Series A or certain mandatory and possibly additional discretionary
Series B is convertible into eight shares of common stock; actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could have a
and (i) 2.4 shares of Series C or Series D are convertible into material effect on PNC’s financial condition and results of
four shares of common stock. operations. The Corporation’s capital amounts and

The Series F preferred stock was nonconvertible and classification are also subject to qualitative judgments by
nonvoting, except in limited circumstances. On March 6, regulatory agencies about components, risk weightings and
2001, the Corporation commenced a cash tender offer for its other factors.

nonconvertible Series F prefetred stock. Approximately 1.9
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The following table sets forth regulatory capital ratios for
PNC and its only significant bank subsidiary, PNC Bank,
N.A.:

Regulatory Capital
Amount Ratios
December 31
Dollass in millions 2001 2000 2001 2000
Risk-based capital
Tier 1
PNC $4,599  §5,367 7.8% 8.6%
PNC Bank, N.A. 4,704 5,055 8.7 8.7
Total
PNC 6,958 7,845 11.8 12.6
PNC Bank, N.A. 6,581 7,012 121 121
Leverage :
PNC 4,599 5,367 6.8 8.0
PNC Bank, N.A. 4,704 5,055 7.6 82 |

The access to and cost of funding new business initiatives
including acquisitions, the ability to pay dividends, deposit
insurance costs, and the level and nature of regulatory
oversight depend, in large part, on a financial institution’s
capital strength. The minimum regulatory capital ratios are
4% for Tier I risk-based, 8% for total risk-based and 3% for
leverage. However, regulators may require higher capital
levels when patticular circumstances warrant. To qualify as
“well capitalized,” regulators require banks to maintain
capital ratios of at least 6% for Tier I risk-based, 10% for
total risk-based and 5% for leverage. At December 31, 2001,
the Corporation and each bank subsidiary met the “well
capitalized” capital ratio requirements.

The principal source of parent company revenue and
cash flow is the dividends it receives from PNC Bank. The
bank’s dividend level may be impacted by its capital needs,
supetvisory policies, corporate policies, contractual
restrictions and other factors. Also, there are legal limitations
on the ability of national banks to pay dividends or make
other capital distributions. PNC Bank was not permitted to
pay dividends to the parent company as of December 31,
2001 without prior approval from banking regulators as 2
tesult of the repositioning charges taken in 2001 and prior
dividends. Under these limitations, PNC Bank’s capacity to
pay dividends without ptior regulatory approval can be
restored through retention of earnings. Management expects
PNC Bank’s dividend capacity relative to such legal
limitations to be restored during 2002 from retained
earnings. The parent company currently has available funds
to pay dividends at current rates through 2002,

Under federal law, bank subsidiaries generally may not

extend credit to the parent company or its nonbank

subsidiaries on terms and under circumstances that are not
substantially the same as comparable extensions of credit to
nonaffiliates. No extension of credit may be made to the
parent company ot a nonbank subsidiary which is in excess
of 10% of the capital stock and surplus of such bank
subsidiaty or in excess of 20% of the capital and surplus of
such bank subsidiary as to aggregate extensions of credit to
the parent company and its subsidiaries. Such extensions of
credit, with limited exceptions, must be fully collateralized by
certain specified assets. In certain circumstances, federal
regulatory authorities may impose more restrictive
limitations.

Federal Reserve Board regulations require depository
institutions to maintain cash reserves with the Federal
Reserve Bank. During 2001, subsidiary banks maintained
reserves which averaged $127 million.

NOTE 20 FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES

Effective January 1, 2001, the Corporation implemented
SFAS No. 133. As a result of the adoption of this statement,
the Corporation recognized, in the first quarter of 2001, an
after-tax loss from the cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principle of $5 million reported in the
consolidated income statement and an after-tax accumulated
other comprehensive loss of $4 million. The impact of the
adoption of this standard related to the residential mortgage
banking business is reflected in the results of discontinued
operations.

Earnings adjustments resulting from cash flow and fair
value hedge ineffectiveness were not significant to the results
of operations of the Corporation during 2001.

During the next twelve months, the Corporation expects
to reclassify to earnings $118 million of pretax net gains, or
$77 million after tax, on cash flow hedge derivatives
currently reported in accumulated other comprehensive
income. These net gains are anticipated to result from net
cash flows on receive fixed interest rate swaps and would
mitigate reductions in interest income recognized on the
related floating rate commercial loans.

The Corporation generally has established agreements
with its major derivative dealer counterparties that provide
for exchanges of marketable secutrides or cash to collateralize
either party’s positions. At December 31, 2001 the
Corporation held cash and U.S. government securities with a
fair value of $190 million to collateralize net gains with
counterparties.

At December 31, 2000, the Corporation had financial
derivatives used for risk management with notional amounts
totaling $15.7 billion. These detivatives had a net positive fair




value of $92 million at December 31, 2000. Included in these
amounts were credit default swaps, with notional amounts of
$4.4 billion and negative fair value of §2 million, no longer
considered to be derivatives under SFAS No. 133, due to
their particular structure.

In addition, at December 31, 2000 the Corporation had
financial derivatives for customer-related and other purposes
with notional amounts totaling $31.3 billion and $1.2 billion,
respectively. These derivadves had net fair values of negative
$12 million and positive $12 million, respectively. Total
positive and negative fair value positions within the
customer-related derivatives were $273 million and $285
million, respectively. Total positive and negative fair value
positions for derivatives held for other purposes were §13
million and 31 million, respectively.

A reconciliation of the changes in the benefit obligation for qualified and nonqualified pension plans and post-retirement benefit

NOTE 21 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
PENSION AND POSTRETIREMENT PLANS
The Corporation has a noncontributory, qualified defined
benefit pension plan covering most employees. Retirement
benefits are derived from a cash balance formula based on
compensation levels, age and length of service. Pension
contributions are based on an actuarially determined amount
necessary to fund total benefits payable to plan participants.
The Corporation also maintains nonqualified
supplemental retirement plans for certain employees. All
retirement benefits provided under these plans are unfunded
and any payments to plan participants are made by the
Corporation. The Corporation also provides certain health
care and life insurance benefits for retired employees (“post-
retirement benefits”) through various plans.

plans as well as the change in plan assets for the qualified pension plan is as follows:

Qualified and Post-retirement
Nonqualified Pensions Benefits
December 1 — in millions _ __ 2001 2000 2001 2000
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $856 $840 $203 $198
Service cost 32 32 2 2
Interest cost 66 65 14 14
Actuarial loss 41 7 12 7
Settlements (20)
Participant contributions 4 4
Benefits paid (75) (68 (24) (22)
Benefit obligation at end of vear $920 8356 $211 $203
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $952 %939
Actual loss on plan assets (89) (29)
Employer contribution 140 130
Settlements 20y
Benefits paid (75) (68)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $928 $952
Funded status $8 $96 $(211) §(203)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss (gain) 289 65 (58) 38
Unrecognized prior service credit 3) (5) 54 (63)
Net amount recognized on the balance sheet $294 $156 $(215) $(228)
Prepaid pension cost $294 $156
Additional minimum liability (21) (18)
Intangible asset 3 2
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 18 16
Net amount recognized on the balance sheet $294 $156

The accrued pension benefit liability above includes $39
million and $34 million for the nonqualified plans at
December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The accumulated
benefit obligation for pension plans with accumulated
benefit obligations in excess of plan assets (the nonqualified
plans) were $60 million and $53 million as of December 31,
2001 and December 31, 2000, respectively. The nonqualified
plans had no plan assets at either date.

Plan assets primarily consist of listed common stocks,
U.S. government and agency securities and various mutual
funds managed by BlackRock from which BlackRock and
PFPC receive compensation for providing investment
advisory, custodial and transfer agency services. Plan assets
are managed by BlackRock and do not include common or
preferred stock of the Corporation.




The components of net periodic pension and post-retirement benefit cost were as follows:

Qualified and Nongqualified Pensions Post-retirement Benefits
2001 2000 1999

Service cost $32 $32 324 $2 $2 $2
Interest cost 66 65 58 14 14 12
Expected return on plan assets 7 93) (75)
Transition amount amortization 4 (5)
Curtailment gain 3)
Amortization of prior service cost @) 1 @1 (6) ©) (6)
Recognized net actuarial loss 2 2
Losses due to settlements 7

Netperiodiccost 52 6 53 57 0 se

Weighted-average assumptions were as follows:

Qualified and Nonqualified Pensions

Year ended December 312001 2000 1999
Discount rate 7.25% 7.50% 7.75%
Rate of compensation

increase 4.50 4.50 4.50
Expected return on plan

assets o 9.50 9.50 9.50

Post-retitement Benefits

Discount rate 7.25% 7.50% 7.75%

Year ended December 31

Expected health care cost
trend rate
Medical pre-65 7.00 7.00 7.00
Medical post-65 8.00 8.00 8.00
Dental 7 7.00 7.00 7.00

The health care cost trend rate declines untl it stabilizes at
5.50% beginning in 2005. A one-percentage-point change
in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the

following effects:

Increase Decrease

Year ended December 31, 2001 — in millions

Effect on total service and interest cost $1 3D
Effect on post-retireme}nt benefit obligation

INCENTIVE SAVINGS PLAN

The Corporation sponsors an incentive savings plan that
covers substantially all employees. Under this plan,
employee contributions up to 6% of biweekly
compensation as defined by the plan are matched, subject
to Internal Revenue Code limitations. Contributions to the
plan are matched primarily by shares of PNC common
stock held in treasury or by the Corporation’s employee
stock ownership plan (“ESOP”). The Corporation also
maintains a nonqualified supplemental savings plan for
cettain employees.

The Corporation makes annual contributions to the
ESOP that are at least equal to the debt service
requirements on the ESOP’s borrowings less dividends
received by the ESOP. All dividends received by the ESOP
are used to pay debt service. Dividends used for debt
service totaled $8 million in 2001 and $9 million in 2000
and 1999. To satisfy additonal debt service requirements,
PNC contributed $1 million in 2001 and $9 million in
1999. No contributions were made in 2000. As of
December 31, 2001 the ESOP’s borrowings have been
paid off or fully extinguished.

As the ESOP’s borrowings were repaid, shares were
allocated to employees who made contributions during the
year based on the proportion of annual debt service to total
debt service. The Corporation includes all ESOP shares as
common shares outstanding in the earnings per share

computation.
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Components Of ESOP Shares

As of or for the year ended December 31
In thousands

Unallocated
Allocated 4,134
Released for allocation
Retired

(530)
2,498

Compensation expense related to the portion of
contributions matched with ESOP shares is determined
based on the number of ESOP shares allocated.
Compensation expense related to these plans was $28
million, $30 million and $17 million for 2001, 2000 and
1999, respectively.

NOTE 22 STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS
The Corporation has a long-term incentdve award plan
(“Incentive Plan”) that provides for the granting of
incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock
appreciation rights, performance units, restricted stock and
other incentive shares to executives and directors. In any
given vear, the number of shares of common stock
available for grant under the Incentive Plan may range
from 1.5% to 3% of total issued shares of common stock
determined at the end of the preceding calendar year. Of
this amount, no more than 20% is available for restricted
stock and other incentive share awards,

As of December 31, 2001 no incentive stock options,
stock appreciation rights or performance unit awards were

outstanding.

NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTIONS

Options are granted at exercise prices not less than the
market value of common stock on the date of grant.
Generally, options granted in 2001, 2000 and 1999 become
exercisable in installments after the grant date. Options
granted prior to 1999 are mainly exercisable twelve months
after the grant date. Payment of the option price may be in
cash or previously owned shares of common stock at

market value on the exercise date.

A summary of stock option activity follows:

Per Option
Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Shares in thousands Exercise Price

$11.38 - $66.00

January 1, 1999 .
Granted 50.47 - 76.00 51.68 3,612
Exercised 11.38 - 54.72 33.89 (1,850)
Terminated 21.75-59.31 51.68 247

December 31, 1999 11.38 - 76.00 44,83 11,075
Granted 4219 - 66.22 44.20 4,171
Exercised 11.38 - 59.31 37.77 (2,952)
Terminated 31.13-61.75 4810 496)

December 31, 2000 21.63 - 76.00 46.25 11,798
Granted 53.74 - 74.70 7314 3,996
Exercised 21.63 - 5931 4346 2,737)
Terminated 42,19 -74.59 53.22 (580

e e e

Information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2001 follows:

Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

December 31, 2001
Shares in thousands

Weighted-average

Range of exercise prices N Shares_w_ ____exercise pric
$21.75 - $32.99 829 $28.96
33.00 - 49.99 3,478 42.69
50.00 - 76.00 8,170 63.12

Options granted in 2001 include options for 52,000 shares

granted to non-employee directors.

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options
granted in 2001, 2000 and 1999 was $15.87, §9.86 and
$10.15 per option, respectively. At December 31, 2000 and
1999 options for 5,834,898 and 7,682,745 shares of
common stock, respectively, were exercisable at a

weighted-average price of §45.96 and $42.05, respectively.
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Weighted-average remaining Weighted-average

3.2 829
7.5 1,211 43.04
7.8 3,239 54.73

There were no options granted in excess of market
value in 20010t 2000. Options for 82,000 shares of
common stock were granted in 1999 with an exercise price
in excess of the market value on the date of grant. Shares
of common stock available for the granting of options and
other awards under the Incentive Plan and the predecessor
plans were 10,584,683 at December 31, 2001, 2000 and
1999.




INCENTIVE SHARE AND RESTRICTED STOCK AWARDS

In 1998, incentive share awards potentially representing
362,250 shares of common stock were graated to certain
senior executives pursuant to the Incentive Plan. Issuance
of restricted shares pursuant to these incentive awards was
subject to the market price of PNC’s common stock
equaling or exceeding specified levels for defined periods.
In 2001, 104,250 of these shares were issued. The
remaining shares expired and will not be issued under this
award. The restricted period ends July 1, 2003. During the
restricted period, the recipient receives dividends and can
vote the shares. Generally, if the recipient leaves the
Corporation before the end of the restricted period, the
shares will be forfeited.

In 2000, 606,000 incentive shares of common stock
were granted to ceftaln senior executives pursuant to the
Incentive Plan. One-half of any shares of restricted stock
issued pursuant to these awards will vest after three years
and the remainder after four years. Shares awarded under
this grant will be offset on a share-for-share basis by shares
received, if any, by the executive from the 1998 grant.

There were 39,000 and 66,000 incentive shares
forfeited during 2001 and 2000, respectively. No shares
were forfeited in 1999,

In addition, 33,600, 53,100 and 37,500 shares of
restricted stock were granted to certain key employees in
2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. These shares vest 25%
after three years, 25% after four years and 50% after five
years. There were 13,000 shares of restricted stock granted
to non-employee directors in 2001. One half of these
shares vest after one year and the remainder after two
years. In 2000, 245,000 shares of restricted stock were
granted to senior executives with a three-year vesting
period.

Compensation expense recognized for incentive share
and restricted stock awards totaled $10 million, $8 million
and $12 million in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

The Corporation’s employee stock purchase plan (“ESPP”)
has approximately 2.6 million shares available for issuance.
Persons who have been continuously employed for at least
one year are eligible to participate. Participants purchase
the Corporation’s common stock at 85% of the lesser of

fair market value on the first or last day of each offering

period. No charge to earnings is recorded with respect to
the ESPP.

Shares issued pursuant to the ESPP were as follows:

Year ended December 31

‘ Shares

‘ Pric Per

2001 395,217 $55.57 and $49.26
2000 504,988 42.82 and 45.53
1999

43.99 and 47.39

Pro ForMmA EFFECTS

The following table sets forth pro forma income from
continuing operations and diluted earnings per share as if
compensation expense was recognized for stock options
and the ESPP.

Pro Forma Income From Continuing Operations And EPS

Year ended 7&““%%: wmml }‘O f_orfna
Income from condnuing
operations (in millions)
2001 8377 $344
2000 1,214 1,196
1999 1,202 1,194
Diluted earnings per share
2001 $1.26 $1.14
2000 4.09 4.02
1999 3.94 3.92

For purposes of computing pro forma results, PNC

estimated the fair value of stock options and ESPP shares
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

The model requires the use of numerous assumptions,
many of which are highly subjective in nature. Therefore,
the pro forma results are estimates of results of operations
as if compensation expense had been recognized for all
stock-based compensation plans and are not indicative of
the impact on future periods. The following assumptions
were used in the option pricing model for purposes of
estimating pro forma results. The dividend yield represents
average yields over the previous three-year period.
Volatility is measured using the fluctuation in quarter-end

closing stock prices over a five-year period.

Option Pricing Assumptions

Year ended December 31 ) 2001 2000 1999
Risk-free interest rate 4.9% 6.6% 5.2%
Dividend yield 32 3.1 3.6
Volatility 25.7 21.8 221
Exgected life _ Syrs. Syrs.  6yrs.




NOTE 23 INCOME TAXES

The components of income taxes were as follows:

Year ended December 31

In millions 2001 2000 1999
Cutrent
Federal $195 $226 3454
State 40 32 35
Total current 235 258 489
Deferred
Federal (51) 363 102
State 3 13 (5)
Total deferred (48) 376 97
:Total $187 $634 $586

Significant components of defetred tax assets and liabilities

are as follows:

December 31 - in millions

Deferred tax assets

Allowance for credit losses $225 $250
Compensation and benefits 3 85
Net unrealized securities losses 75 19
Loan valuations related to
institutional lending repositioning 330
Other 163 104
Total deferred tax assets 824 458
Deferred tax liabilities
Leasing 1,182 824
Depteciation 53 37
Other 89 102
Total deferred tax liabilities 1,324 963
Net deferred tax liability $500 » 3505

A reconciliation between the statutory and effective tax

rates follows:

Year ended December 31

Statutory tax rate

Increases (decreases) resulting from
State taxes 4.9 1.6 11

(1.8) (6 (7
9

Tax-exempt interest

Goodwill 3.0 9 .

Life insurance (3.5) (1.0) (1.0)
Tax credits (7.6) (1.8) (1.4
Other 3.2 2 (1.1

Effective tax r:

33.2% 343%  32.8%

ate

NOTE 24 LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Several putative class action complaints have been filed
against the Corporation, certain present and former
officers or directors and its independent auditors for 2001

alleging violations of federal securities laws relating to
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disclosures and seeking unquantified damages on behalf of
purchasers of the Corporation’s common stock during
specified periods. Management believes there are
substantial defenses to the lawsuits and intends to defend
them vigorously. The impact of the final disposidon of
these lawsuits cannot be assessed at this time.

In January 2001, PNC sold its residential mortgage
banking business. Certain closing date purchase price
adjustments aggregating approximately $300 million pretax
are currently in dispute between the parties. The
Corporation has established a receivable of approximately
$140 million to reflect additional purchase price it believes
is due from the buyer. The buyer has taken the position
that the purchase price it has already paid should be
reduced by approximately $160 million. The Corporation
has established specific reserves related to a portion of its
recorded receivable. The purchase agreement requires that
an independent public accounting firm determine the final
adjustments, The buyer also has filed a lawsuit against the
Corporation seeking compensatory damages with respect
to certain of the disputed matters that the Corporation
believes are covered by the process provided in the
purchase agreement, unquantified punitive damages and
declaratory and other relief. Management intends to assert
the Corporation’s positions vigorously. Management
believes that, net of available reserves, an adverse outcome,
expected to be recorded in discontinued operations, could
be material to net income in the period in which recorded,
but that the final disposition of this matter will not be
material to the Corporation’s financial positon.

The Corporation, in the normal course of business, is
subject to various other pending and threatened lawsuits in
which claims for monetary damages are asserted.
Management does not anticipate that the ultimate aggregate
liability, if any, arising out of such other lawsuits will have a
material adverse effect on the Corporation’s financial
position,

At the present time, management is not in a position to
determine whether any pending or threatened litigation will
have a material adverse effect on the Corporadon’s results
of operations in any future reporting period.

The staffs of the Securities and Exchange Commission
and the Federal Reserve Board have informed PNC that
they are conducting inquiries with respect to the
transactions with subsidiaries of a third party financial
institution described in Note 3 Restatements. PNC is

cooperating with these inquiries.




NOTE 25 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth basic and diluted earnings per share calculations.

rYe:ar ended December 31 - in millions, except share and per share data _ _2(_)01 ] ZOOO 1999
CALCULATION OF BASIC EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE
Income from continuing operations $377 $1,214 $1,202
Less: Preferred dividends declared (a) 13 19 19
Income from continuing operations applicable to basic earnings per common share 364 1,195 1,183
Income from discontinued operations applicable to basic earnings per common share 5 65 62
Cumulative effect of accounting change applicable to basic earnings per common share (5)

Net income applicable to basic earnings per common share $364 $1,260 $1,245
Basic weighted-average common shates outstanding (in thousands) 286,726 289,958 296,886
Basic earnings per common share from continuing operations $1.27 54,12 $3.98
Basic earnings per common share from discontinued operations .02 23 21
Basic earnings per common share from cumulative effect of accounting change (.02)

Basic earnings per common share $1.27 %4.35 $4.19
CALCULATION OF DILUTED EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE
Income from continuing operations $377 $1,214 $1,202
Less: Dividends declared on nonconvertible Series F preferred stock (@) 13 18 18
Income from continuing operations applicable to diluted earnings per common share 364 1,196 1,184
Income from discontinued operations applicable to diluted earnings per common share 5 65 62
Cumuladve effect of accounting change applicable to diluted earnings per common share 5)

Net income applicable to diluted earnings per common share $364 $1,261 81,246
Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding (in thousands) 286,726 289,958 296,886
Weighted-average common shares to be issued using average market price and assuming:

Conversion of preferred stock Series A and B 106 118 131

Convetsion of preferred stock Seties C and D 870 986 1,072

Conversion of debentures 17 20 24

Exercise of stock options 1,661 1,531 1,529

Incentive share awards 368 173 383
Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding (in thousands) 289,748 292,786 300,025
Diluted earnings per common share from continuing operations $1.26 %4.09 $3.94
Diluted earnings per common share from discontinued operations .02 22 21
Diluted earnings per common share from cumulative effect of accounting change (.02)

$1.26 $4.31 $4.15

Diluted earnings per common share

(a) Adjustment for year ended December 31, 2001 includes $1 million of cost incutred due to tender offer of Series F preferred stock.

87




NOTE 26 SEGMENT REPORTING

PNC operates seven major businesses engaged in regional
community banking, corporate banking, real estate finance,
asset-based lending, wealth management, asset management
and global fund services.

Business results are presented based on PNC’s
management accounting practices and the Corporation’s
management structure. There is no comprehensive,
authoritative body of guidance for management accounting
equivalent to generally accepted accounting principles;
therefore, PNC’s business results are not necessarily
comparable with similar information for any other financial
services institution. Financial results are presented, to the
extent practicable, as if each business operated on a stand-
alone basis.

The management accounting process uses various
balance sheet and income statement assignments and
transfers to measure performance of the businesses.
Methodologies change from time to time as management
accounting practices are enhanced and businesses change.
Securities available for sale or borrowings and related net
interest income are assigned based on the net asset or lability
position of each business. Capital is assigned based on
management’s assessment of inherent risks and equity levels
at independent companies providing similar products and
services. The allowance for credit losses is allocated based on
management’s assessment of risk inherent in the loan
portfolios. Support areas not directly aligned with the
businesses are allocated primarily based on the utilization of
services.

Total business financial results differ from consolidated
results from continuing operations primarily due to
differences berween management accounting practices and
generally accepted accounting principles, equity management
activities, minority interest in income of consolidated entities,
residual asset and liability management activites, unallocated
reserves, eliminations and unassigned items, the impact of
which is reflected in the “Other” category.

The impact of the institutional lending repositioning and
other strategic actions that occurred during 2001, 2000 and
1999 is reflected in the business results.

BUSINESS SEGMENT PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

Regional Community Banking provides deposit, branch-
based brokerage, electronic banking and credit products and
services to retail customers as well as deposit, credit, treasury

management and capital markets products and services to

small businesses primarily within PNC’s geographic region.

Corporate Banking provides credit, equipment leasing,
treasury management and capital markets products and
services primarily to mid-sized corporations and government
entities within PNC’s geographic region.

PNC Real Estate Finance provides credit, capital
markets, treasury management, commercial mortgage loan
servicing and other financial products and services to
developers, owners and investors in commercial real estate.
PNC’s commercial real estate financial services platform
provides processing services through Midland Loan Services,
Inc., a leading third party provider of loan servicing and
technology to the commercial real estate finance industty,
and national syndication of affordable housing equity
through Columbia Housing Partners, LP.

PNC Business Credit provides asset-based lending,
capital markets and treasury management products and
services to middle market customers nationally. PNC
Business Credit’s lending services include loans secured by
accounts receivable, inventory, machinery and equipment,
and other collateral, and its customers include
manufacturing, wholesale, distribution, retailing and service
industry companies.

PNC Advisors provides a full range of tailored
investment products and services to affluent individuals and
families, including full-service brokerage through J.J.B.
Hilliard, W.L. Lyons, Inc. and investment advisory services
to the ultra-affluent through Hawthorn. PNC Advisors also
serves as investment manager and trustee for employee
benefit plans and charitable and endowment assets.

BlackRock is one of the largest publicly traded
investment management firms in the United States with
approximately $239 billion of assets under management at
December 31, 2001. BlackRock manages assets on behalf of
institutions and individuals worldwide through a variety of
fixed income, liquidity and equity mutual funds, separate
accounts and alternative investment products. Mutual funds
include the flagship fund families, BlackRock Funds and
BlackRock Provident Institutional Funds. In addition,
BlackRock provides risk management and investment system
services to institutional investors under the BlackRock
Solutions name.

PFPC is the largest full-service mutual fund transfer
agent and second largest provider of mutual fund accounting
and administration services in the United States, providing a
wide range of fund services to the investment management
industry. PFPC also provides processing solutions to the
international marketplace through its Ireland and

Luxembourg operations.




Results Of Businesses

Regional PNC PNC
Year ended December 31 Community Corporate  Real Estate Business PNC
L —— ankine g S o W e — oS Olidated |
2001
INCOME STATEMENT
Net interest income $1,460 $501 3116 $104 $128 $11 $(66) $8 $2,262
Noninterest income 758 32 89 (8) 607 533 726 (194) 2,543
Total revenue 2,218 533 205 96 735 544 660 (186) 4,805
Provision for credit losses 50 733 44 29 2 45 903
Depreciation and amortization 71 13 22 2 17 26 45 77 273
Other noninterest expense 1,169 374 136 29 487 337 554 (21 3,065
Pretax earnings 928 (587) 3 36 229 181 61 (287) 564
Income taxes 332 (212) (35) 14 86 74 25 (97) 187
Earnings $596 $(375) $38 $22 $143 $107 $36 $(190) $377
Inter-segment revenue $11 $4 $61 $16 $6 $(98)
AVERAGE ASSETS $40,285  $16,685 $5,290 $2,463 $3,330 $684 $1,771 $(153)  $70,355
2000
INCOME STATEMENT
Net interest income $1,408 $582 $118 $99 $136 $7 $(46) $(140) $2,164
Noninterest income 619 254 108 20 656 477 656 101 2,891
Total revenue 2,027 836 226 119 792 484 610 (39) 5.055
Provision for credit losses 45 79 (7 12 5 2 136
Depreciation and amortization 71 13 20 2 14 20 49 70 259
Other noninterest expense 1,000 381 125 28 497 314 483 (16) 2,812
Pretax earnings 911 363 88 77 276 150 78 95) 1,848
Income taxes 321 122 4 28 103 63 31 (38) 634
Earnings $590 $241 $84 $49 $173 $87 347 $(57) $1,214
Inter-segment revenue 33 35 879 $13 35 $(105)
AVERAGE ASSETS $38,958  $17,746 $5,889 $2,271 $3,500 $537 $1,578 $(1,988)  $68,491
1999
INCOME STATEMENT
Net interest income $1,411 $534 $132 871 $130 $(8) $6 $68 $2,344
Noninterest income 667 85 67 11 608 381 251 380 2,450
Total revenue 2,078 619 199 82 738 373 257 448 4794
Provision for credit losses 61 16 9 11 7 59 163
Depreciation and amortization 96 18 22 2 18 18 12 110 296
Other noninterest expense 1,002 381 118 23 483 252 175 113 2,547
Pretax earnings 919 204 50 46 230 103 70 166 1,788
Income taxes 326 59 17 88 44 26 26 586
Earnings $593 $145 $50 $29 §142 859 $44 $140 $1,202
Inter-segment revenue 36 32 () $81 $10 $3 §(101)
AVERAGE ASSETS $37,502  $18,041 $7,133 $1,759 $3,353 $448 $308 $(630) $67,914

Gains on the sales of the credit card business, the
BlackRock IPO and Concord stock totaling $298 million in
1999 are included in the “Other” category. Also in 1999,
costs related to efficiency initiatives of $48 million and a
contribution to the PNC Foundation of $30 million are
included in the “Other” category.
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Differences between management accounting practices
and generally accepted accounting principles, divested and
exited businesses, equity management activities, minority
interest in income of consolidated entities, residual asset
and liability management activities, eliminations and
unassigned items comprise the remainder of the “Other”

category.




NOTE 27 COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The Corporation’s other comprehensive income primarily
consists of unrealized gains or losses on securities available
for sale and cash flow hedge derivatives and minimum
pension liability adjustments. The income effects allocated
to each component of other comprehensive income (loss)

are as follows:

Tax
Year ended December 31 Pretax Benefit  After-tax
In millions
2001
Unrealized securities losses $(86) $30 $(56)
Less: Reclassification
adjustment for losses
realized in net income 8) 3 (5)
Net unrealized securities
losses (78) 27 (51)
SEAS No. 133 transition
adjustment ©6) 2 “)
Unrealized gains on cash
flow hedge derivatves 102 (36) 66
Less: Reclassification
adjustment for losses
tealized in net income (55) 19 (36)
Net unrealized gains on
cash flow hedge
derivatives 151 (53) 98
Minimum pension liability
adjustment ) 1 @
Other 3 (Y] 2
Other comprehensive
income from
continuing operations $74 $(26) $48
2000
Unrealized securities gains §124 $(40) 584
Less: Reclassification
adjustment for losses
realized in net income 3 1 2
Net unrealized securides
gains 127 (41) 86
Minimum pension liability
adjustment 2 )] 1
Other 3 (1) 2
Other comprehensive
income from continuing
operations 3132 $(43) $89
1999
Unrealized securities losses $(180) $64 $(122)
Less: Reclassification
adjustment for losses
realized in net income (28) 10 (18
Net unrealized securities
losses (158) 54 104y
Minimum pension liability
adjustment (8 3 )
Other 2 &) 1
Other comprehensive
loss from continuing
operations (164 $56 $(108)
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The accumulated balances related to each component of

other comprehensive income (loss) are as follows:

Decermber 31 _in millons 2001 2090

Net untealized securities losses

$(86) $(35)
Net unrealized gains on cash flow hedge
derivatives 98
Minimum pension liability adjustment 12) an

QOther 5 3

Accumulated other comprehensive

income (loss) from continuing




NOTE 28 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2001 2000
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

December 31 - in millions Amount Value Amount Value
Assels
Cash and short-term assets $6,200 $6,200 $5,041 $5,041
Securities 13,908 13,905 5,902 5,902
Loans held for sale 4,189 4,189 1,655 1,655
Net loans (excludes leases) 32,941 33,588 46,066 46,872
Commercial mortgage servicing rights 199 240 156 267
Financial derivatives (a)

Interest rate risk management 278 278

Commercial mortgage banking risk management 5 5

Customer/other derivatives 497 497
Liabilities
Demand, savings and money market deposits 34,531 34,531 30,686 30,686
Time deposits 12,773 12,942 16,978 17,101
Botrowed funds 12,390 12,677 11,822 12,043
Financial derivatives (a)

Interest rate risk management 16 16

Commertcial mortgage banking risk management 4 4

Customer/other derivatives 476 476
Off-Balance-Sheet
Unfunded loan commitments (12) (12) (11 an
Letters of credit (10) 10) 10 (19
Financial derivatives (a)

Interest rate risk management 63 104

Commercial mortgage banking risk management 2 (10)

Credit-related activities (b)

(a) Effective January 1, 2001, the Corporation implemented SFAS No. 133. The statement requires the Corporation to recognize all derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities

on the balance sheet at fair value. Financial derivatives are reported at fair value in other assets or,other Liabilites.
(b) Due to the structure of these contracts, they are no longer considered financial derivatives under SFAS No. 133.

Real and personal property, lease financing, loan customer
relationships, deposit customer intangibles, retail branch
networks, fee-based businesses, such as asset management
and brokerage, trademarks and brand names are excluded
from the amounts set forth in the previous table.
Accordingly, the aggregate fair value amounts presented do
not represent the underlying value of the Corporation.

Fair value is defined as the estimated amount at which a
financial instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, or other than in a forced
or liquidation sale. However, it is not management’s
intention to immediately dispose of a significant pottion of
such financial instruments, and unrealized gains or losses
should not be interpreted as a forecast of future earnings and
cash flows. The derived fair values are subjective in nature,
involve uncertainties and significant judgment and, therefore,
cannot be determined with precision. Changes in
assumptions could significanty impact the derived fair value
estimates.

The following methods and assumptions wete used in

estimating fair value amounts for financial instruments.
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“GENERAL

For short-term financial instruments realizable in three
months or less, the cartying amount reported in the
consolidated balance sheet approximates fair value. Unless
otherwise stated, the rates used in discounted cash flow

analyses are based on market yield curves.

CASH AND SHORT-TERM ASSETS

The carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance
sheet for cash and short-term investments approximate fair
values primarily due to their short-term nature. For purposes
of this disclosure only, short-term assets include due from
banks, interest-earning deposits with banks, federal funds
sold and resale agreements, trading securities, customer’s

acceptance liability and accrued interest receivable.

SECURITIES

The fair value of securities is based on quoted market prices,
where available. If quoted market prices ate not available, fair
value is estimated using the quoted market prices of

comparable instruments.




NET LOANS AND LOANS HELD FOR SALE

Fair values are estimated based on the discounted value of
expected net cash flows incorporating assumptions about
prepayment rates, credit losses and servicing fees and costs.
For revolving home equity loans, this fair value does not
include any amount for new loans or the related fees that will
be generated from the existing customer relationships. In the
case of nonaccrual loans, scheduled cash flows exclude
interest payments. The carrying value of loans held for sale

approximates fair value.

COMMERCIAL MORTGAGE SERVICING RIGHTS

The fair value of commercial mortgage servicing rights is
estimated based on the present value of future cash flows.
These fair values are based on assumptions as to prepayment
speeds, discount rate and the weighted-average life of the

related commercial loans.

DEPOSITS

The carrying amounts of noninterest-bearing demand and
interest-beating money market and savings deposits
approximate fair values. For time deposits, which include
foreign deposits, fair values are estimated based on the
discounted value of expected net cash flows assuming

current interest rates.

BORROWED FUNDS

The cartying amounts of federal funds purchased,
commercial paper, acceptances outstanding and accrued
interest payable are considered to be their fair value because
of their short-term nature. For all other borrowed funds, fair
values are estimated based on the discounted value of
expected net cash flows assuming current interest rates.

UNFUNDED LOAN COMMITMENTS AND LETTERS OF
CREDIT

Fair values for commitments to extend credit and letters of
credit are estimated based on the amount of deferred fees
and the creditworthiness of the counterparties.

FINANCIAL AND OTHER DERIVATIVES

The fair value of derivatives is based on the discounted value
of the expected net cash flows. These fair values represent
the amounts the Corporation would receive or pay to

terminate the contracts, assuming current interest rates.

NOTE 29 UNUSED LINE OF CREDIT

At December 31, 2001, the Corporation maintained a line of
credit in the amount of $500 million, none of which was
drawn. This line is available for general corporate purposes

and expires in 2003.

NoOTE 30 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In January 2002, PNC Business Credit acquired a portion of
the U.S. asset-based lending business of NBOC. As a result
of this acquisidon, PNC Business Credit established six new
marketing offices and enhanced its presence as one of the
premier asset-based lenders for the middle market customer
segment. At the acquisition date, credit exposure acquired
was approximately $2.6 billion including $1.5 billion of loan
outstandings. None of the loans were nonperforming at
acquisition.

Additionally, PNC Business Credit agreed to service a
portion of NBOC’s remaining U.S. asset-based loan
portfolio (“serviced portfolio”) for a period of eighteen
months. The serviced portfolio consisted of approximately
$670 million of credit exposure including $463 million of
outstandings as of the acquisition date. At closing, $138
million of these outstandings were classified as
nonperforming. The serviced portfolio’s credit exposure and
outstandings are expected to be reduced through managed
liquidation and runoff during the eighteen-month servicing
period. At the end of the servicing term, NBOC has the right
to transfer the then remaining serviced portfolio to PNC
Business Credit. PNC Business Credit established a liability
of $§112 million in 2002 as patt of the allocation of the
purchase price to reflect this obligation. The amount of this
liability will be assessed quarterly with any changes
recognized in earnings. During the servicing term, NBOC
will be responsible for realized credit losses with tespect to
the serviced portfolio to a maximum of $50 million. If the
right to transfer is exercised, the Corporation is responsible
for realized credit losses on the serviced portfolio that may
occur during the eighteen-month period in excess of certain
NBOC specific reserves related to those assets, when
applicable (available only on specified credits), and the $50
million first loss position. PNC Business Credit management
currently expects the amounts indicated above to be
adequate to cover potential losses in connection with the
serviced portfolio.

On January 3, 2002, the Board of Directors authorized
the Corporation to purchase up to 35 million shares of its
common stock through February 29, 2004, These shares may
be purchased in the open market or privately negotiated
transactions. This authorization terminated any prior
authorizadon. The extent and dming of any share
repurchases will depend on a number of factors including,
among others, progress in disposing of loans held for sale,
regulatory capital consideratons, alternative uses of capital

and receipt of regulatory approvals if then required.




NOTE 31 PARENT COMPANY
Summarized financial information of the parent company is

as follows:
Statement Of Income
ear ended December 31 - in millions 001 2000 1999
OPERATING REVENUE
Dividends from:
Bank subsidiaries $1,116 $690  $1,139
Nonbank subsidiaries 60 55 80
Interest income 6 9 9
Noninterest income 2 1 4
Total operating revenue 1,184 755 1,232
OPERATING EXPENSE
Interest expense 50 54 86
Other expense 6 (6) 52
Total operating expense 56 48 138
Income before income taxes and
equity in undistributed net
income of subsidiaries 1,128 707 1,094
Income tax benefits (17) (21 47
Income before equity in
undistributed net income of
subsidiaries 1,145 728 1,141
Bank subsidiaries (531) 386 @)
Nonbank subsidiaries (237) 165 130
Net income $377 §1,279 81,264

Balance Sheet
Pecember 31 - in millions 2001 2000
ASSETS
Cash and due from banks $1 $1
Securities available for sale 94 53
Investments in: ’
Bank subsidiaries 5,324 5,640
Nonbank subsidiaries 1,555 1,656
Other assets 152 160
Total assets $7,126  $7,510
LIABILITIES
Botrowed funds 3100
Nonbank affiliate borrowings $1,086 522
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 217 232
Total liabilities 1,303 854
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 5,823 6,656

ilities and shareholders

’ equity

Borrowed funds at December 31, 2000 were repaid in 2001.
Commetcial paper and all other debt issued by PNC Funding
Cortp., a wholly owned finance subsidiary, is fully and
unconditionally guaranteed by the parent company. In
addition, in connection with certain affiliates’ commercial
mortgage servicing operations, the parent company has
committed to maintain such affiliates” net worth above

minimum requirements.
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During 2001, 2000 and 1999, the parent company
received net income tax refunds of $37 million, $36 million
and $44 million, respectively. Such refunds represent the
parent company’s portion of consolidated income taxes.
During 2001, 2000 and 1999, the parent company paid
interest of $49 million, $56 million and $96 million,

respectively.

Statement Of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31 - in millions

2001 2000

[ T

122

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $377 §1,279 $1,264
Adjustments to reconcile net
income to net cash provided
(used) by operating activities:
Equity in undistributed net
earnings of subsidiaries 768 (551) (123)
Other 44 (24) (14)
Net cash provided by operating
activities 1,189 704 1,127
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net change in short-term
investments with subsidiary
bank 16 7N
Net capital (contributed to)
returned from subsidiaties (237) 258 631
Securities available for sale
Sales and maturities 1,206 372 1,592
Purchases (1,247) (425) (1,565)
Cash paid in acquisitions 2
Other 14) (13 (17
Net cash (used) provided by
investing activities (292) 208 632
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Borrowings from nonbank
subsidiary 763 314 687
Repayments on borrowings from
nonbank subsidiary (190) (440) (1,080)
Acquisition of treasury stock (681) (428) (803)
Cash dividends paid to
shareholders (569) (546) (520
Issuance of stock 181 189 141
Series F preferred stock tender
offer/maturity (301)
Repayments on borrowings (100) (200)
Other 15
Net cash used by financing
activities (897) 911) (1,760)
Increase (decrease) in cash and
due from banks 1 (D
Cash and due from banks at
beginning of year 1 81
Cash and due from banks at
end of year $1 31




STATISTICAL INFORMATION

THE PNC FINANCIAL SERVICES GROUP, INC.

PNC restated its consolidated financial statements for the
first, second and third quarters of 2001 and revised
previously announced results for the fourth quarter of
2001. These restatements were made to reflect the
correction of an error related to the accounting for the sale
of the residential mortgage banking business in the first
quarter and to consolidate certain subsidiaries of a third
party financial institution in the second, third and fourth
quarters. See Note 3 Restatements for additdonal
information.

The error correction reduced income from
discontinued operations and net income by $35 million for
the first quarter of 2001. Diluted earnings per share was
reduced by $.12.

The consolidation of the third party subsidiaries
reduced third quarter net income by §51 million and
diluted earnings per share by $.18 and fourth quarter
results by $104 million and $.37, respectively

In consolidation, all loan assets of the third party
subsidiaries are included in loans held for sale. At the date
of sale, the difference between the sale price and carrying

as valuation adjustments in noninterest income for loans
previously held for sale. Subsequent to the date of sale,
lower of cost or market adjustments have been recorded
through charges to noninterest income,

The following table summarizes the charges related to
the assets in these entties for 2001.

Charges Related To Third Party Subsidiaries

Year ended -
December 31, 2001 Fourth Third Second
In millions _ Quatter Quarter Quarter Total

At time of sale

Charge-offs $9 315 $24
Valuation adjustments 3 1 4
12 16 28

Valuation adjustments
subsequent to sale %158 82 240
Total $158 $94 $16 $268

Venture capital assets in one of the third party subsidiaties
were carried at estimated fair value and additional valuation
adjustments of $7 million were recorded in the fourth

value was recorded as charge-offs for portfolio loans and quarter of 2001.
SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA
Dollars in millions, 2001 2000
except per shate data Fourth Third Second First Fourth Third Second First
SUMMARY OF OPERATIONS
Interest income $902 $984 $1,079 $1,172 $1,190 $1,201 31,180 $1,161
Interest expense 324 419 514 618 657 670 635 606
Net interest income 578 565 565 554 533 531 545 555
Provision for credit losses 668 110 45 80 40 30 35 31
Noninterest income before net
securities (losses) gains 418 619 703 672 719 693 728 731
Net securities (losses) gains 3) 88 17 29 16 7 3
Noninterest expense 987 787 789 775 752 747 780 792
(Loss) income from continuing
opetations before income taxes (662) 375 451 400 476 454 458 460
Income taxes (232) 128 156 135 162 155 159 158
(Loss) income from continuing
opetations (430) 247 295 265 314 299 299 302
Income from discontinued operations 5 20 23 16 6
Net (loss) income before cumulative
effect of
accounting change (430) 247 295 270 334 322 315 308
Cumulative effect of accounting change 5
Net (loss) income $(430) $247 $295 $265 $334 $322 $315 $308
PER COMMON SHARE DATA
Book value $20.54 $23.09 $22.60 $22.39 $21.88 $21.01 $20.22 $19.68
Basic earnings (a}
Continuing operations (1.52) .85 1.01 .90 1.07 1.02 1.01 1.02
Discontinued operations .02 07 .08 .06 02
Before cumulative effect of
accounting change (1.52) .85 1.01 .92 1.14 1.10 1.07 1.04
Cumulative effect of accounting
change (:02)
Net income (1.52) .85 1.01 .90 1.14 1.10 1.07 1.04
Diluted earnings (a) (b)
Continuing operations (1.52) .84 1.00 .89 1.06 1.01 1.01 1.01
Discontinued operations .02 07 .08 .05 .02
Before cumulative effect of
accounting change (1.52) .84 1.00 N 1.13 1.09 1.06 1.03
Cumulative effect of accounting
change (.02)
Net income (1 52)

(a) The sum ofr_he quanerh amounts in 2001 does not equal the year’s amount because t_he quarterly calculations are based on a changing number of average <hares.

(b) Additional shares were excluded from fourth quarter 2001 EPS calculadons since they were antidilutive.
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ANALYSIS OF YEAR-TO-YEAR CHANGES IN NET INTEREST INCOME

2001/2000 2000/1999
Increase/(Decrease) in Income/Expense | Increase/(Decrease) in Income/Expense
Due to Changes in: Due to Changes in:
Tessble cquivalent basis - in milions oume e Rate  Total | Volume L
INTEREST-EARNING ASSETS
Loans held for sale $(35) $(50) $(85) $90 $10 $100
Securities
Securities available for sale
U.S. Treasury, government agencies and
corporations 117 5) 112 (12) 8 &)
Other debt 184 (32) 152 19 10 29
Other 37) 5 (32) @) 5 )
Total securities available for sale 276 44) 232 (1) 24 23
Securities held to maturity 6 6
Total securities 281 (43) 238 ) 24 23
Loans, net of unearned income
Commercial (162) (259) (421) (112) 159 47
Commercial real estate ©)] an (56) (58) 33 (25)
Consumer ™ (52) (59) (96) 43 (53)
Residental mortgage (275) 10 (265) 25 16 41
Lease financing 70 (12) 58 48 5 53
Credit card (100) (100)
Other (14) (11) (25) 10 5 15
Total loans, net of unearned income (399) (369) (768) (221) 199 (22)
Other 24 ©) 18 14 30 44
Total interest-earning assets (42) (555) (597) (108) 253 145
INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing deposits
Demand and money market 82 (234) (152) 56 109 165
Savings ) (16) (18) (6) 3 (3)
Retail certificates of deposit (124) (68) (192) 22 96 118
Other time (6) (6) (56) 11 (45)
Deposits in foreign offices (34) (22) (56) 36 13 49
Total interest-bearing deposits 27 397) (424) 63 221 284
Borrowed funds
Federal funds purchased 5) 39) (44) 27 24 51
Repurchase agreements 1 (23) (12) 8 6 14
Bank notes and senior debt (60) (100) (166) (119) 93 (26)
Federal Home Loan Bank borrowings 48 (33) 15 (49) 12 (37)
Subordinated debt 3) (38) (41) 26 ) 25
Other borrowed funds (36) 15 (21) 7 1 18
Total borrowed funds (18) (251) (269) (103) 148 45
Total interest-bearing liabilities (43) (650) (693) (5) 334 329
Change in net interest income ~$(20) $116

Changes attributable to rate/volume are prorated into rate and volume components,




AVERAGE CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AND NET INTEREST ANALYSIS

2001 2000
Dolars in millions Average Average Average Average
Taxable-equivalent basis Balances Interest Yields/Rates Balances Interest Yields/Rates
ASSETS
Interest-carning assets
Loans held for sale $2,021 $119 5.89% $2,507 $204 8.14%
Securities
Securities available for sale
U.S. Treasury and government agencies and
corporations 3,833 216 5.64 1,760 104 591
Other debt 6,841 397 5.80 3,723 245 6.58
Other 101 8 7.92 578 40 6.92
Total securities available for sale 10,775 621 5.76 6,061 389 6.42
Securities held to maturity 92 6 6.52
Total securities 10,867 627 5.77 6,061 389 6.42
Loans, net of unearned income
Commercial 19,658 1,418 7.21 21,685 1,839 8.48
Commercial real estate 2,580 184 7.13 2,685 240 8.94
Consumer 9,099 732 8.04 9,177 791 8.62
Residential mortgage 8,801 635 7.22 12,599 900 7.14
Lease financing ' 4,223 293 6.94 3,222 235 7.29
Credit card
Other 460 30 6.52 650 55 8.46
Total loans, net of unearned income 44,821 3,292 7.34 50,018 4,060 8.12
Other 1,632 115 7.05 1,289 97 7.53
Total interest-earning assets/interest income 59,341 4,153 7.00 59,875 4,750 7.93
Noninterest-earning assets
Investment in discontinued operations 51 487
Allowance for credit losses (693) (683)
Cash and due from banks 2,939 2,718
Other assets 8,768 6,581
Total assets $70,406 568,978
LIABILITIES, MINORITY INTEREST, CAPITAL
SECURITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Interest-bearing liabilities
Interest-bearing deposits
Demand and money matket $21,322 506 2.37 $18,735 658 3.51
Savings 1,928 18 .93 2,050 36 1.76
Retail certificates of deposit 12,313 634 5.15 14,642 826 5.64
Other time 522 34 6.51 621 40 6.44
Deposits in foreign offices 829 37 4.46 1,473 93 6.31
Total interest-bearing deposits 36,914 1,229 3.33 37,521 1,653 4.41
Botrowed funds
Federal funds purchased 2,057 91 4.42 2,139 135 6.31
Repurchase agreements 980 33 3.37 754 45 5.97
Bank notes and senior debt 5,521 265 4.80 6,532 431 6.60
Federal Home Loan Bank borrowings 2,178 83 3.81 1,113 68 6.11
Subordinated debt 2,362 138 5.84 2,406 179 7.44
Other borrowed funds 384 36 9.38 802 57 7.11
Total borrowed funds 13,482 646 4.79 13,746 915 6.66
Total interest-bearing liabilities/interest expense 50,396 1,875 3.72 51,267 2,568 5.01
Noninterest-bearing liabilities, minority interest, capital
secutities and shareholders’ equity
Demand and other noninterest-bearing deposits 8,297 8,151
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 4,096 2,479
Minority interest 136 96
Mandatorily redeemable capital securities of
subsidiary trusts 848 8438
Shareholders’ equity 6,633 6,137
Total liabilities, minority interest, capital securities
and shareholders’ equity $70,406 $68,978
Interest rate spread 3.28 2.92
Impact of noninterest-bearing sources .56 72
Net interest income/margi $2,278 3.84% $2.182 3.64%

Nonaccrual loans are included in loans, net of unearned income. The impact of financial derivatives used in interest rate risk management is included in the interest and average
vields/rates of the related assets and liabiliies. Average balances of securities available for sale are based on amortized historical cost (excluding SFAS No. 115 adjustments to fair value).

Loan fees for each of the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, 1999, 1998 and 1997 were $119 million, $115 million, $120 million, §107 million and $89 million, respectively.
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1999 1998 1997
Average Average Average Average Average Average
Balances Interest Yields/Rates Balances Interest  Yields/Rates Balances Interest  Yields/Rates
$1,392 $104 7.47% $436 $31 7.11% $24 $2 8.33%
1,970 108 5.48 3,665 208 5.68 3,643 336 5.95
3,441 216 6.28 1,913 122 6.38 2,094 139 6.62
673 42 6.24 551 36 6.53 579 43 7.45
6,084 366 6.02 6,129 366 5.97 8,316 518 6.23
6,084 366 6.02 6,129 366 597 8,316 518 6.23
23,082 1,792 7.76 22,768 1,794 7.88 19,014 1,494 7.86
3,362 265 7.88 3,279 277 8.45 4,068 359 8.82
10,310 844 8.19 11,073 940 8.49 11,291 958 8.48
12,258 859 7.01 12,421 900 7.25 13,097 976 7.45
2,564 182 7.10 2,028 143 7.05 1,587 112 7.06
672 100 14.88 3,849 538 13.98 3,558 459 12.92
532 40 7.52 195 14 7.18 284 18 6.34
52,780 4,082 7.73 55,613 4,606 8.28 52,899 4,376 8.27
1,045 53 5.07 899 47 5.23 843 45 5.34
61,301 4,605 7.51 63,077 5,050 8.01 62,082 4,941 7.96
449 348 168
(695) (863) 1,077)
2,082 2,211 2,935
5,226 4,851 4127
$68,363 $69,624 468,235
$16,921 493 291 $14,285 439 3.07 $13,079 391 2.99
2,390 39 1.63 2,620 51 1.95 2,852 57 1.97
14,220 708 4.98 15,420 826 5.36 15,959 859 5.38
1,515 85 5.61 1,786 103 5.77 1,482 89 6.01
872 44 5.05 935 52 5.56 1,094 61 5.58
35,918 1,369 3.81 35,046 1,471 420 34,466 1,457 4.23
1,662 84 5.05 2,526 139 5.50 2,834 159 5.61
621 31 4.99 791 42 5.31 587 32 5.45
8,517 457 5.37 10,657 605 5.68 9,130 523 5.72
1,929 105 5.44 1,026 60 5.85 1,051 67 6.37
2,051 154 7.51 1,799 140 7.78 1,514 119 7.87
686 39 5.69 1,109 79 7.12 1,759 110 6.25
15,466 870 5.63 17,908 1,065 5.95 16,875 1,010 5.99
51,384 2,239 4.36 52,954 2,536 479 51,341 2,467 4.81
8,234 8,848 9,465
1,995 1,465 1,414
32 14
848 762 537
5,870 5,581 5,478
368,363 $69,624 $68,235
3.15 3.22 3.15
71 77 .83
$2,366 3.86% $2,514 3.99% e B2474 3.98%
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SUMMARY OF LOAN L0OSS EXPERIENCE

Year ndcd December 31 - dollars in millions

. e ———

Allowance at beginning of year $675 $674 $753 $972 81,166

Charge-offs
Commercial 876 121 72 122 48
Commercial real estate
Commercial mortgage 2 1 6 8
Real estate project 37 1 3 2 4
Consumer 42 46 63 83 104
Residential mortgage 2 8 8 7 9
Lease financing 28 8 9 7 4
Credit card 60 297 208
Total charge-offs 985 186 216 524 385
Recoveries
Commercial 17 21 22 20 38
Commercial real estate
Commercial mortgage 3 1 2 10
Real estate project 1 1 3 1 2
Consumer 16 22 25 34 36
Residential mortgage 1 2 1 1 1
Lease financing 2 2 1
Credit card 2 17 25
Other 1
Total recoveries 37 51 55 77 113
Net charge-offs 948 135 161 447 272
Provision for credit losses 903 136 163 225 70
(Divestitures)/acquisitions (81) 3 3
Allowance at end of year $630 $675 $674 $753 $972
Allowance as a percent of petiod-end
Loans 1.66% 1.33% 1.36% 1.31% 1.79%
Nonaccrual loans 298.58 208.98 231.62 263.29 360.00
As a percent of average loans
Net charge-offs (2) 2,12 27 31 .80 51
Provision for credit losses (b) 2.01 27 31 40 13
Allowance for credit losses 1.41 1.35 1.28 1.35 1.84
Allowance as a mEile ofnet chirfz»offi @ .66x 5.00x 4.19x 1.68x 3.57x

ST ye i = = = = = = a = e T e

(a) Excluding $804 million of net charge-offs in 2001 related to the institutional lending repositioning initiative, net charge-offs would be .32% of average loans and the allowance as a
muitiple of net charge-offs would be 4.38x.
(b) Excluding $714 million of provision in 2001 related to the institutional lending repositioning initiative, provision for credit losses would be 42% of average loans.

The following table presents the allocation of allowance for credit losses and the categories of loans as a percentage of total
loans. For purposes of this presentation, the unallocated portion of the allowance for credit losses has been assigned to loan
categories based on the relative specific and pool allocation amounts. At December 31, 2001, the unallocated portion was $143
million.

ALLOCATION OF ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

December 31 Loans to Loans to Loans to Loans to Loans to
Dollars in millions 7Arlvlowa>r‘1cev ] z‘)»tl Loans A_UO\}LaCC( v-,Tf’m,l LOEnS Allowznce Tota! Logns _ AHO\y'fiq;e . Tota} Lgans _ AHPW},T‘\CS »T‘otakl IT,ozms
Commercial $467 40.0% %536 41.9% §510 43.2% $446 43.7% $406 36.9%
Commercial real . '
estate 67 6.3 53 5.1 64 5.5 59 6.0 141 7.3
Consumer 49 24.1 51 18.0 58 18.8 74 19.0 107 20.7
Residential
mortgage 8 16.8 10 26.2 10 252 8 21.3 42 23.6
Credit card 136 5.1 258 7.0
Other 39 12.8 25 8.8 32 7.3 30 49 18 45

Total $630 100.0% 3675 100.0% S674 100.0% §753 100.0% %972 100%




SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS

Federal funds purchased include overnight borrowings and term federal funds, which are payable on demand. Repurchase
agreements generally have maturities of 18 months or less. Approximately 40% of the total bank notes of the Corporation
matute in 2002. Other short-term borrowings primarily consist of U.S. Treasury, tax and loan borrowings, which are payable on
demand and commercial paper, which is issued in maturities not to exceed nine months. At December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999,
$2.4 billion, $3.4 billion and $3.1 billion, respectively, notional value of interest rate swaps were designated to borrowed funds.

The effect of these swaps is included in the rates set forth in the following table.

SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS

2001 2000 1999
Dollass in millions 7‘ n Rate _ ount Amount Rate
Federal funds purchased
Year-end balance $240 1.52% $1,445 4.89% $1,281 4.05%
Average during year 2,094 4.44 2,139 6.31 1,662 5.05
Maximum month-end balance during year 2,824 2,778 2,671
Repurchase agreements
Year-end balance 954 1.56 607 577 402 4.77
Average during year 980 3.37 754 5.97 621 4.99
Maximum month-end balance during vear 1,247 864 725
Bank notes
Year-end balance 3,600 2.68 5,512 6.74 6,354 6.25
Average during year 4,273 4.70 5,934 6.55 8,224 5.29
Maximum month-end balance during year 5,513 6,527 9,775
Other
Year-end balance 171 2.83 632 6.31 956 5.04
Average during year 325 4.32 784 6.87 654 6.00
Maximum month-end balance duting ar 1,5 , 1,368 1,192

LOAN MATURITIES AND INTEREST SENSITIVITY TIME DEPOSITS OF $100,000 OR MORE
December 31, 2001 1Year 1 Through After 5 Gross

Time deposits in foreign offices totaled $1.6 billion at

Inmiions - orfes SYeas e  loans
Cormmercial $6,764  $7,168 $1.273 $15,205 December 31, 2001, substantially all of which are in
Real estate project 801 887 92 1,780 denominations of $100,000 or more. The following table
Total $7,565 $8,055  $1,365 $16,985 sets forth maturities of domestic time deposits of $100,000
Loans with
ore:
Predetermined rate  $838  $1,209  $579 52,626 oF more
Floating rate 6,727 6,846 786 14,359 =
_Total $7,565 _ $8,055 51,365 $16,985 i Do

December 31, 2001 — in millions

B BTN

Three months or less

At December 31, 2001, %4.6 billion notional value of Over three through six months

interest rate swaps, caps and floors designated to Over six through twelve months

Over twelve months

commercial loans altered the interest rate characteristics of
such loans. The basis adjustment related to fair value

hedges for commercial loans is included in the above table.
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CORPORATE OFFICERS

REGIONAL PRESIDENTS

LAURENCE D. FINK
Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer
BlackRock

7 years of service

JosepH C. Guyaux®™V
Group Executive
Regional Community
Banking

29 years of service

RALPH S. MICHAEL, II1 7V
Group Executive

PNC Advisors and

PNC Capital Markets

22 years of service
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Group Executive and
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Strategic Planning
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16 years of service

JoAN L. GULLEY
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Business Banking

16 years of service
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24 years of service
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11 years of service

RANDALL C. KING
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President
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CORPORATIE IINIFORMATION

T PNC Financial Servicss Group INC,

CorrorATE [FBADQUARTERS

The PNC Financial Services Group, Ine.
One PNC Plaza

249 Fifth Avenue

Piresburgh, Pennsylvania 13222-2707
(412) 762-2000

The PNC Financial Services Group, Ine. common stock is
listed on the New York Stock Exchangs under the symbol
PNC. At the dose of business on Bebruary 28, 2002, there
were §4.385 common sharcholders of record.

INTERNET [NPORMATION

The PNC Financial Services Group, Ine.'s financlel reports
and information aboue its products and services are available
on the Internet ac wwmwpne.com.

[FINANCIAL [INFORMATION
The Annual Report on Form [0-K s filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commision (*SEC™). Coples of

may be obtained electronically at the SEC’s home page at
wivnses,gon, Coples may also be obrained withoue charge
by writing to Thomas E Garbe, Director of Financial
Accounting, 2t corporate headguarters, by calling

(412) 762-1553 o via e-mall at Fnancial, reporeing@pne.com.

[NQUIIES

For financial services call 1-888-PNC-2265. Individual
sharcholders should contact Shareholder Relations

at (Soo) 982-7652.

Analysts and inseieutional investors should conuact
William H. Callthan, Vice President, Investor Relations, at
(412) 762-8257 or via e-mall at investor.reations@pne.com.

News media representatives and others secking general
information should contact R, Jeep Bryant, Senfor Viee
President, Corporate Communications, at (412) 762-8221
or via e-mail at corporte.commumnications@pme.com.

TRUST Prosey VoG

Reports of 2001 nonroutine proxy voting by the truse divi-
slons of The PNC Financlal Services Group, Ine. are avail-
able by writing to Thomas R. Moore, Corporate Secretary,
2t corporate headquarters.

ANNUAL SHAREHOLDERS MIEETING

All shareholders are invited to attend The PNC Financial
Services Group. Inc. annual meeting on Tuesday, April 23,
2002, at 11 a.m.. Eastern Daylight Time, at One PNC Plaza,
249 Fifth Avenue, Plresbungh, Pennsylvania 15222

Congraow STock PRICE/DIVIDENDS [DECLARED
The table below sets forth by quarter the range of high
and low sale and quarter-end cosing prices for The PNC
Financial Services Group, Ine. common stock and the
cash dividends declared per common share,

Caxhh
High lLow Close  DNaclared
201 Quaster j
Eiisg G758 856.06® 867750 S
Sezond 7RI 55:4100 Gs790 o4
Tifed 70:390 o140 57:250 4B
Fourdh GeRilc) F2:500 §6.200 o3
flotal S1¥o7)
Quarter
[Figse $48.500 $36.000 $45.063 Bed§
Third 66.375 47,625 65,000 A5
Fourth 75,000 56,575 75:063 48
DrviDEND [POLICY

Holders of The PNC Financial Services Group, Ine.
common stock are entitled to reselve dividends when
declared by the of Difectors out of funds legally
available. The Board presently intends to continue the
poliey of paying quarterly cash dividends. However, future
dividends will depend on carings, the fnancial condition
of The PNC Financial Services Group, Ine, and other
factors, including epplicable government regulations and
policies and comeractual restrictions.

DryipEND REIYVESTHMENT AND STOTK

The PNC Finanefal Serviees Group, Ine, Dividend
Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan enables holders

of commen and preferred stock to purchase additional
shares of common stock convenientdy and without paying
brokerage commissions or service charges. A prospectus and
enrollment card may be abtained by writing to Sharcholder
Relations at comporate headquarters.

RECISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT
The Chase Manhattan Bank

85 Chellenger Road

Ridgeficld Park, New Jersey 07660
(Bo0) 982-7652
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